

# COPYRIGHT AND USE OF THIS THESIS

This thesis must be used in accordance with the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

Reproduction of material protected by copyright may be an infringement of copyright and copyright owners may be entitled to take legal action against persons who infringe their copyright.

Section 51 (2) of the Copyright Act permits an authorized officer of a university library or archives to provide a copy (by communication or otherwise) of an unpublished thesis kept in the library or archives, to a person who satisfies the authorized officer that he or she requires the reproduction for the purposes of research or study.

The Copyright Act grants the creator of a work a number of moral rights, specifically the right of attribution, the right against false attribution and the right of integrity.

You may infringe the author's moral rights if you:

- fail to acknowledge the author of this thesis if you quote sections from the work
- attribute this thesis to another author
- subject this thesis to derogatory treatment which may prejudice the author's reputation

For further information contact the University's Director of Copyright Services

# sydney.edu.au/copyright

# A Role for CBFβ in Mammary Gland Development and Breast Carcinogenesis

Anne-Marie Michelle Mooney

A submission to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Sydney for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy



December 2014

## Declaration

I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and to the best of my knowledge it contains no material previously published or written by another person, nor material which to a substantial extent has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at the University of Sydney or any other educational institution, expect where due acknowledgment is made in the thesis. Any contribution made to the research by others, with whom I have worked with at the University of Sydney or elsewhere, is explicitly acknowledged in the thesis.

I also declare that the intellectual content of this thesis is the product of my own work, except to the extent that assistances from others in the project's design and conception or in style, presentation and linguistic expression is acknowledged.

Anne-Marie M. Mooney

#### Acknowledgments

First and foremost I would like to thank my supervisor Matt Naylor who made this thesis possible. Matt has provided with me excellent encouragement and guidance throughout the course of my PhD, in science and in life, and I am very grateful to him for all his time, energy and patience. I feel very lucky to have had such a supportive supervisor.

I would also like to thank members of our group, both past and present, for their support, technical assistance and friendship over the years and for making my candidature both memorable and enjoyable. In particular Renee and Elysia, whose assistance and encouragement I will be forever grateful for. I would also like to thank members of the Cancer Research Program at the Garvan Institute and members of the Bosch Institute for their training and expert advice. I am indebted to Dan Roden for his help and patience with the microarray analysis and to the staff of the Bosch AMF, MBF and BRF for their ongoing assistance with microscopy, molecular biology and animal work.

I would also like to thank Ichiro Taniuchi for supplying the CBF $\beta$  floxed mouse and the  $\alpha$ -CBF $\beta$  antibody, this thesis would not have been possible without them. Also, thank you to Pete Simpson for his ongoing collaboration looking into CBF $\beta$  expression in human breast tumours.

I would like to say a big thank my wonderful parents, family and friends who have been so supportive and encouraging throughout my entire candidature, I could not have done it without you all and I appreciate everything more than I can say. I want to say a special thank you to my sister Nicole, who has devoted so much time and energy over the last few months to make sure I made it to then end with a smile on my face. Finally to Glenn, who has shown incredible love and support in so many ways and who believed in me from that start.

Anne-Marie

# Abbreviations

Bone morphogenic protein
Bone sialo protein
CCAAT-enhancer-binding proteins
Core binding factor β
Extracellular matrix
Epidermal growth factor
E74-like-factor 5
Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
Estrogen receptor
Fluorescence activated cell sorting
Focal adhesion kinase
Fibroblast growth factor
Fibroblast growth factor receptor
GATA binding protein 3
Gene set enrichment analysis
Homeobox
Insulin growth factor
Janus-2 kinase
Lymphoid enhancing binding factor 1
Mammary stem cell
Mammary epithelial cell
Matrix metalloproteinase
Osteopontin
Progesterone receptor
Prolactin
Prolactin receptor
Parathyroid hormone related protein
Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1
Receptor activator of NFkB/ligand
Runt-related transcription factor
Signal transducer and transactivator
Terminal end bud
Transforming growth factor $\beta$
Tissue microarray
Triple negative breast cancer
Wingless-type MMTV integration site

#### Abstract

Breast cancer carries a lifetime risk of 1 in 8, making it the most common cancer affecting Australian women. Whilst the mortality rate associated with breast cancer has decreased by approximately 30% over the last 20 years, the most recent statistics show that breast cancer accounts for 28% of all new cancers diagnosed in women. It is therefore essential to find new regulators of breast cancer cell fate in order to be able to improve therapeutics, diagnostic tools and therefore the prognosis for patients presenting with breast cancer.

The mammary gland is a complex organ that develops under the control of various hormones, regulatory genes and transcription factors. Elucidating the processes behind the mammopoiesis has shown to be crucial in increasing our understanding of how disruption of these tightly regulated systems leads to breast carcinogenesis.

Recent studies have revealed a novel role for the transcription factor Runx2 in cell fate decisions in the mammary gland development during late pregnancy and lactation. Furthermore, it has been shown that Runx2 also regulates breast cancer cell fate *in vitro* and is able to delay breast cancer development and prolong survival *in vivo*. All three Runx genes form heterodimeric complexes with core-binding factor  $\beta$  (CBF $\beta$ ), which ensures high affinity DNA binding, protein stability and therefore increased transcriptional efficiency of downstream targets. Modifying levels of CBF $\beta$  expression may create potential to investigate the effects of perturbing RUNX2 levels whilst compensating for the redundancy that exists between members of the Runx family.

There has been no previous data linking CBF $\beta$  with either mammary gland development or breast cancer. However, three recent whole-genome sequencing studies have identified CBF $\beta$  as a gene with recurrent mutations across an array of human breast cancer patients. More specifically, CBF $\beta$  was found to be mutated in approximately 5% of luminal breast cancers, making it one of the most highly mutated genes in human breast tumours.

The overarching aim of this thesis is to determine the role of CBF $\beta$  in mammary gland cell fate specification and the mechanisms by which it controls normal mammary gland development and influence breast carcinogenesis and metastasis.

This study has now examined CBF $\beta$  expression in the mammary gland for the first time and shows that it is differentially regulated through mammary gland development.

CBF $\beta$  expression is relatively high in virgin mice and decreases as the gland develops through to late pregnancy and early lactation with expression levels recovering at the time of involution.

Mammary-specific deletion of CBF $\beta$  in an inducible mouse model clearly demonstrated an essential role for CBF $\beta$  in the early stages of mammary gland development. The CBF $\beta^{-/-}$  glands presented with a significant decrease in ductal elongation that was attributed to a decrease in the proliferative capacity of the mammary epithelial cells.

In the context of breast cancer, the knockdown and overexpression of CBF $\beta$  in human breast cancer cell lines demonstrated that CBF $\beta$  has a critical role in controlling breast cancer cell fate. These *in vitro* models revealed significant changes in the ability of breast cancer cells to control phenotypes consistent with metastasis, such as proliferation and migration in response to CBF $\beta$  expression levels.

Furthermore, this thesis describes the first *in vivo* model capable of investigating the effects of CBF $\beta$  deletion on breast tumourigenesis and metastasis, demonstrating that deletion of CBF $\beta$  in the mouse mammary gland significantly delays tumour onset and increases overall survival in breast carcinogenesis whilst also reducing the incidence and severity of distal metastases.

This thesis reports that RUNX2 and CBF $\beta$  expression are differentially regulated throughout mammary gland development and demonstrates a novel and exciting role for CBF $\beta$  as a new regulator of both mammary gland development and breast cancer progression and metastasis.

Declaration	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
Abbreviations	iv
Abstract	v
1. Introduction	10
Mammary Gland Development	
Overview	
Structure of the Mammary Gland	
Embryonic mammary gland development	
Virgin mammary gland development	
Ductal elongation and bifurcation	
Ductal side branching and alveolar bud formation	
Development of the mammary gland during pregnancy	21
Lobuloalveolar development	
Apoptosis and involution	
Stems cell and the mammary gland	
Summary	
Dreast Carcinogenesis	
Drevelop co of broast concer	
Prevalence of Dreast Cancer	
Dreast Calleer Metastasis	
Overview	
Summary	
CDE Complex	
Runz gene family	<b>41</b>
Runz gene raminy Runz 2 as a master regulator of hone development and homeostasis	
Runx2 as a master regulator of bone development and nomeostasis	
Runx2 and manimally grand development	
Summary	
CRER	
CBER in development	
CDFP in development	
CBFp in the mammary grand	
CBFB in cancer	
CBFB in breast cancer	
Summary	
Aims of this Thesis	
2. Materials and Methods	57
In Vivo Techniques	57
Mice	
Time mating	57
Mammary epithelium transplants	
Tamoxifen injections to activate Cre expression	
Tumour measurement and harvesting	

# **Table of Contents**

Organ and tumour harvesting	
In Vitro Techniques	
Cell culture	
siRNA transfection	
Retroviral synthesis	
Retroviral infection of human breast cancer cells	
Proliferation assays	
Migration assays	
Cloning of CBF6 shRNA retroviral constructs	
Primer design	
Annealing and ligation	
Transformation	
DNA isolation and sequencing	
Cloning of CBF6 overexpression retroviral vector	
Histological Analysis	
Mammary gland whole mounts	
Haemotoxylin and eosin staining	
Immunohistochemistry	
RNA Analysis	
RNA extraction	
cDNA synthesis	
Quantitative RT-PCR	
Microarray Analysis	
Protein Analysis	64
Protein extraction	
Western blotting	
Statistical Analysis	

# 

Introduction	66
Results	68
CBFβ is developmentally regulated in the mammary gland	68
CBFβ expression is restricted to the mammary epithelial cells	68
CBF $\beta$ expression is required in the early stages of mammary gland development f	or
successful outgrowth of the ductal epithelium	70
Characterisation of CBFβ deletion in the CBFβcreER mouse model	74
CBF $\beta$ is required for the proliferation of mammary epithelial cells during ductal	
elongation	74
Ductal elongation is not affected in 14-week-old CBFβ <sup>f/f</sup> CreER <sup>tg/+</sup> mammary gland	s 76
CBFβ deletion does not perturb lobuloalveolar development in CBFβ <sup>f/f</sup> CreER <sup>tg/+</sup> m	ice
	78
CBFβ does not regulate virgin development in CBFβ <sup>f/f</sup> BLGCre <sup>tg/+</sup> mice	80
CBFβ is not required for lobuloalveolar development or alveologenesis	82
Characterisation of CBFβ deletion in the CBFβBLG mouse model	82
Discussion	84

Introduction	
Results	90

	CBFβ is expressed across all sub-types of human breast cancer	90
	CBFB regulates the expression of crucial downstream targets involved in cancer progression	94
	Down regulation of CBF $\beta$ reduces the metastatic potential of human breast cancer cells	98
	Overexpression of CBF $\beta$ increases the metastatic potential of human breast cancer cells.	r 101
	$CBF\beta$ affects the regulation of genes involved in mammary gland development and breast cancer	l 104
	CBFβ regulated expression of genes set involved in breast cancer formation, progression and metastasis	110
Di	CBFβ and Runx2 regulate genes involved in breast cancer and metastasis	117 <b>123</b>
		-

# 5. CBF $\beta$ is a key regulator of tumourigenesis and metastasis in the PyMT

breast cancer model12	27
-----------------------	----

Introduction	127
Results	129
CBF $\beta$ deletion in the mammary gland leads to increase in breast tumour later	ncy129
Deletion of CBF $\beta$ in the mammary gland leads to increased overall survival w	ithin a
tumourigenic population	131 122
CBFβ regulates breast cancer progression	
CBF $\beta$ regulates cancer cell proliferation in the PyMT mammary tumour mode	l136
Mammary specific CBF $\beta$ deletion reduces both the incidence and severity of $\alpha$	listal
metastasis in the PyMT breast cancer model	138
Discussion	
6. General Discussion	143
CBFβ regulates mammary epithelial cells during ductal elongation	143
A role for CBF $\beta$ in in the regulation of breast cancer cell fate	146
Future Directions	149
References	151

# 1. Introduction

The mammary gland is an organ that develops predominantly post partum, under the influence of various regulatory genes and hormones associated with sexual development and reproduction. The established gland will undergo repeated cycles of proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis with each pregnancy as it transitions from its nulliparous state, through to a fully functional gland capable of lactation, before undergoing remodeling to once again resemble the mature nulliparous gland. These distinct stages enable the mammary gland to be the perfect platform in which to study cell fate decisions. It is often the dysregulation of the key regulators involved in these developmental processes that lead to disease progression, including cancer. The overall aim of this thesis is to examine the role of the Runx2/CBF $\beta$  transcriptional complex in the developing mammary gland and how changes in expression and regulation affects the pathogenicity and progression of breast cancer.

## **Mammary Gland Development**

#### **Overview**

The mammary gland is a complex organ that, unlike most other organs within the body, undergoes the majority of its development post-partum, making it quite a unique system. It was discovered in the early 1900s that the mammary gland primarily develops under the control of the ovarian hormones, estrogen and progesterone (Allen, 1924; Halban, 1900) with prolactin becoming a key regulator during pregnancy as gland differentiates into its functional form (Brisken et al., 1999; Riddle, 1933; Topper & Freeman, 1980). There are many other growth factors, regulatory genes and transcription factors that control this multifaceted developmental process and the role of those regulators more directly related to this thesis will be described in due course.

Development of the mammary gland can be compartmentalised into distinct stages that are inextricably linked to both sexual development and reproduction. Each phase of mammopoiesis is phenotypically unique, as shown in Figure 1.1. These stages have been coined embryonic, prepubertal, pubertal, pregnancy, lactation and involution (Hennighausen & Robinson, 2001).



F. Involution

#### Fig. 1.1. Stages of mammary gland development

Mammary gland development occurs in distinct and unique stages that are link to sexual and reproductive development. A) Following embryonic development, the mammary gland of the neonate consists of a rudimentary ductal tree within the fat pad. B) Pubertal growth is marked by the formation of terminal end buds (TEBs) that drive extensive proliferation and growth of the ductal network under the influence of estrogen. C) Once mature, the ductal network undergoes extensive side-branching during each estrous cycle under the influence of both estrogen and progesterone. D) During pregnancy, the gland under goes extensive differentiation and lobuloalveolar development under the influence of both progesterone and primarily prolactin E) During lactation milk is secreted from mature alveoli in response to suckling and oxytocin. F) Post weaning, the mammary gland undergoes controlled apoptosis and re-modeling until it resembles the nulliparous gland (Adapted from Henninghausen 2001).

The mammary gland consists of two major compartments, the epithelial ductal network and the stromal fat pad through which it protrudes. The mammary stroma is comprised of endothelium, fibroblasts, extracellular matrix proteins, immune cells and adipocytes (Hennighausen & Robinson, 2001). There are complex interactions and signalling networks between the epithelial and stromal cells, which help to define the functionality of the mammary gland throughout development (Nandi, 1958; Neville & Daniel, 1987).

Much of what we know about the mechanisms behind mammary gland development has arisen from the detailed studies using mice where it is relatively simple to modify the genetic background of the animal through gene deletion and recombination approaches. Furthermore, the mouse mammary gland is very similar in architecture to the human breast and the importance of cross talk between the epithelium and stroma in both systems make the mouse a useful system in which to model human breast development and breast cancer (Plante et al., 2011; Sternlicht, 2006).

Mammary gland development in mice begins around embryonic day 10 (e10) with the formation of the milk line, which develops into 5 pairs of placodes that will house a rudimentary ductal tree at the time of birth. It is the epithelial ductal network that branches throughout the mammary fat pad and undergoes high levels of proliferation during puberty. Following puberty the mammary gland undergoes repeated cycles of proliferation and differentiation under the influence of the female steroid hormones estrogen and progesterone. The cells then differentiate into alveolar buds during pregnancy before maturing into fully functional alveoli capable of lactation post partum. Involution is the final stage of the developmental cycle, whereby the gland undergoes controlled apoptosis and remodeling, returning to a mature pre-pregnancy like state (Hennighausen & Robinson, 2005).

This brief summation of mammopoiesis will now be expanded upon to review the specific roles of the genes, hormones and growth factors that are critical for successful development and differentiation of the mammary gland.

## Structure of the Mammary Gland

As mentioned above, two main cell types give rise to the mouse mammary gland: the epithelium that is derived from the ectoderm; and the surrounding stoma, which is derived from the mesoderm. The epithelial compartment is comprised of a branching

ductal network that does not fully begin to develop until puberty. Through the use of hormone therapy in ovariectomised, adrenalectomised and hypophysectomised mice, Nandi was able to show that estrogen is essential for ductal development during puberty, while prolactin is required later for the successful development of alveolar structures during pregnancy (Nandi, 1958). The epithelial ducts continue to branch through the stroma to form decreasingly smaller ductals that eventually form structures known as lobules. These lobules are made up of alveoli and it is this lobuloalveolar compartment that forms the functional aspect of the gland as it develops and expands with each pregnancy. The alveoli are also comprised of 2 main cell types: the luminal epithelial cells, which undergo differentiation during pregnancy in order to produce and secrete milk; and the basal or myoepithelial cells which form a contractile mesh-like network around the ductal tree and aid in the delivery of the milk from the ducts to the nipple in response to oxytocin (Hennighausen & Robinson, 2001, 2005).

There are a host of hormones, genes, growth factors and transcription factors that controlled the developing mammary gland and it is becoming clearer that many of these are not solely confined to the mammary gland but are also important in the developmental regulation of other organs and tissues.

#### Embryonic mammary gland development

The mammary gland does not begin to form in the embryo until approximately day E10.5 with the formation of the milk line that run from the axilla to the groin along the rostro-caudal axis of the ventral body surface. By E11, the milk line is replaced by five pairs of mammary placodes, derived from the ectoderm (Balinksy, 1950; Turner & Gomez, 1933). These five placode pairs are placed where the eventual mammary glands will exist and form in an asynchronous order, beginning with the 3<sup>rd</sup> (thoracic), 4<sup>th</sup> (abdominal), 1<sup>st</sup> (cervical), 5<sup>th</sup> (inguinal) then finally the 2<sup>nd</sup> (upper thoracic) pair (Mailleux et al., 2002; Veltmaat et al., 2004).

In an interesting example of cell fate regulation, each pair of mammary placodes require different developmental cues and signals in order to control not only the time at which they develop but also the place at which they develop along the milk line. Some of the genes that are essential for the timing and placement of mammary placodes include the ERBB2 ligand NRG3, FGF10 and its receptor FGFR2B and the transcription factors TBX3, LEF1 and Gli3. When these genes are deleted separately in

the embryo, only some of the placode pairs are absent or do not develop to the stage of bud formation (Foley et al., 2001). For example, deletion of LEF1 results in a failure to develop placodes 2 and 3 (Boras-Granic et al., 2006) whilst perturbed expression of NRG3 leads to loss of placode 3 as well as duplication of the 4<sup>th</sup> placodes (Howard et al., 2005).

Many of the genes that control embryonic development of the mammary gland were identified when a genetic deletion or conditional knockout of a gene lead to an arrest of mammogenesis at a specific stage in mice (Robinson, 2004).

By E15, the placodes have developed into epithelial buds that are surrounded by a mesenchymal cell layer. This development of the placode is controlled by and dependent on epithelial to mesenchymal signalling. This was first shown by Propper when he co-cultured non-mammary ectoderm with mammary mesenchyme *in vitro* and showed growth of epithelial buds (Propper, 1972). This phenomena was then confirmed when Cunha and colleagues cultured dorsal epidermis and mammary mesenchyme from E13 embryos and then xenografted the tissue on to lactating mice. In this instance, not only did the epithelial buds form but they also differentiated into lobuloalveolar cells capable of secreting milk protein such as casein and  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin (Cunha et al., 1995). There are a multitude of genes and pathways that have been shown to regulate the epithelial to mesenchymal signalling that directs mammary gland development. It is thought that targeting these interactions may lead to therapeutics that are capable of transforming malignant cancer cells from undifferentiated proliferating masses back into differentiated populations (Cunha & Hom, 1996).

One of the critical pathways in mammogenesis is the wingless-related MMTV integration site (WNT) signalling pathway and it has been found to be essential for initiation of milk line specification, successful placode development and also placode size (Chu et al., 2004; van Genderen et al., 1994; Veltmaat et al., 2004). WNT target genes Wnt10a, Wnt10b and Wnt6 can be first detected in the epithelial and mesenchymal cells of the milk line from approximately E10.25, with their signal intensifying in the placodes at E12.5 and expression is maintained as the buds develop until around E15.5 (Veltmaat et al., 2004). These target genes act through the canonical WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signalling pathway to initiate placode development and drive mammary gland morphogenesis. When explants from developing embryos are cultured in WNT medium or lithium chloride (a WNT stimulator), formation of placodes is accelerated

and the resulting size is much larger (Chu et al., 2004). Conversely, in transgenic mice expressing Dick-kopf 1 (a WNT inhibitor) in the surface ectoderm, placode formation is completely inhibited (Chu et al., 2004). This control of mammogenesis through WNT signalling seems to be mediated through expression of the lymphoid enhancer-binding factor 1 (LEF1) transcription factor, a WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin downstream target. Deletion of LEF1 in mice leads to a complete abolishment of WNT signalling and mice that do not develop the correct number of mammary placodes (Andl et al., 2002; Boras-Granic et al., 2006; van Genderen et al., 1994). LEF1<sup>-/-</sup> mice are missing placode pairs 2 and 3 with the remaining placodes developing into buds, which deteriorate and therefore mice that are born with no ducts or nipples, confirming the importance of WNT signalling in mammogenesis (Boras-Granic et al., 2006).

In regards to mammary line specification, it has been shown that the fibroblast growth factor (FGF) family is also essential and acts in parallel to the WNT signalling pathway (Hens & Wysolmerski, 2005). FGF signals from the somites underlying the milk line are essential for the initiation and formation of mammary placodes (Mailleux et al., 2002). If the FGF ligand, Fgf10 or the receptor Fgfr2B are deleted in the embryo, the milk line does not form in the region where placodes two and three are supposed to form (Veltmaat et al., 2006). The 4th placode does form in these knock out mice but undergoes apoptosis by E12.5, indicating that a separate FGF family member must control the maintenance of the 4th gland though Fgfr2B, most likely Fgf7 due to its expression in the mesenchyme (Cunha & Hom, 1996; Mailleux et al., 2002). Several other FGF family members are also expressed in the formed mammary bud, including Fgf4, Fgf8, Fgf9 and Fgf17 whilst the receptors Fgfr1B and Fgfr2 are expressed in the placodes and surface ectoderm (Mailleux et al., 2002).

The Homeobox genes have also been found to act as important regulators of cell fate in the mammary gland as well as several other systems, including the skeleton and the central nervous system (Visvader & Lindeman, 2003). The Msh Homeobox (Mxs) transcription factors are part of this family and are expressed in the mammary bud alongside LEF1 (Phippard et al., 1996). Msx1 and Msx2 are initially expressed in the placode (Phippard et al., 1996) before Msx1 expression is lost and the expression of Msx2 shifts into the surrounding mesenchyme (Satokata et al., 2000). Null mutations of both Msx1 and Msx2 lead to a failure in bud formation (Satokata et al., 2000). If Msx1 alone is deleted, there is no effect on bud formation whereas specific mutation of Msx2 leads to an arrest of bud development at the sprouting stages around E16.5, proving a critical role of Msx2 in mammary branching morphogenesis (Satokata et al., 2000). Msx1 and Msx2 continue to be co-expressed in the post-natal mammary gland throughout virgin development and early pregnancy but expression is found to dramatically decrease in late pregnancy (Friedmann & Daniel, 1996; Phippard et al., 1996).

The T-box (TBX) family of proteins present another key regulatory family involved in embryonic mammary gland development that acts downstream, of both the WNT and FGF signalling pathways. More specifically, both Tbx2 and Tbx3 are expressed along the milk line from E10.5 before localising to the individual placodes as they are formed (Eblaghie et al., 2004; Jerome - Majewska et al., 2005). It has been shown that Tbx3<sup>-/-</sup> embryos do not develop mammary buds and that they do not express Wnt10b or LEF1 (Davenport et al., 2003). Tbx3 in conjunction with bone morphogenic protein 4 (BMP4) is also important for determining the dorso-ventral position of the buds through regulation of LEF1 (Cho et al., 2006). The region in the mesenchyme where Tbx3 is expressed determines the site of placode development whilst BMP4 expression localises to the area immediately ventral to the placode and acts to negatively regulate Tbx3, therefore enhancing LEF1 expression in the placode to stimulate development (Cho et al., 2006).

Similarly to the WNT pathway, Hedgehog signalling is also crucial for the regulation of mammary cell fate specification. The GLI family zinc finger (GLI) proteins, which are either activators or repressors of Hedgehog signalling depending on the context (Aza-Blanc et al., 2000) are also expressed at E11, namely Gli2 and Gli3 (Hatsell & Cowin, 2006). In the context of mammogenesis, Gli3 is acting as a repressor of Hedgehog signalling which is evident by the loss of buds two and three when GLI is forced into its activator state. It can therefore be deduced that the repression on hedgehog signalling is required in order to maintain the identity of mammary epithelial cells (Gritli-Linde et al., 2007; Hatsell & Cowin, 2006).

The final major family of proteins involved in placode development is the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) family, primarily neuregulin 3 (NRG3) and its receptors v-erb-b2 avian erythroblastic leukaemia viral oncogene homolog 2 and 4 (Erbb2 and Erbb4), which are expression in the milk line from E10.75 and confined to the epithelial placodes once they develop (Howard et al., 2005). When expression of NRG3 is not

localised to the placodes only one of the 3<sup>rd</sup> mammary buds will not develop, there is often duplication in the 4<sup>th</sup> pair and also Wnt10b and LEF1 expression is absent. This evidence points to NGR3 acting as mesenchymal signal upstream of WNT that is crucial to the positioning and number of mammary buds that are formed (Howard et al., 2005).

As well as placode and mammary bud formation, there is also a small degree of ductal growth and nipple formation that occurs during the embryonic phase of mammary gland development. Parathyroid hormone related protein (Pthrp) and parathyroid hormone related protein receptor 1 (Pthr1) are crucial to these processes as shown when mice that are null for these genes lead to ablation of LEF1 and  $\beta$ -catenin which are essential for mammary gland development (Foley et al., 2001; Wysolmerski et al., 1998). Furthermore, disruption of the Pthrp epithelial to mesenchymal signalling results in failure of both mammary bud and nipple formation. In this case the duct is unable to progress through the mesenchyme, the cells become more squamous and the cells lose the mammary specific keratin signals (Foley et al., 2001; Wysolmerski et al., 1998). Conversely, if Pthrp is over-expressed in the epidermis, the mammary mesenchyme undergoes forced differentiation and the nipple is formed (Foley et al., 2001). BMP4 acts downstream of Pthrp to mediated the cross talk between the epithelial bud and the surrounding mesenchyme (Hens et al., 2007). In order to stimulate ductal outgrowth, inhibit hair follicle formation and therefore allow nipple formation there is an increase in mesenchymal levels of bone morphogenic proteins (BMPs) in response to epithelial Pthrp signals (Robinson, 2007).

RASGRF1 (Ras protein-specific guanine-releasing factor1) is also involved in the induction of the mammary mesenchyme and outgrowth of the ductal epithelium as it highly expressed in the most proliferative part of the mammary gland, the terminal end buds (Chakravarty et al., 2003). It has also been shown that RASGRF1 knockout mice have significantly smaller epithelial buds by E14.5 where the epithelial cells are highly disorganised and the mesenchymal cells do no express the appropriate steroid receptors (Heckman et al., 2007).

In summary, it is evident that the control of mammary gland development during the embryonic stage is dependent on epithelial to mesenchymal signalling.

# Virgin mammary gland development

#### Ductal elongation and bifurcation

The post-partum mammary epithelial ductal network undergoes allometric growth through the stromal fat pad from the nipple under the influence of the steroid hormone, estrogen throughout puberty. The engine that drives this growth are the terminal end buds (TEBs), which are situated at the tips of the growing ducts and enable ductal extension of the epithelium through the fat pad under the influence of both estrogen and growth hormone (Hinck & Silberstein, 2005). The presence of TEBs is the defining feature of a gland undergoing ductal extension (Williams & Daniel, 1983). TEBs are club-shaped masses made up of both proliferating and apoptosing cells that penetrate through the stromal fat pad and can undergo a process of bifurcation where two secondary ducts of equal size are formed (Silberstein, 2001).

Ductal extension is driven by the proliferating cap cells at the distal tip of the TEB combined with several layers of proliferating cells underneath. It is this secondary layer of cells that undergo selective apoptosis in order to form the lumen of the epithelial duct (Silberstein, 2001). The processes of ductal elongation and bifurcation are primarily regulated by estrogen and growth hormone but there is also interaction with the surrounding stroma.

Estrogen activity is regulated through binding interactions with its receptors ER $\alpha$ and ER $\beta$ , both of which are expressed in the mammary epithelium and stroma (Saji, 2000). It has been shown that ER $\beta$  is not required for ductal elongation but rather is required for the differentiation events that take place during pregnancy (Förster et al., 2002). However, when ER $\alpha$  is knocked out in the mammary stroma, ductal elongation fails but the same is not true if it is only knocked out in the epithelial compartment (Cunha et al., 1997). It is therefore evident that stromal ER $\alpha$  is crucial for outgrowth of the ductal tree. The adult animal requires both the stromal and epithelial expression of ER $\alpha$  in order to maintain the ductal network but this can also be achieved in the presence of stromal ER $\alpha$  only if doses of estrogen and progesterone are increased (Mueller, 2002).

When estrogen binds to its receptor it results in translocation of the receptor to the nucleus, which leads to interactions with co-activators and finally gene transcription (McKenna et al., 1999). ER $\alpha$  knock out mice and null mutants for its co-activator, steroid receptor co-activator 3 both show failed ductal elongation in response to estrogen (Xu et al., 2000).

The other crucial hormone required during pubertal development of the mammary gland is growth hormone and also members of the insulin-like growth factor (IGF) family (Kleinberg, 1997).

Growth hormone is mainly produced by the pituitary gland and its action is mediated through binding to its receptors, Ghr, located in both the mammary epithelium and stroma (Ilkbahar et al., 1999). Similar to ER $\alpha$ , only stromal Ghr is necessary for successful ductal elongation (Gallego et al., 2001; Walden et al., 1998) and these effects are mediated via induction of Igf1. Studies have shown that Igf1 is induced in the stroma by growth hormone (Ruan & Kleinberg, 1999; Ruan et al., 1992) and that Igf1 can substitute for growth hormone and induce ductal elongation. Furthermore, null mutants of both Igf1 and Igfr lead to impaired outgrowth of the ductal network (Bonnette & Hadsell, 2001; Ruan & Kleinberg, 1999). It can therefore be deduced that the effects of growth hormone on TEB formation and ductal elongation are mediated by stromal Ghr induction of Igf1.

Members of the epidermal growth factor (EGF) family are also important in mediating interactions between the epithelial and stromal cells in the mammary gland that are important for regulating ductal elongation. Similarly to the aforementioned hormones, it is primarily the binding of Egf to its stromal receptor, Egfr that is important of the regulation at this stage in mammopoiesis (Wiesen et al., 1999). Further to this, it has been shown that expression of a dominant negative form of Egfr in the mammary gland leads to failed outgrowth of the ducts (Xie et al., 1997). There are several ligands that are capable of binding to Egfr and therefore a multitude of binding combinations and dimerisations that will produce different signals and ultimately control different aspects of mammary gland development, from puberty through to lactation (Earp et al., 1995; Komurasaki et al., 1997; Pinkas-Kramarski et al., 1997). Another example of the role of EGF signalling importance in puberty is shown through the inactivation of one of these ligands, amphiregulain, resulting in a failure of ductal outgrowth similar to what is seen in the Egfr knockout model (Luetteke et al., 1999).

GATA3 is another important regular of cell fate that has been found to be essential in mammary gland development. GATA3 is expressed as early as E12.5 and this expression increases during puberty and pregnancy but remains confined to the luminal cells of the mammary gland (Asselin-Labat et al., 2007; Kouros-Mehr et al., 2006; Ormandy et al., 2003). Studies have shown that K14cre-mediated deletion of GATA3

results in failure of placode development (Asselin-Labat et al., 2007), which is a similar phenotype to the LEF1, Msx1, and Msx2 knockout models (Hens & Wysolmerski, 2005), indicating a potential transcriptional network that exists between GATA3 and LEF1 (Naylor & Ormandy, 2007). It has also been shown that GATA3 is highly expressed in the TEBs as well as the nascent and adult ducts and that it plays a key role in maintaining luminal cell fate in the mammary gland. A lack of GATA3 in the luminal cells of the mammary ducts leads to failure of TEB formation during puberty and a subsequent disruption of ductal elongation in the adult gland (Kouros-Mehr et al., 2006). GATA3 has now been established as a critical regulator of luminal cell differentiation within the epithelial hierarchy of the mammary gland (Asselin-Labat et al., 2007). This study has shown that a deficiency in GATA3 in the mammary gland leads an expansion of luminal progenitors and a subsequent arrest of differentiation, whilst induction of GATA3 in a stem cell enriched environment is able induce maturation of cells in the alveolar lineage (Asselin-Labat et al., 2007).

#### Ductal side branching and alveolar bud formation

During ductal elongation, the primary duct bifurcates into two new secondary ducts that are of equal size (Silberstein, 2001). Ductal side branching, which follows ductal bifurcation, is a slightly different process whereby a new ductal branch is formed at 90° from the mature duct (Wiseman & Werb, 2002). Side branching occurs during puberty and continues with each subsequent estrous cycle thereafter. This involves the mammary bud penetrating through the myoepithelial layer, the basement membrane and also the stroma and this occurs under both hormonal control and in response to epithelial to mesenchymal signalling (Wiseman & Werb, 2002). Similar to the TEBs, once the ductal side branches reach the end of the fat pad, the distal ends undergo differentiation to form alveolar buds (Hennighausen & Robinson, 1998). The process of side branching also ensures that the ducts are far enough apart to allow for the formation of lobuloalveoli during late pregnancy and lactation (Silberstein, 2001).

Estrogen is essential for mammary gland development during puberty and also into adulthood as well. ER $\alpha$  knock out mice are born infertile and the rudimentary ductal tree is found to be lacking terminal end buds. Furthermore, these mice will fail to undergo ductal outgrowth and will have reduced levels of progesterone receptor (PR) and prolactin receptor (PRLR) (Cunha et al., 1997; Korach et al., 1996).

Progesterone is the second ovarian hormone that begins to play a role in mammary gland development primarily after puberty and into pregnancy. Through the use of PR null mice and mammary transplantation, it is evident that progesterone is essential for both ductal side branching and formation of alveolar buds (Brisken et al., 1998; Lydon et al., 1995). There are two isoforms of PR, PrA and PrB, both of which are important in the regulation of mammary gland development (Graham & Clarke, 1997). Overexpression of PrA leads to a significant increase in ductal side branching (Shyamala et al., 1998) whilst mice that are transgenic for PrB present with reduced side branching and altered alveolar development (Shyamala et al., 2000). Other studies have shown that PrA null mice show no defect in ductal side branching, which indicates that PrB is the crucial isoform for mammopoiesis (Mulac-Jericevic et al., 2000). Tissue recombination and localisation studies have shown that epithelial rather than stromal PR is required for alveolar development (Brisken et al., 1998; Humphreys et al., 1997). There is evidence that stromal PR does play a role too, potentially through regulation of Wnt4 which acts downstream of PR and has been shown that Wnt4 is also essential for ductal side branching (Brisken et al., 2000).

There are also several negative regulators of branching morphogenesis in the mammary gland that act to ensure this process is controlled and tightly regulated. The most common examples are Tgf $\beta$ 1 and Sprouty2, both of which result in accelerated ductal branching when inactivated or deleted (Daniel, 1996; Ewan et al., 2002; Lu P, 2005).

It is evident that the control and regulation of the mammary gland between birth and adulthood are both multifaceted and complex and as a result there is still much to be elucidated regarding the hormones, genes and growth factors that play key roles in mammary cell fate. It is essential to fully understand the process of ductal extension and branching morphogenesis because almost 90% of human breast cancers arise from the mammary ducts. Therefore, the regulatory factors that control these processors may be potential therapeutic targets.

### Development of the mammary gland during pregnancy

The previous sections have summarised the complex signalling networks that exist in the mammary gland from embryonic development through to adulthood, however the mammary gland itself is regarded as relatively quiescent in the virgin state. The mammary gland does not become a fully functioning organ until the onset of pregnancy and its complete role does not become evident until after parturition when lactation commences.

The early stages of pregnancy are similar to adolescence and involve mainly an increase in ductal side branching and alveolar bud formation. The alveolar buds then differentiate into alveoli, the precursor to the milk producing lobuloalveoli, the development of which are characteristic of mid-pregnancy. It is clear that the mammary gland has reached its functional endpoint when the lobuloalveolar cells begin to produce and eventually secrete milk proteins (Nandi, 1958; Topper & Freeman, 1980).

While estrogen and progesterone are crucial for the regulation of mammopoiesis during puberty, mammary gland development during pregnancy is largely controlled by progesterone and the peptide hormone, prolactin.

The importance of prolactin (Prl) became apparent in 1928 when Sticker & Grueuter injected pituitary peptides into artificially castrated animals and was able to induce lactation (Stricker & Grueter, 1928). It was later discovered that this peptide was in fact prolactin (Riddle, 1933) and these experiments demonstrated that mammary gland development was not purely under the control of the ovarian steroid hormones. The role of prolactin in mammary gland development was demonstrated following the generation of the Prl<sup>-/-</sup> mouse (Horseman et al., 1997). This model demonstrated that in the absence of prolactin, female mice were infertile and that mammary gland development was perturbed. Terminal end bud formation and ductal extension of the epithelial network appeared normal but the mature virgin gland did not develop alveolar buds, the precursors to lobuloalveoli (Horseman et al., 1997).

The subsequent development of mice lacking the prolactin receptor further demonstrated the importance of prolactin in the regulation of almost all aspects of female reproduction including; ovulation rates, mammary gland development, fertility, embryonic implantation, lactation and behavioural aspects such as mating frequency and maternal behaviour (Ormandy et al., 1997). Prlr homozygous mutant mice are completely infertile due to failure of the embryo to implant in the uterus so the effects of prolactin on during pregnancy and lactation was observed using mice that were heterozygous for Prlr. In these mice, a failure of lactation in the first pregnancy was observed but following subsequent estrous cycles and pregnancies, the mice regained the ability to lactate (Ormandy et al., 1997). Given the widespread affects of PRLR reduction on female reproduction it was difficult to determine exact causation of this

lactational defect so a further study by Brisken and colleagues used these PRLR homozygous mutants to perform mammary gland transplants (Brisken et al., 1999). This study showed that mammary gland development is normal up until puberty when the mammary glands of Prlr knockout mice show a reduction in the frequency and complexity of ductal side branching and the persistence of atypical TEBs through to adulthood (Brisken et al., 1999). This defect in the side branching is also observed in prolactin knockout mice, indicating that Prl and Prlr are phenocopies of each other (Horseman et al., 1997). Brisken and colleagues determined that this phenotype does not occur when PRLR<sup>-/-</sup> epithelium is transplanted into wildtype mice, indicting that PRLR regulates this aspect of mammary gland development indirectly through endocrine factors (Brisken et al., 1999) such as progesterone, which has been previously shown to be essential for side-branching (Brisken et al., 1998). During pregnancy, transplanted glands showed that deletion of PRLR leads to a complete failure of lobuloalveolar development, confirmed by a lack of  $\beta$ -casein production. This revealed that prolactin acts directly on the mammary epithelial cells during pregnancy to ensure lobuloalveolar development and successful lactation (Brisken et al., 1999).

## Lobuloalveolar development

Similarly to virgin development, signalling networks between stromal ECM proteins and the mammary epithelium act to direct both mammary gland development and epithelial cell function during pregnancy.

Prolactin regulates the differentiation of alveolar cells into lobuloalveoli through binding its receptor (Prlr), which in turn activates the Janus-2 kinase JAK2/signal transducer and transactivator (STAT) signalling pathway (Hennighausen et al., 1997). Activation of Jak2 under the regulation of prolactin leads to the homodimeristaion and phosphorylation of both isoforms of Stat5 (Stat5a and Stat5b). There is a 96% homology between Stat5a and Stat5b but Stat5a appears to be the dominant isoform in the mammary gland as shown by the knock out mice being unable to lactate due to impaired lobuloalveolar development. The Sta5b knockout however, presents with a markedly reduced phenotype that can be rescued by forced Stat5a expression (Liu et al., 1997; Udy et al., 1997). JAK/STAT signalling can also be induced by members of the EGF family and also growth hormone (Chapman et al., 1999). Phosphorylation of Stat5 enables it to translocate to the nucleus and activate the subsequent genes that mediate proliferation and differentiation (Darnell, 1997; Ihle, 1996).

Other regulators of both Stat5 and differentiation pathways include integrins, which are an important class of ECM receptors that regulate the cross talk between the ECM and hormone signalling pathways (Giancotti & Tarone, 2003; Katz & Streuli, 2007) allowing influence over cell fate decisions such as proliferation, migration, survival and differentiation (Streuli, 2009). Integrin signalling is essential for mediating cell matrix adhesion and epithelial function in several systems, including the mammary gland (Akhtar et al., 2009). In the mammary gland,  $\beta$ 1-integrin is necessary for activating endocrine signalling pathways and also plays an important role in the pregnant mammary gland, as shown by impaired lobuloalveolar development in the  $\beta$ 1-integrin chimeric mouse model (Naylor et al., 2005). In this study, deletion of  $\beta 1$  integrin specifically in the luminal mammary epithelium, led to impaired alveologenesis and lactation *in vivo* as well as a detachment of the luminal epithelial cells from the ECM, indicating a crucial role for  $\beta$ 1-integrin in maintaining cell adhesion (Naylor et al., 2005). These results were recapitulated is primary MEC cultures where ill-formed acini structures developed when grown in 3-D culture. This study highlighted the interaction between  $\beta$ 1-intergrin and hormone signalling, as demonstrated by a lack of milk secretion in  $\beta$ 1-integrin<sup>-/-</sup> luminal MECs upon stimulation with prolactin due to a lack of Stat5 integration into the nucleus (Naylor et al., 2005). Similarly it has been shown that deletion of integrin-linked kinase (ILK) in primary culture and in vivo leads to perturbation of differentiation in the pregnant mammary gland due to inhibiting the nuclear translocation of Stat5 (Akhtar et al., 2009). The integration of integrin signalling and prolactin is clearly essential for differentiation and milk synthesis in the mammary gland and it has been shown that Rac1 is key player in linking these two systems (Akhtar & Streuli, 2006). Dominant negative Rac1 inhibits Prl-induced production of βcasein in mammary epithelial cells grown in 3-D culture whilst activation of Rac1 in βintegrin null mammary epithelial cells is conversely able to rescue  $\beta$ -catenin levels. Therefore it is clear that Rac1 is an essential downstream target of integrins in regards to activation of PrlR/Stat5 signaling cascade (Akhtar & Streuli, 2006). This provides further evidence of the cooperation of hormonal and integrin signalling pathways in the regulation of mammary cell fate (Naylor et al., 2005; Naylor & Streuli, 2006).

It is evident that the hormonal control of mammary gland development is fairly well understood but the ensuing transcriptional regulation of genes involved in cell fate decisions is still under investigation. There are several key players in lobuloalveolar development, whose effects have been described through the use of knockout mouse models where a failure in development of these milk-producing cells is the primary phenotype. Cyclin D1 is one such regulator that is crucial for mediating cell cycle progression and is found to be essential for lobuloalveolar development, as shown by the impairments found in the knock out animal (Fantl et al., 1995; Sicinski et al., 1995). It is also true that an upregulation of Cyclin D1 found in the transgenic Msx1 mice also leads to disrupted lobuloalveolar formation due to inhibition of differentiation (Hu et al., 2001). This model also indicates that there is a potential role for the Homeobox protein Msx1 in lobuloalveolar formation.

It has since been shown that the targeted deletion of the Hox genes, Hoxa9, Hoxb9 and Hoxd9 also results in a defect in lobuloalveolar development, which ultimately leads to a failure in lactation (Chen & Capecchi, 1999). In addition, Hoxd10 has been found to play a role in the expansion of the alveolar buds in late pregnancy and deletion of this gene also leads to impairment in lactation due to insufficient lobules (Lewis, 2000).

Another important regulator of lobuloalveolar development is the CCAAT/enhancer binding protein  $\beta$  (C/EBP $\beta$ ), which is responsible for transcriptionally regulating several genes, including those that regulated PR-mediated proliferation in the mammary gland. In addition, C/EBP $\beta^{-/-}$  mice present with impaired ductal outgrowth, side branching and therefore subsequently limited lobuloalveolar development (Grimm et al., 2002; Robinson et al., 1998; Seagroves et al., 2000). It is therefore feasible that C/EBP $\beta$  is able to regulate mammary cell fate, on several levels, through regulation of downstream effectors such as the progesterone receptor.

Regulators of mammary cell fate have become the focus of mammary gland biology in recent years due to their crucial role in development and the fact they are often perturbed in cancer. The ETS transcription factor ELF5 is one such example. ELF5 expression in the mammary gland increases from early pregnancy before peaking midway through gestation and remaining high through to early lactation (Zhou et al., 2005; Zhou et al., 1998). Due to embryonic lethality in ELF5<sup>-/-</sup> models, ELF5<sup>+/-</sup> mice have been used to show that this transcription factor is essential for the differentiation and expansion of alveolar buds into lobuloalveoli (Zhou et al., 2005). ELF5<sup>+/-</sup> mice show normal ductal elongation and side branching through virgin development and enter the proliferative phase of alveolar morphogenesis but fail to produce milk proteins and lactate, leading to starvation of pups (Zhou et al., 2005). Recapitulation of this phenotype in mammary transplants using epithelium from these mice prove that ELF5 regulation of lobuloalveolar development is epithelial cell autonomous (Naylor et al., 2003; Zhou et al., 2005). These phenotypes are also observed in the PRLR<sup>+/-</sup> mice described earlier (Ormandy et al., 1997). The PRLR deficient mice showed a reduction in ELF5 expression but this was not reciprocated in the ELF5<sup>+/-</sup>, indicating that ELF5 is acting downstream of the prolactin signalling pathway (Zhou et al., 2005).

Furthermore, it has been shown that overexpression of ELF5 in inducible transgenic mice results in a severe disruption of ductal morphogenesis as a result of forced alveolar differentiation and production of milk proteins in virgin mice (Oakes, 2008b). This study by Oakes and colleagues also found that ELF5 knockout mammary glands have an accumulation of CD61<sup>+</sup> luminal progenitor cells whilst the glands overexpressing ELF5 showed a marked depletion in this cell population, indicating that ELF5 controls mammary alveolar cell fate through regulation of secretory alveolar precursor cell populations (Oakes, 2008b).

Notch signalling is another crucial pathway involved in the mammary epithelial hierarchy and has been shown to regulated cell fate decisions in the. The Notch pathway has been implemented as an essential regulator of specification in many cell types (Schweisguth, 2004; Tanigaki et al., 2003) and has now been shown to be required for both mammary gland development and breast cancer (Gallahan et al., 1996; Jhappan et al., 1992; Kiaris et al., 2004; Kordon et al., 1995; Raafat et al., 2004).

Notch signalling is mediated through receptor/ligand interactions that lead to cleavage of Notch and release of the active Notch intracellular domain (NICD). NICD interacts with downstream effectors to activate transcription (reviewed in (Bouras et al., 2008)). One such effector is Recombining binding protein suppressor of hairless (RBPJ) that when down regulated in mammary stem cell (MaSC)-enriched environment, leads to increased stem cell activity and formation of aberrant end buds. Therefore it is evident that inappropriate Notch signalling leads to self-renewal and transformation of luminal progenitors (Bouras et al., 2008). Further evidence of Notch signalling luminal progenitors has been shown through the expression of downstream NICD effectors in luminal cell populations. Hey1 and Hey2 are expressed in the CD61<sup>+</sup> luminal progenitor

populations whilst Hes6 is expressed in the CD61<sup>-</sup> mature luminal cells (Bouras et al., 2008).

It is clearly evident that Notch, as well as other signalling pathways are crucial for MaSCs regulation, luminal cell commitment and overall regulation of cell fate decisions. It is therefore crucial to identify novel regulators of mammary gland development because the factors capable of influencing cell fate hold the key to understanding the dysregulation of the mammary hierarchy that leads to breast cancer.

#### Lactation

Lactation is the functional end point of mammary gland development, involving the production of milk proteins and their subsequent secretion. Milk synthesis is stimulated and maintain by prolactin in the initial stages and then a secondary release of prolactin from the pituitary gland in response to suckling signals for continued milk production (Freeman et al., 2000). The secretion of milk is mediated by oxytocin which is released in response to suckling and causes the myoepithelial cells that surround the ducts to contract and expel the milk (Hennighausen & Robinson, 1998; Jones, 1967; Van Dongen, 1967).

## Apoptosis and involution

Apoptosis is an important aspect of mammary gland development as it occurs after each estrous cycle where there is a reduction in the complexity of side branching and the alveolar buds from the previous cycle. More importantly, apoptosis is crucial for the stage of mammary gland development known as involution, which occurs after weaning when lactation has stopped (Wagner et al., 1997; Lund et a., 1996).

Absence of suckling leads to inhibition of milk secretion and results in a loss of lobuloalveolar proliferation, followed by controlled apoptosis (Wagner et al., 1997). This is the beginning of the final phase of mammary gland development, known as involution. The second stage of involution requires the gland to undergo a process of remodeling until it resembles a nulliparous gland but with a higher degree of side branching (Lund et al., 1996).

At the time of involution a number of genes that act as markers of cell death begin to increase in expression, primarily Bax and Tgf $\beta$ 3 (Li et al., 1997; Nguyen & Pollard, 2000). Overexpression of Tgf $\beta$ 3 in the mammary gland is able to induce early

involution (Nguyen & Pollard, 2000) whilst knocking out Tgf $\beta$  will delay the onset of involution by preventing apoptosis (Nguyen & Pollard, 2000).

Other molecules that are required for involution include those that are found to have apoptotic roles in other systems. Deletion of the tumour suppressor gene p53 leads to a delay in involution (Jerry et al., 1998), whilst deletion of the known death inducing molecules Fas and Fas ligand leads to a failure of apoptosis of mammary epithelial cells in response to weaning (Song et al., 2000).

Members of the Stat family also play an essential role in the activation of involution, namely a loss of Stat5 and the activation of Stat3 (Chapman et al., 1999; Humphreys & Hennighausen, 1999). As reviewed earlier, Stat5 is crucial during lobuloalveolar development and milk production but acts to inhibit involution (Humphreys & Hennighausen, 1999). Stat3 however is an essential activator of involution as shown by the delay in regression of the mammary epithelial cells upon deletion of Stat3 (Chapman et al., 1999).

As seen throughout embryonic and virgin mammary gland development, interactions between the mammary epithelium and stroma are necessary throughout involution. Extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins such as the matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are recruited to assist in involution and work to remodel the mammary microenvironment by cleaving extracellular matrix and other scaffolding proteins (Wiseman & Werb, 2002). Lysyl oxidase-like 2 (LOXL2), a member of the LOX family of ECM modifying enzymes, is also upregulated in the mammary gland during lactation and involution and has been shown to co-localise with MMP9 and tissue inhibitor metalloproteinase 1 (TIMP1) (Barker et al., 2011). LOXL2 acts to remodel the mammary gland through regulation of TIMP1 and MMP9 activity and also through its action as actin cross-linking ECM protein (Barker et al., 2011).

# Stems cell and the mammary gland

The mammary gland is an organ that is capable of undergoing dramatic cyclical changes with each estrous cycle and pregnancy in response to an array of regulator genes, hormones and transcription factors. It is also evident that regulators of cell fate are crucial in mammopoiesis and furthermore, they provide clear links between development and disease. The ability of the gland to essentially be able to self-renew during and after each estrous cycle and pregnancy has been attributed to the mammary

stem cells (MaSCs) that exist in, not only the developing gland, but the adult gland as well (Daniel et al., 1968; Hoshino & Gardner, 1967; Smith & Medina, 1988). MaSCs are essential for organogenesis and homeostasis and fall into two lineages, luminal and myoepithelial (basal). The luminal lineage gives rise to the ductal cells that line the epithelial ducts and establish the secretory alveolar components capable of milk production, and the luminal cells that line the epithelial ducts (Visvader, 2009) (Fig. 1.2).

The initial *in vivo* experiments showing the these stem cell phenotypes of the breast were established by De Ome and colleagues in 1959 where donor epithelium is transplanted into the cleared fat pad of a recipient mouse and the ensuing result is a completely reconstituted mammary gland capable of differentiation under the influences of pregnancy (De Ome et al, 1959). It has since been shown that these transplants can be performed using both explants and also cell suspension of dissociated mammary glands (Daniel et al., 1968; Hoshino & Gardner, 1967; Smith, 1996). Furthermore, explants from various regions of the ductal network have all shown full reconstitution of a mammary gland through up to seven generations, which is evidence that persistent and long-lived stem cells exist throughout the entire adult mammary ductal network (Daniel & Young, 1971; Smith & Medina, 1988).



#### Fig. 1.2. Mammary stem cell hierarchy

The regenerative capabilities of the mammary gland can be attributed to the existence of the mammary stem cell hierarchy. Luminal and basal are the two main lineages that arise from a common multi-potent progenitor. The luminal lineage gives rise to the ductal and secretory alveolar cells whilst the basal progenitors give rise to the contractile myoepithelial cells. In red are the major transcription factors involved in the regulation of stem cell populations and in blue are the breast cancer subtypes that arise from each stem cell population (Adapted from Visvader 2009).

The regulation of MaSCs is controlled by a number of major signalling pathways and transcription factors including Hedgehog, WNT, GATA3, Notch (Liu et al., 2005) and more recently Runx2 (Owens et al., 2014), which have been described in previous sections. The principal concept behind the heterogeneity of breast cancer is known as the "cell of origin" theory and states that breast cancers arise from different mammary epithelial subtypes. Therefore, a better understanding of the properties of these different subtypes will further our knowledge about the heterogeneity of breast cancer (Visvader, 2009) (Fig. 1.2).

More recently, techniques have been developed that allow the formation of single cell suspensions of mammary epithelial cells (MECs), which can be analysed using fluorescent-activated cell sorting (FACS). The populations of stem cells are sorted using specific cell surface markers (Shackleton et al., 2006; Sleeman et al., 2005; Stingl et al., 2006). For example, MECs enriched in the CD49f<sup>hi</sup>, CD29<sup>hi</sup>, CD24<sup>+</sup>, Sca<sup>-</sup> subset and when transplanted, generate an extensive ductal network and a whole gland that is capable of forming alveolar components that produce milk (Shackleton et al., 2006; Sleeman et al., 2005; Stingl et al., 2006). FACS-sorting of MECs allows linage tracing of stem cells involved in both mammopoiesis and breast cancer and indicate the potential to identify the "cell of origin" of a particular breast tumour, which would allow a more in-depth perspective in regards to treatment options.

There has been ongoing debate in the field as to whether bipotent or unipotent MaSCs are responsible for the coordination of the extensive ductal branching during both estrous and pregnancy and the subsequent maintenance of the mature gland (van Amerongen et al., 2012; Van Keymeulen et al., 2011). A recent study has shown through extensive lineage tracing experiments, that bipotent MaSCs exist and that these are responsible for producing long-lived progenitor cells (Rios et al., 2014). This study was also able to determine that bipotent MaSCs exist in extensive clonal domains of the mammary epithelium and actively work to control physiological processes in the gland rather than lay dormant until injury or transplantation requires them to function, as was previously thought (Rios et al., 2014).

Research into MaSCs has been critical to increasing our knowledge of how the gland is able to undergo repeated and drastic changes and it provides us with the potential to understand how aberrations in the regulation of such processes lead to disease progression and cancer. Cell fate mapping will ultimately be needed in order to elucidate the complex cell hierarchy that exists within the mammary gland.

#### Summary

It is abundantly clear that that the process of mammary gland development involves a complex signalling network of hormones, growth factor ligands and their receptors and transcription factors. Whilst many of these pathways and functions have been elucidated, we are still yet to unravel the complete story behind mammary gland development. It is essential to fully understand the developmental regulation of the mammary gland in order to be able to comprehend how perturbation of these signalling networks leads to disease progression.

#### **Breast Carcinogenesis**

#### **Overview**

The primary structures within the breast are the lobules that produce milk and the ducts that transport the milk to the nipple. A network of connective, lymphatic and fatty tissue surrounds both of these structures. Breast cancer is able to form in both the lobules and the ducts and is found to be the point of origin for 10-15% and 50-75% of breast cancers respectively (Youk et al., 2009). If the cancer remains within these structures it is classified as *in situ* carcinoma however if it spreads into the surrounding breast tissue, it is known as invasive carcinoma.

Breast cancer is a heterogeneous disease that has a good prognosis in the initial phase but this changes dramatically if the cancer has spread to distal organs. The molecular subtyping of breast cancer has played a significant role in both the successful treatment of patients and the development of new therapic targets. The five major subtypes of breast cancer are Luminal A, Luminal B, Basal/Triple Negative (TNBC), "Normal-like" and HER2 type (Perou et al., 2000) and are characterised in regards to their hormone receptor status, specifically the expression of the estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2).

The Luminal A and B subtypes are defined as being positive for both ER and PR, while Luminal B is also positive for HER2. These are the most prevalent types of breast cancer diagnosed, accounting for a combined total of 60% of all cases. These tumours form in the luminal cells lining the ducts in the mammary gland and have the highest survival rates and the best prognoses when compared to other subtypes due to the

effectiveness of hormonal therapy. Basal breast cancers, including triple negative cancers, are associated with a poor patient prognosis and more aggressive tumours that arise from the basal cells of the mammary ducts. Basal breast cancers often carry mutations in both the P53 and the BRCA genes whilst the TNBCs are also negative for all three main hormone receptors, which, combined with a lack of targeted therapeutic options, leads to significantly lower survival rates and increased rates of recurrence when compared to ER/PR+ luminal breast cancers (Dent et al., 2007). HER2 type breast cancers lack both ER and PR expression and also have a mutation in the P53 gene, but can be treated with trastuzumab because the majority of these tumours are HER2+. These tumours are still associated with poor prognosis and do have high recurrence rates, compared to luminal breast cancers. "Normal-like" breast cancers have, as the name suggests, similar hormone receptor status to normal breast cells but have a similar prognosis to basal breast cancers.

There is a high degree of tumour heterogeneity that exists in breast cancers, meaning that that there will be tumour cells that do not fit the classification of the diagnosed subtype and as such may evade therapeutics and result in relapses or metastasis. In order to improve the clinical outcomes of breast cancer we need to fully understand the reasons behind tumour heterogeneity and the cells type from which breast cancers originate. There is also an crucial need to identify novel regulators of mammary cell fate that act to direct breast cancer phenotypes such as increased proliferative, migratory and invasive capacities.

#### Prevalence of breast cancer

More than 1,300,000 people across the world suffer from breast cancer each year making it one of the most common forms of cancer and despite advances in detection methods and therapeutics approximately 450,000 will die due to this disease each year (CGAN 2012).

The most recent statistics for breast cancer in Australia show that whilst the risk of developing the disease before 85 is 1 in 8, the survival rate has significantly increased over the last 20 years. In New South Wales alone, there were 4,606 cases of breast cancer diagnosed in 2009, accounting for 27.4% of all new cancers diagnosed in women and 28.8% cancers diagnosed in women overall. In the same year 13,668 patients were

diagnosed across the country, making it the most the common cancer detected in Australian women and the third most common cancer overall.

In terms of breast cancer mortality, in Australia it was found to be the second leading cause of cancer-related death in women with 2,840 patients succumbing to the disease in 2010, which equated to 15.3% of all cancer related death in women.

Whilst the incidence of breast cancer in Australia is high, the prognosis for patients presenting with localised disease is extremely good and they have a 97% five-year survival rate. Unfortunately, for patients presenting with distal metastasis, this five-year survival rate is greatly reduced to only 40%, and more dramatically so in regards to long-term survival in which the survival rate is only 5-10%. These poor statistics highlight importance of elucidating the mechanism behind breast cancer progression and investigate new key regulators of breast cancer cell fate.

#### **Breast Cancer Metastasis**

#### **Overview**

As stated above, the survival rates for breast cancer, both short term and long term, are severely reduced in patients who present with distal metastasis. Over 90% of all breast cancer-related deaths can be attributed to metastasis, most commonly detected in the liver, lung and bone.

Even though improvement in treatment options and early detection methods have significantly increased the survival rates for primary breast cancer over the last two decades, the poor statistics associated with the metastatic phase of the disease have remained largely unchanged for 25 years. For this reason, it is integral that research in to the mechanism behind which breast cancer cells are able to travel to and colonise these secondary sites continues.

Metastasis is a multistage process whereby cancer cells acquire the ability to escape the primary tumour environment and colonise a secondary organ (Steeg, 2006). There are six main phenotypes that cancer cells exhibit that enable them to become metastatic and these "hallmarks" of cancer have been outlined by Hanahan and Weinberg (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000, 2011) and are summarized in Figure 1.3.



#### Fig. 1.3. Hallmark of cancer

The six major functional capabilities cancer cells acquire in order to grow, spread and colonise secondary organs are found in the center, surrounded by the more recent additions in red (adapted from Hanahan & Weinberg 2011).
In order to metastasise, the primary cancer cell must be able to invade the local environment before undergoing intravasation and extravasation, a process by which they enter the blood stream in order to circulate around the body before exiting the blood vessel and finally establishing a new colony in a distal organ (Steeg, 2006). In breast cancer where tumours are comprised of epithelial cells, these cells need to undergo a transformation in order to become more aggressive by losing such traits as cell adhesion and apical-planar cell polarity and gaining traits such a apoptotic resistance and motility, this process is collectively known as the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) (Kalluri & Weinberg, 2009).

There are numerous genes involved in the progression of breast cancer from a primary tumour to metastatic disease. One of the initial steps is to evade detection by the immune system and to do this breast cancer cells secrete compounds such as Fas death receptor ligand, which tricks the immune cells into destroying each other instead of the cancer cells (Mann et al., 1999). Once "invisible" the cancer cells have to be able to detach in order to metastasise and do this by altering expression of genes that regulate cell adhesion such as selectins (Krause & Turner, 1999), integrins (Kumar, 1998), lectins (Raz & Lotan, 1987) and cadherins (Perl et al., 1998) (Akimoto et al., 1999). In order to cross basement membranes and separate tissue, breast cancer cells upregulate proteolytic enzymes such as metalloproteinases (MMPs), serine proteinases and cathepsins (Andreasen et al., 1997; Brew et al., 2000; Chambers & Matrisian, 1997; Koblinski et al., 2000; Nelson et al., 2000) as well as genes that increase cell motility such as autotaxin and hepatocyte growth factor (Lamszus et al., 1997; Stracke et al., 1997). The organotropism of breast cancer metastasis is potentially aided by the upregulation of specific chemoattractants and receptors (Müller et al., 2001). As previously mentioned, breast cancer preferentially metastasises to the bone and this process has been reviewed below.

#### Breast cancer bone metastasis and the "vicious cycle"

Bone metastasis is one of the most painful and unfortunately most common outcomes of advanced breast cancer. Almost 70% of patients who are diagnosed with metastatic breast cancer present with bone lesions. This preference of breast cancer cells to metastasise to the bone contributes to the high morbidity and mortality associated with breast cancer (Coleman & Rubens, 1987; McNeil, 1984).

Bone metastases that arise from breast cancer are osteolytic and this resorption of bone leads to severe complications such as hypercalcemia, long bone fractures, spinal cord compression and osteoporosis (Coleman & Rubens, 1987). Current treatments for bone metastasis are considered to be palliative rather than curative, aiming at reducing pain and improving quality of life. These treatments include radiation therapy and occasionally surgery to reduce tumour size and slow tumour growth and also the administration of bisphosphonates, which treat the ensuing osteoporosis and slow tumour growth by preventing bone resorption (Lipton et al., 2000; Paterson et al., 1993).

Paget's "seed and soil" theory postulates that the bone microenvironment acts a fertile "soil" factor that attracts the breast cancer cells and then provides a suitable environment where the cancer cells are able to thrive and proliferate (Paget, 1889). It is therefore pertinent to investigate the mechanisms of genes and pathways that regulate both bone development and homeostasis and also mammary gland development. The most prominent example is receptor activator of NF- $\kappa$ B (RANK) and it's ligand RANKL. RANKL is an essential regulator of osteoclastogenesis in the bone (Lacey et al., 1998) whilst it is also crucial in the mammary gland for lobuloalveolar development as it controls epithelial cell proliferation and apoptosis along with RANK (Fata et al., 2000). Due to having essential functions in both bone and mammary development, it is evident that RANK/RANKL may be acting as a "soil" factor in what is known as the "vicious cycle" of breast cancer bone metastasis.

The "vicious cycle" bone destruction hypothesis states that tumour cells activate and perturb bone cell function by secreting growth factors resulting in bone destruction which in turn leads to the secretion and release of subsequent growth factors that support the growth of the tumour cells (Roodman & Dougall, 2008; Steeg, 2006). When breast cancer cells colonise the bone it results in secretion of tumour growth factors such as OPN, IL-6, IL-8, IL-11, PTHrP, TGF- $\beta$  and MMPs, which in turn activate osteoblasts that will secrete RANKL and OPG. This causes a shift in the balance of osteoblastogenesis and osteoclastogenesis and eventually leads to excess osteoclasts and therefore bone destruction (Roodman & Dougall, 2008; Steeg, 2006). To complete the cycle, the damaged bone release osteoblast-activating growth factors such as BMPs, TGF- $\beta$ , IGF and FGFs which aid tumour growth and exacerbate the excessive osteolysis (Roodman & Dougall, 2008; Steeg, 2006).

Another potential key player in this cycle is the osteogenic transcription factor, Runx2. Runx2 is known as a master regulator of bone development and homeostasis due to its regulation of cell fate and lineage determination in the bone (Ali et al., 2008) (Young et al., 2007a; Young et al., 2007b). Runx2 both directly regulates and is regulated by many of the genes and growth factors involved in bone metastasis including OPN, TGF- $\beta$ , collagenase-3, BSP, MMP13 and RANKL (Steeg, 2006) (Roodman & Dougall, 2008). Runx2 is also considered to be a master regulator of osteoclastogenesis because it regulates both RANKL expression and osteoblast differentiation (Enomoto et al., 2003). It is clear that Runx2 controls cell fate in the bone through a number of regulatory functions and therefore dysregulation in Runx2 expression would lead disruption of the balance of bone resorption and formation, thus leading to bone lesions.

Furthermore, a recent study by our lab has indicated that Runx2 may be a novel regulator of both mammary gland development and breast cancer cell fate (Owens et al., 2014). This new evidence may provide the tangible link between these two seemingly disparate systems and may lead development of novel therapies against breast cancer bone metastasis.

## Summary

Breast cancer, in its primary form, is a disease with a good prognosis and an everincreasing array of treatment options. However, the complex mechanisms by which breast cancers are able to metastasise, and location to which they preferentially colonise, often lead to poor prognosis, reduced quality of life and eventual death for the patient. It is important that we continue to investigate the missing pieces of the puzzle in order to find ways to treat and circumvent the unrelenting process that is breast cancer metastasis by studying both the cancer itself and also the regulatory factors involved in the formation and function of the health mammary gland. This will allow the tools to design improved diagnostic, prognostic and treatment options for people suffering from breast cancer.

Our lab has recently identified Runx2 as a potential link between breast cancer and bone metastasis, however the fetal lethal phenotypes of Runx2<sup>-/-</sup> mice and the potential redundancy that exists in the Runx family have presented difficulties regarding full elucidation of the role of Runx2 in the breast. This thesis suggests that investigation into

the binding partner, CBF $\beta$ , may not only negate these issues but provide the field with an exciting and novel regulator of mammary gland development and breast carcinogenesis.

## **CBF** Complex

The Core Binding Factor (CBF) complex is essential for the successful regulation of developmental processes (Kundu et al., 2002; Yoshida, 2002) and also stem cell homeostasis (Kurosaka et al., 2011; Okuda et al., 1996; Wang et al., 1996). In addition, this complex plays key roles in the aetiology of several diseases, namely leukaemias (Blyth et al., 2005; Speck & Gilliland, 2002).

The CBF complex is a heterodimeric transcription factor that is made up of a DNA binding subunit, CBF $\alpha$ , and the non-DNA binding subunit, CBF $\beta$  (E Ogawa, 1993b; Ogawa et al., 1993a; Wang et al., 1993). The CBF $\alpha$  subunit is encoded by the genes in both mice and humans Runx1, Runx2 and Runx3 (Bae et al., 1995; E Ogawa, 1993b; Levanon et al., 1994; Miyoshi et al., 1991). These Runx genes are differentially expressed across tissue types (Levanon & Groner, 2004) whilst the non-DNA binding subunit on the other hand is only encoded by one gene in humans, CBF $\beta$ , and it is ubiquitously expressed across most tissue types (Adya et al., 2000; Hajra & Collins, 1995; Ogawa et al., 1993a; Wang et al., 1993).

The CBF complex can both activate or repress transcription of key regulators of growth, survival and differentiation pathways (Blyth et al., 2005) and its most widely known for its role in both osteogenesis and hematopoiesis (Huang et al., 1999; Nagata et al., 1999) (Fig. .4). Aberrations in the CBF complex during osteogenesis leads to disorders such as cleidocranial dysplasia and similarly, translocation events during haematopoiesis implicate CBF in a large percentage of acute human leukaemias (Huang et al., 1999; Nagata et al., 1999).



I

## Fig. 1.4. The CBF complex

All members of the Runx family form heterodimeric complexes with the same co-transcription factor, CBFβ. This complex can both activate and repress transcription of key regulators of growth, survival and differentiation pathways depending on context (adapted from Blyth 2005).

There is new evidence that the CBF complex, primarily via Runx2, plays an important role in the developing mammary gland and potentially breast cancer (McDonald et al., 2014; Owens et al., 2014). Our lab has recently shown a novel role for Runx2 in lobuloalveolar development through regulation of progenitor cell populations We have also shown a potential role for Runx2 in the regulation of breast cancer cell fate (Owens et al., 2014). This novel Runx2 data will be reviewed throughout this thesis and furthermore, how it lead to the discovery of CBF $\beta$  as a key player in both mammary development and breast carcinogenesis.

## Runx2

## Runx gene family

The Runx family is made up of three closely related yet phenotypically diverse transcription factors which are primarily known for their critical roles in tissue development and haematopoietic lineages (Coffman, 2003).

Runx genes 1, 2 and 3 are essential for the regulation of cell fate processes in both a lineage and stage specific context. All members of this family are integral to decisive processes whereby a cell will either continue to proliferate or exit the cell cycle or alternatively, whether it continues along the self-renewal pathway or undergoes functional differentiation. The Runx genes have also been implicated in several diseases involving skeletal and neurological defects as well as several types of cancer, such as leukaemia, bone and gastric cancer (Reviewed in (Blyth et al., 2005)).

Runx 1, 2 and 3 have highly conserved and essential roles in important developmental processes such as haematopoiesis, osteogenesis and neurogenesis respectively (Reviewed in (Blyth et al., 2005)). In terms of disease progression, Runx1 has a well-defined role in acute myeloid leukaemia (Okuda et al., 1996) whilst Runx2 has severe implications in bone development and related conditions such as cleidocranial dysplasia (Otto et al., 1997). Runx3 on the other hand has been implicated in gastric and other epithelial cancers (Li et al., 2002).

It is a well-understood paradigm that aberrant expression or dysregulation of genes involved in critical developmental processes often leads to disease progression and cancers. Due to this reasoning, there has been a significant increase of interest of the Runx genes in recent years, not only because of their role in development but also due to their somewhat paradoxical roles in cancer, whereby they are capable on acting as both tumour repressors or oncogenes depending on context (Reviewed in (Blyth et al., 2005)).

Genes that are implicated in cancer generally fall either into the category of oncogenes or tumour suppressors, the Runx genes however refuse to conform to this model (Reviewed in (Blyth et al., 2005)). Runx1 and Runx3 in particular highlight the tumour suppressor function of this family, promoting gene deletion, dominant negative function, hypermethylation events and inactivating mutations in some cancers including both haematological and gastric cancers (Li et al., 2002; Osato et al., 1999; Song et al., 1999; Tanaka et al., 1995). There is also evidence of the dominant oncogenic function of all three Runx genes, principally in lymphomas where Runx genes are often targeted for viral insertion (Kim et al., 2003; Li et al., 1999; Stewart et al., 1997).

Runx1 is found to be the most targeted gene in leukaemias with over 30 translocations that fall into 3 main classes of fusion proteins; RUNX1-ETO, RUNX1-EV11 and RUNX1-TEL. These fusion proteins act as a dominant negative across several subtypes of leukaemias including AML, B-ALL and ALL (Gamou et al., 1998; Golub et al., 1995; Roulston et al., 1998; Shurtleff et al., 1995; Slovak et al., 2002) (Romana et al., 1995) (Fears et al., 1996). RUNX1 also forms another fusion protein with CBF $\beta$  and MYH11, which also presents with dominant negative functions and significantly increases the binding affinity of Runx2 to its cofactors (Adya et al., 1998; Lutterbach et al., 1999).

Runx3 on the other hand is found to be highly methylated in epithelial cancers such as gastric cancer which provides strong evidence for Runx3, like Runx1, to be acting in a tumour suppressor-like capacity (Goel et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2004; Ku et al., 2004) (Li et al., 2004). This theory is supported by the fact that mice that are null for Runx3 developed epithelial hyperplasia, particularly in the gastric tract (Li et al., 2002).

Runx2 differs from its family members as it acts predominantly as an oncogene when expression is perturbed. This is evidenced by its amplification in several cancers, primarily osteosarcoma but also leukaemia and more recently, both primary and secondary prostate and breast cancers (Forus et al., 1995; Selvamurugan et al., 2004) (Barnes et al., 2003; Lau et al., 2004; McDonald et al., 2014; Owens et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2001; Yeung et al., 2002).

#### Runx2 as a master regulator of bone development and homeostasis

Runx2 is one of the most critical transcription factors involved in skeletal morphogenesis and osteoblast differentiation (Komori, 2011). Its primary known function is as a master regulator of osteoblast differentiation and bone development and homeostasis (Komori et al., 1997; Otto et al., 1997).

Deletion of Runx2 in the mouse leads to a severe inhibition of bone development through an ablation of the osteoblast population and impaired bone mineralisation (Komori et al., 1997; Otto et al., 1997) whilst a haploinsufficiency in humans results in the autosomal dominant skeletal condition known as cleidocranial dysplasia (Mundlos et al., 1997). In regards to the role of Runx2 in cancer, numerous studies show that Runx2 is amplified in in several cancers, especially osteosarcomas, indicating a primarily oncogenic role (Forus et al., 1995; Lau et al., 2004). This oncogenic phenotype is reiterated by cell culture studies which have shown that the overexpression of Runx2 in both endothelial and osteoblastic cells drives the cells towards a more metastatic phenotype a where cell migration, invasion, survival and angiogenesis are enhanced (Fujita et al., 2004; Sun et al., 2001; Sun et al., 2004; Zelzer et al., 2001).

It is evident from these studies that Runx2 is integral to the normal development of the skeletal system and that its dysregulation has severe implications on the aetiology of disease. This paradigm has shaped the course of this thesis in the context of the mammopoiesis and breast carcinogenesis.

## Runx2 and mammary gland development

As stated previously, Runx2 is best known for its role as a master regulator of bone development and homeostasis, but in recent years the role Runx2 plays in non-osseous tissue has become an increasing point of intrigue (Reviewed in (Ferrari et al., 2013)).

Recent studies by our lab and others have shown a novel role for this osteogenic transcription factor in both mammary gland development and carcinogenesis (Blyth et al., 2010; Owens et al., 2014; Pratap et al., 2011; Shore, 2005).

The first evidence of a relationship between Runx2 and the mammary gland was established when Otto and colleagues (Otto et al., 1997) discovered it was expressed in the nascent mammary gland through  $\beta$ -galactosidase staining of the CBF $\alpha$ 1<sup>-/-</sup> embryos that housed the LacZ reporter gene (Otto et al., 1997). It was later shown that Runx2 is particularly highly expressed in the terminal end buds, which are the driving force

behind extending the ductal network through the mammary fat pad (Kendrick et al., 2008; Kouros-Mehr et al., 2006) confirmed the role of Runx2 in the mammary gland when they found that it was expressed specifically in the basal/myoepithelial sub-population (Kendrick et al., 2008). This was an interesting discovery as it was previously shown that mammary stems cells exist in the basal/myoepithelial sub-population (Shackleton et al., 2006; Stingl et al., 2006).

Not only is there now evidence that Runx2 is expressed in the mammary gland, there have also been several studies reported in recent years that have focused on the role this transcription factor is playing in mammopoiesis.

It has now been shown that the expression of Runx2 in the mammary gland fluctuates over the course of development, indicating critical involvement (Blyth et al., 2010; Owens et al., 2014) and it is required for regulation of genes that are essential for mammary function (Inman & Shore, 2003).

It has been shown that Runx2 regulates genes that are essential for mammary gland function in both primary mammary epithelial cells and in HC11 cells, which are derived from the lactating mouse mammary gland (Inman et al., 2005; Inman & Shore, 2003). Inman & Shore found that Runx2 is not only expressed in HC11 cells but that it binds directly to the osteopontin (OPN) promoter (Inman & Shore, 2003). OPN is an extracellular matrix protein that acts to stimulate cell migration, invasion adhesion and protection against apoptosis and is a known target gene of Runx2 in osteoblasts (reviewed in (Shore, 2005)). OPN is also expressed in the mammary gland and is important for lactation. Transgenic mice that expressed OPN anti-sense RNA that are deficient in OPN are found to show a deficiency in lactation due to an absence of mammary alveolar structures and reduced synthesis of both  $\beta$ -catenin and whey acidic milk protein (WAP).

The binding interaction between Runx2 and the OPN promoter is required for activation of OPN in mammary epithelial cells (Inman & Shore, 2003). Furthermore it has been shown, through transient transfections, that dominant negative Runx proteins can inhibit the actions of both OPN and its promoter in mouse mammary epithelial cells (Inman & Shore, 2003). These findings were pivotal in this field because it was the first indication that Runx2 is able to regulate gene transcription in normal mammary cells where most of the previous data had indicated it role more inline with cancer due to

Runx2 transcripts being discovered in the MDA-MB-231 and MCF7 breast cancer cell lines (Selvamurugan & Partridge, 2000; Shore, 2005).

Our lab has recently confirmed that Runx2 is differentially expressed across development of the mouse mammary gland. Runx2 expression is relatively high in virgin glands and throughout early pregnancy but then levels are significantly reduced during late pregnancy and into early lactation before returning to virgin-like levels during involution of the gland (McDonald et al., 2014; Owens et al., 2014). Our lab went on to produce two different Runx2 knockout mouse models in order to examine the role of Runx2 throughout mammopoiesis for the first time in vivo. Two approaches were used, a whole body knockout combined with mammary transplantation and a mammary gland specific Runx2 knockout. The Runx2<sup>-/-</sup> transplantation model showed no difference in the ability of the gland to undergo ductal extension whilst the mammary-specific knockout displayed only transient delay of ductal morphogenesis during puberty or in early to mid pregnancy. This indicates that Runx2 may not be essential for development of the ductal epithelium. This study did not investigate the effects of Runx2 deletion during the early stages of puberty; therefore there is a need to determine if there is a role for Runx2 during ductal extension in order to fully comprehend the role of Runx2 in mammopoiesis. There was however a severe impairment of lobuloalveolar development noticed during late-mid pregnancy, which continued into early lactation in both knockout models (Owens et al., 2014). These alveoli had no discernable lumen but were found to be correctly polarized and capable of lactation. We then showed, through lineage analysis that a loss of Runx2 during mid to late pregnancy results in a shift in the balance of luminal progenitors to alveolar progenitors in the pregnant mammary glands of both mouse models. This increase of alveolar progenitors explains the impaired development in the lumens of Runx2 knockout mice and suggests Runx2 plays a role in mammary progenitor cell specification (Owens et al., 2014). Another study showed a similar inhibition of lobuloalveolar development in a Runx2 overexpressing transgenic mouse rather than a knockout model (McDonald et al., 2014). However, the transgenic mouse used in this study was reported to have supraphysiological overexpression of Runx2 (McDonald et al., 2014) complicating the interpretation of this data.

It is evident from the conflicting data that there is a need for further investigation into the role of Runx2 and the entire CBF complex in mammary gland development.

## Runx2 in breast cancer

Breast cancer has a good prognosis and survival rate in the localised phase of the disease but the survival rate drops dramatically if the cancer is able to metastasise.

There is certainly a dual purpose for many genes that are involved in both mammary gland development and breast cancer including RANK, RANKL, vitamin D, bone sialo protein and osteopontin (Martin & Gillespie, 2001) and current evidence has confirmed that Runx2 is not only essential for regulating gene transcription in the developing mammary gland, but it also a key regulator of breast cancer cell fate (Ferrari et al., 2013; Owens et al., 2014).

It is widely known that breast cancers will preferentially metastasise to bone (Juan Juan et al., 2005; Yoneda & Hiraga, 2005) but the mechanism behind this has remained a key question in breast cancer research. Many genes involved in mammary gland development are also involved in bone homeostasis, such as those listed below and it is believed that Runx2 could be the missing link that drives breast cancer to bone and allows the cancer cells to maintain this colonisation as it is known to regulate these "bone" genes that are also found in metastatic breast cancer (Martin & Gillespie, 2001) (Blyth et al., 2005; Shore, 2005).

It has been shown that, when compared to normal mammary epithelial cells, Runx2 is upregulated in several breast cancer cell lines (Lau et al., 2006). The involvement of Runx2 in breast cancer was further evidenced when Nagaraja *et al* identified, through a comparative screen, it as being on of the most regulated genes in invasive breast cancers versus non-invasive breast cancers (Nagaraja et al., 2006).

Several studies have used the highly invasive MDA-MB-231 cell lines to assess the function of Runx2 in terms of its ability to increase the invasiveness of human breast cancer cells (Ferrari et al., 2013; Owens et al., 2014; Pratap et al., 2011; Shore, 2005). More specifically, down regulating Runx2 in MDA-MB-231 cells leads to a reduction in the invasive capacity of the cells *in vitro*. Furthermore, when these cells are injected into mice, there is a reduction in subsequent osteolytic disease and tumour growth *in vivo* (Barnes, 2004; Javed, 2005; Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010; Pratap, 2009).

Converse studies have also shown that forcing Runx2 expression in the less aggressive breast cancer cell line, MCF7, leads to a distinct epithelial to mesenchymal transition (Chimge et al., 2011) and the cells also become more invasive (Pratap, 2006). Similarly, ectopic expression of Runx2 in the "normal" breast cell line, MCF10A

induces cancer-like phenotypes when grown in 3D (Pratap, 2009). Our lab has also shown that forced expression of Runx2 in MCF-10A cells leads to an upregulation of Cyclin D1 and N-Cadherin as well as a decrease in E-Cadherin, further evidencing that the cells undergo EMT when exposed to ectopic levels of Runx2 (Owens et al., 2014). We also went on to show that Runx2 over-expression in the normal mouse mammary epithelial HC11 cells lead to a perturbation in differentiation which resulted in a transition of these epithelial cells to a more "cancer-like" phenotype with increased E-Cadherin and phosphor-FAK levels and an increased ability to migrate compared to control cells (Owens et al., 2014).

Current evidence suggests that Runx2 is able to enhance the metastatic potential of breast cancer cells through the regulation of target genes that known key players in the metastatic cascade (Reviewed in (Pratap, 2006)). These target genes include vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) which requires Runx2 for activation and is essential for tumour vascularisation (Zelzer et al., 2001) and bone matrix protein such as bone sialo protein (BSP) and osteopontin (OPN) which are required for recruiting cancer cells to the bone and increasing resorptive activity respectively (Natasha et al., 2006) (Ohyama et al., 2004). As stated previously, Runx2 is known to regulate OPN in the developing mammary gland, through binding of the OPN receptor, (Inman & Shore, 2003) and also in cancers, including some melanomas and colorectal cancers (Riminucci et al., 2003; Wai et al., 2006). Barnes *et al* confirmed the role of Runx2 in metastatic cancer by showing that inhibition Runx2 expression in MDA-MB-231 cells leads to decreased expression in both OPN and BSP which suggests that Runx2 may be driving breast cancer cells to preferentially metastasise to bone by enhancing both bone targeting and adhesion genes (Barnes, 2004).

Runx2 also directly regulates genes that are associated with the ability of breast cancer cells to escape the primary tumour and colonise a secondary site, such as the matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), in particular MMP9 and MMP13 (Pratap et al., 2005) (Selvamurugan et al., 2004). Studies have shown that suppressing Runx2 in MDA-MB-231 cells causes a decrease in OPN, MMP9 and MMP13 expression which in turn leads to decreased invasive capability of the cells (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010; Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2011; Pratap et al., 2005).

Runx2 also has a known oncogenic role in the T-cell lineage and has been shown by our lab and others to be upregulated in human breast cancer cell lines, correlating with invasiveness so it is an enticing candidate for a potential prognostic marker in human breast cancer (McDonald et al., 2014). One study has attempted to examine the expression of Runx2 in human breast cancer TMAs but due to a limited sample number they were unable to draw concrete conclusions linking Runx2 expression to overall survival, tumour size or grade or lymph node status. This study does however show that Runx2 expression is associated with ER/PR/HER2 negative breast cancers and could possibly distinguish patient prognosis within this specific subtype (McDonald et al., 2014).

To date, all of the data describing the role of Runx2 in breast cancer has been collected using either cell lines or tissue sections. In order to further examine the role Runx2 plays in breast tumourigenesis, our lab generated the first in vivo model capable of discerning the function of this essential transcription factor. We crossed the Runx2<sup>-/-</sup> mouse on to the MMTV-PyMT luminal breast cancer mouse model and transplanted mammary epithelium from these mice into immunocompromised recipients. This was the first in vivo model to look into the role Runx2 plays in breast tumourigenesis and it showed that a lack of Runx2 in the mammary gland lead to an increase in both tumour latency and an increase in overall survival of the mice (Owens et al., 2014). We also report a down regulation of Cyclin D1 accompanied reduced Runx2 expression, indicating a reduction in the proliferative capacity of the Runx2<sup>-/-</sup> tumour cells. Unfortunately this model did not examine metastases due to the fact that the recipient mice are immunocompromised, and a functioning immune system is required for metastasis (Olkhanud et al., 2009). While a transplantation approach was required due to the embryonic lethality that occurs in Runx2 knockout mice, it is clear that there is a need for a model in which the metastatic potential of tumour cells can be observed in *vivo*. This is one of the issues that has been addressed in this thesis.

## Summary

It is clear that the Runx genes are extremely important in both the normal development and disease progression of several systems including haematopoiesis, neurogenesis, osteogenesis and now the mammary gland.

Runx2 has long been a prime suspect in breast cancer, particularly in regards to metastasis, and now recent studies have outlined a novel role for Runx2 in mammopoiesis as well. It is also understood that the Runx genes act as one part of the CBF complex, however there is no data describing the role its binding partner, CBF $\beta$ ,

may be playing in either mammary gland development or breast carcinogenesis. Given the critical role that Runx2 in these systems coupled with the limitations of working in a system where there is potential for redundancy and fetal lethal phenotypes, there is a clear need for further investigation and establishment of models that address these issues. The results of this thesis show that the investigation of the role of CBF $\beta$  is not only able to circumvent these issues but has also uncovered an exciting and novel role for this gene in mammary gland development and breast cancer.

## CBFβ

The role of the Runx genes as critical regulators of cell fate in both developmental processes and cancer is well established but they are not able to execute this role in isolation.

Whilst the Runx genes determine tissue specificity, CBF $\beta$  is the transcriptional coactivator that increases the stability and the DNA binding affinity of the complex by triggering structural changes (Ito, 2008; Tahirov et al., 2001; Zhang et al., 2003). Not only does the binding of CBF $\beta$  alter the confirmation of the complex to make to increase DNA binding affinity but studies also suggest that this structural shift may also provide protection to the Runx proteins from proteolytic degradation (Huang et al., 2001; Huang et al., 1999).

## $CBF\beta$ in development

The heterodimeric binding of Runx proteins and CBF $\beta$  is able to bind co-factors that able to either activate or repress transcription of key regulators of growth, survival and differentiation pathways (Tanaka et al., 1995). More specifically, CBF $\beta$  has found to be integral in the control of haematopoiesis and skeletal development through the regulation of stem cell proliferation and differentiation (Kurosaka et al., 2011).

It was originally thought that the function of CBF $\beta$  was purely to increase the DNA binding affinity of the Runx genes (Wang et al., 1996) but it has since been discovered that CBF $\beta$  collaborates with the Runx genes in order to successfully regulate transcription (Davis et al., 2010). It has now been shown that CBF $\beta$  null mice show the same embryonic lethality at day 11.5 as Runx1 null mice due severe haemorrhaging as a result of defective haematopoiesis in the fetal liver. Interestingly, over expression of

Runx genes in the CBF $\beta$  null mice leads to only a partial rescue of the phenotypes reported (Okuda et al., 1996; Wang et al., 1996). This indicates that there are functions of CBF $\beta$  and Runx2 that are independent of each other. Furthermore, CBF $\beta$  null mice present with a delayed bone formation phenotype, where the fontanelles and sutures of the skull remain open and the clavicles are hypoplastic. These phenotypes are similar to Runx2 null mice and have shown that it is possible to rescue the CBF $\beta$  null mice in a haematopoietic-specific context (Kundu et al., 2002; Yoshida, 2002). This data also indicates that CBF $\beta$  is able to enhance the transcriptional effectiveness of the Runx genes in order to control developmental processes (Davis et al., 2010). In the context of skeletal development it has been shown that CBF $\beta$  is necessary for the efficient DNA binding of Runx2 and therefore the subsequent Runx2-dependent transcriptional activation (Yoshida, 2002). A more recent study from the same lab has now shown that CBF $\beta$  is also able to stabilise all Runx proteins through induction of structural changes, which in turn leads to enhanced transcriptional activation of downstream target genes (Qin et al., 2014).

## $CBF\beta$ in the mammary gland

There is currently no data regarding the role of CBF $\beta$  in the developing mammary gland, or in the mammary gland at all. We do know however that it is a crucial transcription factor in development of other systems such as haematopoiesis and osteogenesis (Kundu et al., 2002; Yoshida, 2002) in conjunction with Runx proteins through the regulation of stem cell homeostasis (Okuda et al., 1996; Wang et al., 1996) (Kurosaka et al., 2011).

It has now been shown that Runx2 plays an integral role in the development of the mammary gland (Owens et al., 2014) and when this is coupled with the fact that CBF $\beta$  is critical for enhancing the DNA binding affinity and overall stabilisation of the Runx genes (Ito, 2008; Tahirov et al., 2001; Zhang et al., 2003), it is evident that CBF $\beta$  may also be playing a key role in mammopoiesis.

## $CBF\beta$ in cancer

It is well known that the CBF complex is capable of binding co-factors that able to either activate or repress transcription of key regulators of growth, survival and differentiation pathways (Tanaka et al., 1995) and many of these targets are now known to be compromised in cancer, including those which involved in reprogramming cell fate (Blyth et al., 2010).

The first cases of CBF perturbation were described in acute myeloid leukaemias (AML) where it was shown that both Runx1 and CBF $\beta$  are the targets of the most common chromosomal translocations found in AML (Look, 1997). CBF $\beta$  has also been found to form fusion proteins through inversion events in mye-lomonocytic (M4Eo) leukaemias, for example CBF $\beta$ -MYH11, which affects the binding of the CBF complex in a dominant negative fashion (Adya et al., 1998; Lutterbach et al., 1999). There is further evidence of the oncogenic properties of CBF $\beta$  as it has also been implemented in both human B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia and also granulocytic sarcoma where expression is upregulated along with Runx1 (Mallo et al., 2007; Niini et al., 2000).

Whilst CBF $\beta$  is primarily known for its role in leukaemias, there has been a growing interest in its involvement in solid tumours, a role that is yet to be fully elucidated (Davis et al., 2010). Recent publications have provided evidence that CBF $\beta$  may play a role in prostate and ovarian cancers (Davis et al., 2010), may be involved in breast cancer invasion *in vitro* (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2011) and is found to be down regulated in gastric cancer along side Runx1 and Runx3 (Sakakura et al., 2005).

#### $CBF\beta$ in breast cancer

As previously mentioned, many genes that are involved in developmental systems are often perturbed in disease progression. This thesis essentially aims to examine this concept in regards to the mammary gland and breast cancer. Evidence has been provided by several studies and has indicated a potential role of Runx2 in both mammopoiesis and breast carcinogenesis.

With the exception of a single *in vitro* study focusing on a single breast cancer cell line, there has been no data suggesting a role for CBF $\beta$ , the non-DNA binding partner of Runx2 in breast cancer. During the course of this thesis, three separate whole

genome/exon sequencing studies sought to identify genes that are significantly mutated in human breast cancers. These studies examined 77, 103 and 510 human breast tumours and identified 18, 6 and 23 significantly mutated genes respectively (Banerji et al., 2012; CGAN, 2012; Ellis et al., 2012). From three independent studies, only five genes were found to be commonly mutated, GATA3, PIK3CA, MAP2KI, TP53 and CBF $\beta$ . The first four genes in this list have known key players with well-documented roles in breast cancer, CBF $\beta$  on the other hand is the outlier of the group as it has no previous ties to breast cancer (Banerji et al., 2012; CGAN, 2012; Ellis et al., 2012). Even more remarkably, CBF $\beta$  was found to be mutated in approximately 5% of all luminal tumours, making it one of the most frequently mutated genes in human breast cancer (CGAN, 2012).

The outcome of this study highlights that whilst we have identified many of the regulatory factors that are crucial for the development of breast cancer, there are clearly still essential elements that are yet to be examined. The fact that CBF $\beta$  is involved in regulation of cell fate processes in both development and cancer makes it a tantalising new key player in breast carcinogenesis. The aim of this thesis is to investigate this potential novel role for CBF $\beta$ .

A previously stated, there has been almost a complete lack of published data linking CBF $\beta$  to breast cancer other than the whole genome/exon sequencing results. As part of their research into the role of Runx2 in breast cancer metastasis, Mendoza-Villanueva *et al* found that CBF $\beta$  was expressed in the aggressive MDA-MB-231 cell line (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010), which is consistent with previous data showing higher levels of CBF $\beta$  mRNA in cancer cell lines compared to normal breast cells (Lau et al., 2006). CBF $\beta$  expression was also found in cell lines for osteosarcoma (UMR-106), HeLa cells and also MCF7 cells, which shows CBF $\beta$  is present in both metastatic and non-metastatic cancer cell lines. Interestingly, when the nuclear fraction of the cell lysate was examined, it was found that CBF $\beta$  was present in both the MDA-MB-231s and the UMR-106 cells but not in the Runx2 negative HeLa and MCF7 cells (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010).

Mendoza-Villanueva *et al* examines the potential involvement of both CBF $\beta$  and Runx2 for the invasive potential of MDA-MB-231 cells by using siRNA and shRNA against both genes. The results showed that deletion of either gene led to a decrease in the invasive potential of the breast cancer cell (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010). Mendoza and colleagues then investigated the effects of CBF $\beta$  knockdown on a subset of Runx2 target genes that are involved in cell invasion, it was observed that CBF $\beta$  expression was required for expression of some but not all of these targets. The downstream targets that were tested were the matrix metalloproteases MMP9 and MMP13, osteopontin (OPN), Galectin-3 and osteocalcin (OC) and it was found that a down regulation of CBF $\beta$  led to a decrease in the expression of all these genes except for Galectin-3. This indicates that the functions of Runx2 and CBF $\beta$  are not mutually exclusive and together with the sequencing data, highlight a potentially novel and exciting role of CBF $\beta$  in breast cancer (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010; Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2011). Furthermore, chromatin precipitation (ChIP) was performed to see if the DNA binding interactions of CBF $\beta$  is recruited to both of the promoters but is not essential for Galectin-3 activation (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010).

A reduced level of CBF $\beta$  in MDA-MB-231 cells leads to a reduction in not only genes required for invasion but the invasive capacity of the cells as well. This invasive defect and also the expression levels of both MMP13 and OPN can be rescued by the restoration of CBF $\beta$  expression, which proves that CBF $\beta$  is a positive regulator of metastasis in breast cancer cells (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010).

An additional study from this group used a microarray to identify the genes which were common as well as differentially regulated between MDA-MB-231 cells with either Runx2 or CBF $\beta$  knocked down using siRNA. The results showed that out of 38,500 genes in the array they identifies 357 and 340 genes in the Runx2 and CBF $\beta$  respectively that were differentially expressed between MDA-MB-231 transfected with Runx2 or CBF $\beta$  siRNA and those transfected with non-specific siRNA (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2011). They found that there was no significant change in Runx2 expression in the CBF $\beta$  knockdown cells or in Runx2 expression in CBF $\beta$  knockdown cells, indicating that the changes in the 161 genes that were common to both sets were not due to downstream changes in just one of these transcription factors. Further analysis found that Runx2/CBF $\beta$  regulate some of the genes that play a role in mediating the activation of osteoclasts and the inhibition of osteoblasts, namely IL-11, CSF-2 and SOST (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2011).

This work has helped to provide some insight into the potential links between breast cancer and bone metastasis. However, this data has been accumulated using *in vitro* techniques and focuses on one breast cancer cell line. It is essential to see how CBF $\beta$  mediates metastatic phenotypes in, not only additional cell lines, but also in an *in vivo* context.

## Summary

Transcription factors, regulatory genes and hormones act to influence cell fate and are essential for mammary gland development. It is pertinent to fully elucidate the mechanism of cell fate regulation in the mammary gland to be able to understand the implication of their dysregulation in breast cancer.

The role of the CBF complex in its entirety is undoubtedly crucial for development of numerous systems, including neurogenesis, haematopoiesis and osteogenesis. All members of this complex have been shown to influence cell fate decisions and hence dysregulation or aberrant expression of either CBF $\beta$  or the Runx genes has severe implications in terms of disease, including several cancers. Recent studies have now identified CBF $\beta$  as one of the most frequently mutated genes in human breast tumours which fits with other published data stating that the functions of the Runx proteins and CBF $\beta$  in breast cancer are not always mutually exclusive. With this in mind, we can start to explore the role of CBF $\beta$  as a novel regulator of cell fate in the in the developing mammary gland and examine the implication of this role in the context of breast carcinogenesis.

#### Aims of this Thesis

The overall aim of this project is to examine a potential role for CBF $\beta$  as a regulator of mammary cell fate specification and determine if it plays a role in the regulation of normal mammary gland development and can influence breast carcinogenesis and metastasis.

The mammary gland is a dynamic organ that undergoes dramatic cyclical changes under the influence of female hormones and given the complexity of this system it is clear that there may be more transcription factors involved then is currently known. Runx2, one of the binding partners of CBF $\beta$ , has recently has been implicated in the mammopoiesis and given that we know CBF $\beta$  is integral to the functions of all Runx proteins, this thesis aims to provide insight into the role CBF $\beta$  itself may have in mammary gland development. Chapter 3 therefore specifically examines the effects of CBF $\beta$  deletion during mammopoiesis through the use of two independent inducible and conditional mouse models as well as through analysis of protein and mRNA levels through the developmental time course of the gland.

Furthermore, we aim to elucidate the role CBF $\beta$  is playing in human breast cancer. Breast cancer is a heterogeneous disease with good prognosis in the primary phase of the disease but a high morbidity and mortality rate in the metastatic phase, due in the most part to the preference of breast cancer cells to colonise the bone. This is a mechanism that still evades us but it is thought that Runx2 plays a role due to its involvement in both osteogenesis and now mammopoiesis. Although closely linked, it has already been suggested that the functions of Runx2 and CBF $\beta$  may not be mutually exclusive so there is potential for a novel role CFB $\beta$  in its own right. Recent sequencing studies have now identified CBF $\beta$ , for the first time, as one of the most frequently and significantly mutated genes in human breast tumours. Chapter 4 therefore aims to examine the expression patterns of CBF $\beta$  in human breast cancer cell lines then determine how the augmentation of CBF $\beta$  expression affects the growth and phenotype of these cells. In addition, we aim to provide insight into the potential mechanism behind CBF $\beta$  regulation of breast cancer through microarray analysis of breast cancer cells with altered levels of CBF $\beta$  expression.

As mentioned previously, it is the metastatic phase of breast cancer that has poor prognosis and survival rates and unfortunately, this is the area of research that poses the most questions. Chapter 5 is therefore dedicated to studying the outcomes of deleting CBF $\beta$  in an *in vivo* model of breast carcinogenesis and metastasis. We will investigate if deletion of CFB $\beta$  affects tumour latency, overall survival of the animals and also on the incidence and severity of metastasis.

Overall, it is evident from the literature that there is definite potential for CBF $\beta$  to be deemed an important player and key regulator in both the developing mammary gland and also in breast carcinogenesis and it is the definitive aim of this thesis to reveal this novel function of CBF $\beta$ .

## 2. Materials and Methods

#### In Vivo Techniques

## Mice

The development of CBF $\beta$  floxed mice (Naoe et al., 2007), CreERT2 transgenic mice (Ruzankina et al., 2007), BLG-Cre transgenic mice (Selbert et al 1998), Polyoma Middle T (PyMT) transgenic mice (Lin et al., 2003) and Rag1<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Mombaerts et al., 1992) have been previously described. FVBN mice were used for time mating experiments and were purchased from the Animal Research Centre (ARC) Perth, Australia. Rag1<sup>-/-</sup> mice of the C57BL/6J strain were purchased from ARC, Perth, Australia. The CBF $\beta$  floxed, CreERT2 and BLG-Cre mice used in these studies were of the mixed background 129/C57. The PyMT mice in these studies were of the FVBN background. Mice were housed in the Bosch Rodent Facility at the University of Sydney in accordance with ethics approvals K00/6-11/3/5545. All animals were housed with food and water *ad libitum* at 22°C and 80% relative humidity with a 12-hour day/night cycle.

## Time mating

Time mating is a technique used to assess changes in the mouse mammary gland across all stages of development. Breeding pairs were set up and then mammary glands were harvested at representative time points from virgin development, pregnancy, lactation and involution. The stage of the estrous cycle was determined through staining of a vaginal smear using the Shandon Kwik Diff<sup>TM</sup> Stain (Thermo Scientific, Australia). Early stages of pregnancy were confirmed after post-mortem examination of the uterus. For the purpose of this thesis, the 4<sup>th</sup> mammary glands were harvested from mice at the following developmental stages: virgin (estrous); 4 days post coitus (d.p.c); 7 d.p.c; 12 d.p.c; 18 d.p.c; the 2<sup>nd</sup> day of lactation; and the 5<sup>th</sup> day of involution. Both of the inguinal 4th mammary glands were harvested, one was used for protein and RNA analysis and the second was used for whole mount analysis.

#### Mammary epithelium transplants

Mammary epithelium transplants were performed as previously described (De Ome, 1959). Succinctly, the procedure involved excising a 1mm<sup>3</sup> (approximately) piece of mammary gland epithelium from between the nipple and lymph node of the 4<sup>th</sup> mammary gland from 12-week-old donors. The 3<sup>rd</sup> mammary gland was also taken from the donor and stained with carmine to be used as a histological reference. The donor mammary gland tissue was transplanted into the 4<sup>th</sup> mammary fat pad of 3-week-old Rag1<sup>-/-</sup> animal once it was cleared of all endogenous epithelium. The epithelium was cleared from the recipient fat pad by cauterisation of the lymph node, nipple and the bridge between the 4<sup>th</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> mammary gland. This section of the mammary gland is then removed which left the remaining fat pad that the ductal tree had yet to penetrate. The transplanted epithelium forms a new association with the host stroma as it grows out in to the recipient fat pad. Transplanted gland were examined by whole mount analysis which confirmed the formation of a new functional mammary gland that had be derived from the transplanted epithelium and not the endogenous gland. Ductal structures arising from endogenous epithelium originate from the side of the gland whilst ductal outgrowth from transplanted epithelium originates from the centre (Lewis et al., 1999).

## Tamoxifen injections to activate Cre expression

In order to drive Cre expression and activate deletion of CBF $\beta$  in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ creERT2 line, the mice were injected with a Tamoxifen solution. The Tamoxifen powder (Sigma) was added to corn oil (Sigma) and incubated in the dark for three hours at 37°C until dissolved and filter sterilised to make a 20mg/mL stock solution. Mice were administered with a 50µL intra-peritoneal injection of 1mg of Tamoxifen over three consecutive days.

## Tumour measurement and harvesting

In the PyMT tumourigenesis study, mice were examined three times a week for tumour development, weight and overall health. Once mammary tumours were palpable, digital calipers were used measure the minor and major axis of each mammary tumour to determine the volume, which has been found to have a good correlation to the weight of the tumour in grams (Attia & Weiss, 1966). Mice were euthanised when the tumour burden reached the ethical endpoint, which was when the combined tumour burden reached 10% of the animal's weight. After the mice were euthanised, tumours and organs were collected for histological analysis and the remaining mammary glands were collected for whole mount analysis.

## Organ and tumour harvesting

In the PyMT tumourigenesis study, mice were examined post-mortem for signs of metastasis and any organs found to be affected were surgically removed and placed in 10% neutral buffered formalin (NBF) for 4 hours before being transferred to 70% ethanol and then processed for histological analysis.

## **In Vitro Techniques**

#### Cell culture

All cell lines were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (Rockville, MD) through the Garvan Institute of Medical Research (Sydney, Australia). All cell lines were cultured in a humidified incubator at 37°C with 5% carbon dioxide. MDA-MB-231 and Hs578T cells were cultured in Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640 medium (RPMI-1640, Gibco) with 10% fetal bovine serum (Bovogen) and PlatE cells were culture in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, Gibco) with 10% fetal bovine serum.

## siRNA transfection

Two different and specific human CBF $\beta$  siRNAs (On-TARGETplus CBF $\beta$  siRNAs) and a negative control (On-TARGETplus RISC-free siRNA) were purchased from Dharmacon (USA). MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded at 1x10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL in 6-well plates to ensure they were 30-40% confluent 24 hours later. The cells were transfected with a final concentration of 5nM CBF $\beta$  or RISC-free siRNA diluted in Opti-MEM (Gibco). The transfection reagent, Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) was added to the diluted siRNA and incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature before being added to the cells. Each transfection was conducted in triplicate and cells were incubated for 48 hours before the cells were harvested.

## Retroviral synthesis

Retroviral constructs to knockdown and overexpress CBF $\beta$  were generated as part of this thesis. In order to synthesise retrovirus, PlatE cells were seeded at 8x10<sup>6</sup> cells/15cm dish and left to grow for 24 hours at 37°C. The following day, 180µL of Fugene6 (Promega) to 5mL of serum-free media and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes before the addition of 60µg of vector DNA and a further 20 minutes of incubation. The majority of growth media was removed from the cells and replaced with the 5mL Fugene/media/DNA solution and incubated overnight at 37°C. The media was changed the next day and then cells left to incubate overnight before the viral supernatant harvested and filter sterilised (0.45µm) the following day. The filtered virus was then aliquoted, frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until use.

## Retroviral infection of human breast cancer cells

Human breast cancer cells were plated at  $2x10^5$  cells/10cm dish and left to incubate overnight at 37°C before the majority of media was removed and they were infected with a mixture of 1mL retrovirus, 3mL growth media and 4µL polybrene (8mg/mL stock) and incubated at 37°C. After 6 hours incubation, a further 6mL of growth media was added and the cells left to incubate overnight at 37°C. The process for infection was repeated for a second time before the cells populations were sorted by FACS sorting.

## Proliferation assays

In order to assess the rate of proliferation, cells were seeded at a low density in 6well plates. Cells were counted over a 96 hour period at 3-8 time points a day as the cells moved through the exponential growth phase. MDA-MB-231 cells expressing CBF $\beta$  or non-specific shRNA were initially seeded at 2x10<sup>4</sup> cells/mL and Hs78T cells containing the CBF $\beta$  overexpression construct or empty vector were seeded at 5x10<sup>3</sup> cells/mL.

#### Migration assays

Migration assays were performed using the xCelligence DP system (Roche) by measuring increasing electrical impedance as cells migrated across electrodes towards a chemoattractant, in this case fetal bovine serum. MDA-MB-231 cells expressing CBFβ

or non-specific shRNA were initially seeded at  $4x10^4$  cells/well and Hs78T cells containing the CBF $\beta$  overexpression construct or empty vector were seeded at  $1x10^4$  cells/well.

#### Cloning of CBF<sub>β</sub> shRNA retroviral constructs

#### Primer design

Sense and anti-sense shRNA primers were designed based on the siRNA sequences and were made to include both the hairpin an additional MLU1 restriction enzyme that was used to confirm the identity of the insert. The sense primers used can be found in the table below:

hCBFβ5shRNA	GATCCGCCGAGAGTATGTCGACTTATTCAAGAGATAAGTCGACATACTCTCGGTTTTTTACGCGTG
hCBFβ6shRNA	GATCCGCAATTAGGTGGTGGTGGTGATTTCAAGAGAATCACCACCACCTAAATTGTTTTTACGCGTG

## Annealing and ligation

The CBF $\beta$  shRNA sense and anti-sense primers were annealed in a 1:1 ratio in the following reaction: 30 seconds at 95°C, 2 minutes at 72°C, 2 minutes at 37°C and then 2 minutes at 25°C before storage at -20°C.The annealed oligos were then ligated into the linearised pSiren-retroQ-ZsGreen vetor. The amount of vector and insert DNA was calculated using the following formula:

((ng vector x insert size)/vector size) x molar ratio of insert to vector

Ligation reactions were performed using 1:1 and 1:3 vector:insert ratios containing: 50ng of vector, the appropriate amount of insert, 1 unit of T4 DNA ligase (Promega), 2x DNA ligase buffer in a  $10\mu$ L reaction. Ligation reactions were incubated at room temperature for three hours.

## **Transformation**

The plasmid DNA was transformed into the competent DH5 $\alpha$  *E. coli* strain, which were thawed on ice. Approximately 15ng of the ligated DNA was mixed gently with 100 $\mu$ L of bacteria then incubated on ice for 30 minutes. The mixture was then heated to

42°C for 1 minute to heat shock the cells, before being place immediately on ice for a further 2 minutes. 500µL of Luria Bertani (LB) medium was added and incubated on an orbital shaker for 1 hour at 37°C and 220 rpm. The entire mixture was then plated onto selective LB plates containing 50µg/mL of ampicillin and incubated overnight at 37°C.

#### DNA isolation and sequencing

Several colonies were picked from the selective LB plates and the plasmid DNA was then purified using the Wizard Plus SV Miniprep DNA Purification System (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The purified DNA was sent for sequencing at the ACRF facility at the Garvan Institute according to their recommendations and requirements. Once sequences were confirmed, Endo-free Maxipreps (Qiagen) were performed and plasmids were eventually used to generate MDA-MB-231 cells that stably expressed CBFβ shRNA.

## Cloning of CBF<sub>β</sub> overexpression retroviral vector

A CBFβ human cDNA ORF clone was ordered from Origen (NM\_022845) and the insert was excised form the pCMV6-Entry vector is arrived in through restriction enzyme digests using AsiS1 and Fse1. The CBFβ insert was then ligated (as per previous description) into the linearised pRetroX-IRES-DsRedExpress retroviral vector. A diagnostic digest was performed using the restriction enzyme PshA1 before the construct was sent for sequencing. Once the sequence was confirmed, this retroviral vector was used to generate Hs578T cells that stably overexpressed CBFβ.

#### **Histological Analysis**

#### Mammary gland whole mounts

Mammary gland whole mounts were generated by spreading the gland over a charged glass slide and were fixed immediately in 10% NBF solution (Sigma) for a minimum of 4 hours or overnight. The glands were then defatted through three changes of acetone before carmine alum staining overnight (0.2% carmine, 0.5% aluminum sulfate). The whole mount was then dehydrated using a graded ethanol series and then treated with Histolene (Thermofisher) for 60 minutes and then stored in methyl

salicylate. Metamorph software was used to determine the extent of ductal elongation in whole mounted mammary glands.

## Haemotoxylin and eosin staining

Five micron sections of mammary glands and lungs were incubated for 5 minutes in two changes of Histolene (Thermofisher). Sections were then rehydrated before a 2 minute incubation in Harris Haemotoxylin (Thermofisher), washed with water, dehydrated and stained for 30 seconds in Eosin (Thermofisher). Sections were then incubated in 95% ethanol and two changes of 100% ethanol before two final changes of Histolene before coverslips were mounted.

## Immunohistochemistry

IHC for CBF $\beta$  and Ki-67 was performed on 5µm sections of mammary gland that were de-waxed as per standard protocol before antigen retrieval using S1699 buffer (DAKO) in a 95°C water bath for 20 minutes. A 5% hydrogen peroxide (DAKO) in methanol solution was used as an enzyme block for both Ki-67 and CBF $\beta$  and an additional protein block (DAKO) was used in the CBF $\beta$  IHC only. Sections were incubated in primary antibodies (anti-Ki-67 (Rb) from Thermofisher (LBVRM-9106-S) and anti-CBF $\beta$  (Rb) from Abcam (ab133600)) at room temperature for 60 minutes and the Envision rabbit/mouse secondary (DAKO) for 30 minutes. Counterstaining and was performed according to standard protocol before coverslips were mounted.

## **RNA Analysis**

#### RNA extraction

TriZol reagent (Life Techonologies) was used, according to the manufacturer's instructions, to extract RNA from the 4<sup>th</sup> mouse mammary glands that were frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C prior to use.

## cDNA synthesis

RNA samples were DNase treated using the RQ1 DNase kit (Promega) before cDNA synthesis was performed using Multiscribe reverse transcriptase (Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

#### Quantitative RT-PCR

RT-qPCR was performed on the Rotogene 3000 (Roche) using TaqMan® probes (Applied Biosciences) and the TaqMan® Universal Master Mix (Life Technologies). Thermal cycling conditions include an initial UNG activation step for 2 minutes at 50°C, followed by 10 minutes at 95°C, then 40 cycles at 95°C for 15 seconds with an annealing temperature of 60°C. The following probes were used: CBFβ (Hs00903431\_g1), Runx2 (Hs00231692\_m1), SatB1 (Hs00161515\_m1), MMP9 (Hs00957562\_m1), MMP13 (Hs00233992\_m1), BgLap1 (Hs01587814\_g1), Pthlp (Hs00174969\_m1), Rankl (Hs00243522\_m1) and β-actin (Hs99999903\_m1).

#### Microarray Analysis

RNA extraction for microarray analysis was performed using the RNeasy Mini Kit from Qiagen according to the manufacturer's instructions. For each sample, 1  $\mu$ g of RNA at a concentration of 50ng/ $\mu$ l was submitted for microarray analysis. The quality of the RNA was assessed on the Nanodrop and Aglient Bioanalyzer 2100. Probe labeling and hybridisation on to the Affymetrix GeneChip PrimeView Human Gene Expression Array was performed at the Ramaciotti Centre for Gene Function Analysis (UNSW, Australia). Microarrays were normalised using the RMA method of normalisation through the use of Garvan GenePattern NormalizeAffymetrix3prime (version 2.1). Hierarchical clustering was performed to validate the results using GENE-E software (version 3.0.230, Broad Institute, Inc). Differentially expressed genes were detected using Garvan GenePattern *LimmaGP* (v20.0) using the positive false discovery rate (FDR) multiple hypothesis test correction. Gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) was run in pre-ranked mode using Garvan GenePattern GSEApreranked module (version 3.2) and GSEA (version 2.0.13). The GSEA data was visualised using Cytoscape software (version 3.2.0).

#### **Protein Analysis**

Protein extraction

Protein was extracted from mouse mammary tissue using the TriZol reagent according to the manufacturer's instructions, with the exception that the protein pellet was dissolved in 4M urea and 1% SDS. Protein was extraction from cell lines using NET lysis buffer supplemented with protease inhibitor (Roche), 1mM sodium orthovanadate and 10mM sodium fluoride. The cell lysate was incubated at 4°C for 30 minutes, centrifuged and then the supernatant was used for protein analysis. Quantification of protein was performed using the Bradford reagent (Bio-Rad) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

## Western blotting

Protein samples were denatured in laemmli sample buffer (Bio-Rad) supplemented with  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol by heating to 95°C and then separated on 12% SDS-PAGE gels depending on the molecular weight of the protein being examined. Proteins were transferred on to PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad) and blocked for 2-3 hours at room temperature or overnight at 4°C in a solution containing 5% skim milk, 10mM Tris pH 7.6, 150mM NaCl and 0.2% v/v Tween-20. Membranes were incubated in one of the following primary antibodies for 1-2 hours at room temperature or 4°C overnight:  $\alpha$ -CBF $\beta$  (Abcam),  $\alpha$ -CBF $\beta$  (kindly provided by Ichiro Taniuchi, RIKEN, Japan),  $\alpha$ -Runx2 (Cell Signaling Technology),  $\alpha$ -cytokeratin 18 (Sapphire Biosciences),  $\alpha$ -Cre (Covance) or  $\alpha$ - $\beta$ -actin (Sigma). Membranes were washed a minimum of three times for 10-15 minutes between antibody incubations in TBS/Tween (10mM Tris pH 7.6, 150mM NaCl, 0.2% v/v Tween-20). Specific binding was detected using Horseradish Peroxidase conjugated secondary antibodies (VWR) and Western Clarity chemiluminescence reagent (Bio-Rad) using the Bio-Rad ChemiDoc instrument.

## **Statistical Analysis**

All statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 5 software.

## **3.** A novel role for CBFβ in mammary gland development

## Introduction

Regulatory genes and hormones such as estrogen, progesterone, ERBB2, WNT and Notch have been implicated in the developmental processes of the mammary gland. It is these key players that then act on a smaller sub-set of transcription factors, which in turn regulate cell fate decisions such as whether or not a cell undergoes proliferation, differentiation or apoptosis (Hennighausen & Robinson, 2005). Investigation into the role of these factors that regulate mammary gland cell fate has been fundamental in increasing our current understanding of the processes that control the development of this complex organ and by extension, the implications of their dysregulation in regards to breast cancer.

The mammary gland is an incredibly dynamic organ that undergoes dramatic cyclical changes under the influence of female hormones (Hennighausen & Robinson, 2005). Several transcription factors, including Gata3, Elf5, Stat5A, ER and PR have been identified as essential regulators of mammary gland development and their roles have been studied in detail (Kouros-Mehr et al., 2006; Kouros - Mehr & Werb, 2006; Naylor & Ormandy, 2007; Oakes, 2008b; Siegel & Muller, 2010). Given the complexity of this developmental system, much of which is yet to be fully understood, it is clear that there may be more transcription factors involved.

The Runx family of transcription factors have become an increasingly intriguing point of interest due to their critical involvement in both developmental processes and disease progression. The Runx genes are well known as essential regulators of cell fate, with lineage and stage specific roles. The importance of Runx2 in the regulation of cell-fate and lineage-maintenance of non-osseous tissue has been highlighted by recent studies, particularly its potential role in mammary gland development (Blyth et al., 2005; Ferrari et al., 2013; McDonald et al., 2014; Owens et al., 2014; Shore, 2005).

Our lab recently demonstrated that Runx2 is expressed in the mammary ductal epithelium and that expression is differentially regulated throughout mammopoiesis (Owens et al., 2014). Furthermore, we have shown that Runx2 controls lobuloalveolar development *in vivo* through regulation of luminal progenitors during alveolar development (Owens et al., 2014). Another recent study reports that overexpression of Runx2 also results in perturbed lobuloalveolar development (McDonald et al., 2014).

This is an intriguing conundrum and indicates that further work is required to determine the mechanism of Runx2 function in the mammary gland.

Whilst the Runx genes are critical for the regulation of cell fate and essential for normal development, they require a binding partner in order to carry out transcriptional regulation. All members of the Runx family form heterodimeric complexes with the same non-DNA binding transcriptional co-activator, core-binding factor  $\beta$  (CBF $\beta$ ) (Ito, 2008). The binding of CBF $\beta$  to the Runx genes causes a structural change that increases the DNA-binding affinity of the entire complex (Tahirov et al., 2001; Zhang et al., 2003). It is this combined CBF complex that can bind co-factors capable of both activating and repressing transcription of key regulators of growth, survival and differentiation pathways (Tanaka et al., 1995).

It has been shown in other developmental systems such as osteogenesis and haematopoiesis that CBF $\beta$  is essential for the regulation of stem cell differentiation and proliferation (Kurosaka et al., 2011). Furthermore, there is now evidence that CBF $\beta$  is able to boost the transcriptional effectiveness of the Runx genes and their downstream targets by both enhancing their DNA-binding efficiency and structural stability, allowing for successful regulation of cell fate in multiple systems (Davis et al., 2010; Qin et al., 2014; Yoshida, 2002).

Given the novel role recently discovered for Runx2 in the mammary gland and the knowledge that CBF $\beta$  is able to enhance Runx2 function and DNA-binding affinity, possibly through stem cell control, there is a strong indication that CBF $\beta$  may be essential to the developing mammary gland and potentially in its own right.

The aim of this chapter was to examine, for the first time, the potential role of  $CBF\beta$  in mammary gland development.

## Results

## $CBF\beta$ is developmentally regulated in the mammary gland

Several studies have demonstrated that whilst there is a close relationship between the Runx genes and CBF $\beta$ , their functions are not always mutually exclusive, (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2011; Okuda et al., 1996; Wang et al., 1996). We have previously shown that Runx2 is differentially regulated throughout mammary gland development at both the protein and mRNA levels, and plays an essential role in the regulation of mammopoiesis (Owens et al., 2014). This study aimed to explore whether CBF $\beta$  expression was also differentially regulated throughout mammary gland development and whether CBF $\beta$  was required for normal mammary gland development and epithelial cell function.

To investigate the potential role of CBF $\beta$  during mammopoiesis, expression levels of CBF $\beta$  were measured throughout all stages of development. Analysis of mRNA from the mouse mammary gland showed that CBF $\beta$  expression levels decreased in late pregnancy through to early lactation, before increasing again during involution as the glands returns to a virgin-like state (Fig.3.1.A). This expression pattern mirrors that of Runx2 and is a strong indication that CBF $\beta$  is involved in mammary gland development.

## $CBF\beta$ expression is restricted to the mammary epithelial cells

It has been shown that Runx2 is expressed in the basal or myoepithelial cell subpopulations in the mammary gland where the mammary stem cells are thought to reside (Kendrick et al., 2008). This is a further indication that Runx2 plays a critical role in the mammary gland, perhaps at the stem cell level. Since we have now shown that CBF $\beta$  is also developmentally regulated in the mammary gland in conjunction with Runx2, we performed IHC for CBF $\beta$  and have shown that CBF $\beta$  expression in the mammary gland is also restricted to the luminal and myoepithelial cells of the mammary epithelium (Fig. 3.1.B).

This data therefore provides further evidence that CBF $\beta$  is involved in mammary gland development and that it may potentially be involved in regulation of stem cell populations, similar to its function in haematopoiesis and skeletal development (Kurosaka et al., 2011).



B)



## Fig. 3.1. CBFβ is expressed in mammary epithelial cells and is developmentally regulated during mammopoiesis.

CBF $\beta$  expression in the mammary gland is exclusively found in the luminal and myoepithelial cells layers of the epithelial ductal network. Furthermore CBF $\beta$  is developmentally regulated throughout mammary gland development, whereby expression levels are decreased in late pregnancy through to early lactation. A) mRNA expression of CBF $\beta$  across a mammary gland development series relative to the virgin gland and normalised to  $\beta$ -actin as shown by RT-qPCR (P = pregnancy, L = lactation, I = involution). Error bars represent SEM (N=3). B) Immunohistochemistry staining showing exclusive localisation of CBF $\beta$  to the epithelium of the virgin mammary gland.

# $CBF\beta$ expression is required in the early stages of mammary gland development for successful outgrowth of the ductal epithelium

Given that CBF $\beta$  is differentially regulated throughout mammopoiesis and expression is confined to the mammary epithelium, we next sought to investigate the potential role of CBF $\beta$  in mammary gland development. In order to achieve this, we generated a CBF $\beta$  knockout mouse by crossing CBF $\beta$  floxed (CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ ) mice (Naoe et al., 2007) with CreERT2<sup>tg/+</sup> mice (Ruzankina et al., 2007) resulting in CBF $\beta^{f/t}$ ;CreERT2<sup>tg/+</sup>. These mice were then backcrossed to CBF $\beta^{f/f}$  mice to produce either CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>+/+</sup> or CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> mice. Crossing the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$  mice with the CreERT2<sup>tg/+</sup> mice resulted in an inducible model where Cre expression is activated in the presence of Tamoxifen, resulting in the subsequent deletion of CBF $\beta$  ubiquitously throughout the mouse.

In order to investigate the temporal and spatial effects of CBF<sup>β</sup> in the developing mammary gland, mammary epithelium from CBF6<sup>f/f</sup>CreER<sup>+/+</sup> and CBF6<sup>f/f</sup>CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> mice was transplanted into the opposite inguinal fat-pads, cleared of endogenous Rag1<sup>-/-</sup> 3-week-old immunocompromised mice. Mammary epithelium, of transplantation enables reconstitution of a mammary gland with epithelium derived from the donor gland which interacts with the host stroma as the ductal network extends throughout the recipient fat pad (De Ome, 1959). These mice were subsequently injected with Tamoxifen four days post transplant for three consecutive days to activate Cre-mediated deletion of CBF $\beta$  from the epithelium of the transplanted mammary glands.

Mice were sacrificed six weeks post transplantation surgery and the transplanted glands were harvested and whole mounted for carmine staining and histological analysis. In order to confirm that mammopoiesis progressed normally in the Rag1<sup>-/-</sup> recipient mice, an endogenous 3<sup>rd</sup> mammary was also collected as a control.

At six weeks post transplant,  $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{tg/+}$  glands showed a significant reduction in the development of the ductal tree when compared to the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{+/+}$  gland from the same mouse (Fig. 3.2. A). The majority of  $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{tg/+}$  glands showed a 50% reduction in epithelial ductal outgrowth compared to the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{+/+}$  glands, as shown by image analysis using Metamorph software (Fig. 3.2. B). This result clearly demonstrates that deletion of CBF $\beta$  at the onset of post-natal mammary gland development leads to a marked reduction in the successful outgrowth of the ductal network. This *in vivo* data has demonstrated for the time that CBF $\beta$  plays a critical role in mammary gland development.
### $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{tg/+}\ virgin\ glands$

### $CBF\beta^{f\!/\!f}\!CreER^{+\!/\!+}\ virgin\ glands$



B)









## Fig. 3.2. Spatial and temporal deletion of CBFβ in the mammary gland leads to reduced ductal elongation in virgin mice.

Deletion of CBF $\beta$  expression in the mammary gland leads to a reduction in outgrowth of the ductal tree through the fat pad. A) Representative whole mount images of virgin mammary glands 6 weeks post transplant showing delayed ductal elongation in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> glands when compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>+/+</sup> glands (N=6). These mice were injected with Tamoxifen 4 days post transplant in order to activate Cre-induced deletion of CBF $\beta$  in the mammary gland. B) Representative images of the binary mask generated in order to analysis ductal extension in CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> and CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>+/+</sup> glands. C) Histograms quantifying the percentage of the fat pad that is filled with ductal epithelium in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> glands compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>+/+</sup> glands in five individual animals.

C)

#### Characterisation of CBF<sub>β</sub> deletion in the CBF<sub>β</sub>creER mouse model

Our novel mouse model of mammary-specific CBF $\beta$  deletion has shown an undisputable role for CBF $\beta$  in this mammary gland development. In order to confirm that the phenotype observed was due to a lack of CBF $\beta$  in the mammary gland, western blotting for CBF $\beta$  was performed on protein from the transplanted CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> and CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>+/+</sup> glands. Western blot analysis for CBF $\beta$  showed a clear deletion of CBF $\beta$  in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> glands compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>+/+</sup> glands (Fig. 3.3. A).

# $CBF\beta$ is required for the proliferation of mammary epithelial cells during ductal elongation

CBF $\beta$  has been shown to regulate both skeletal and haematopoietic development through the regulation of both stem cell proliferation and differentiation (Kurosaka et al., 2011).

The virgin gland undergoes high levels of proliferation during the process of ductal extension (Hennighausen & Robinson, 2005), which corresponds to the stage of mammary gland development where we observe a defect in the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{tg/+}$  glands. In order to examine whether this phenotype was due to a defect in proliferation, we stained 6-week-old  $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{tg/+}$  and  $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{+/+}$  transplanted mammary glands for Ki-67, a marker of cell proliferation and quantified the percentage of Ki-67 positive cells between the two genotypes.

There are significantly less Ki-67 positive cells in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> glands compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>+/+</sup> glands as seen in Figure 3.3.B. Quantification of cell counts confirmed a marked decrease Ki-67 staining in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> glands (p = 0.003) with a total of 53.5% (± 4.8) Ki67 positive cells in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> glands and only 18.9% (± 5.1) Ki67 positive cells in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> glands (Fig. 3.3.C).

This data demonstrates a novel role for CBF $\beta$  in the regulation of mammary epithelial cell proliferation during ductal elongation.



#### Fig. 3.3. CBFβ regulates mammary epithelial cell proliferation during ductal elongation

CBF $\beta$  deletion leads to a decrease proliferation of mammary epithelial cells during ductal elongation. A) Western blot for CBF $\beta$  confirming CBF $\beta$  knockout in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> glands compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>+/+</sup>glands, loaded to the epithelial marker cytokeratin 18. B) IHC staining showing a reduction in the proliferative marker Ki-67 in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> glands compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>+/+</sup> 6-week-old transplanted glands (N=6). C) Histogram quantitating a significant increase in Ki-67 positive cells in CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>+/+</sup> 6-week-old transplanted glands (N=6). C) Histogram quantitating a significant increase glands (p = 0.003, students unpaired t-test). Error bars represent SEM.

#### Ductal elongation is not affected in 14-week-old $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{tg/+}$ mammary glands

In order to determine if the stunted ductal outgrowth observed in the 6-week-old  $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{tg/+}$  transplanted glands was due to a delay in epithelial outgrowth or if proliferation was being completely blocked, transplanted glands were left to develop for a further 8 weeks.

Mammary glands collected 14 weeks post transplant and showed no difference between the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{tg/+}$  and  $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{tg/+}$  glands in regards to ductal elongation and outgrowth, as seen in the whole mount images in Figure 3.4. This result indicates that deletion of  $CBF\beta$  results in a delay in ductal extension of the mammary epithelium but does not lead to a permanent arrest.

#### CBF<sup>βf/f</sup>CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> virgin glands

#### $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{+/+}$ virgin glands



# Fig. 3.4. 14-week-old CBFβ<sup>f/f</sup>CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> mammary glands show no delay in ductal elongation.

Representative whole mount images of virgin  $CBF\beta^{f'f}CreER^{tg/+}$  mammary glands 14 weeks post transplant showing a recovery in ductal outgrowth (N=10). These mice were injected with Tamoxifen 4 days post transplant in order to activate Cre-mediated deletion of CBF $\beta$  in the mammary gland.

# $CBF\beta$ deletion does not perturb lobuloalveolar development in $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{tg/+}$ mice

We have now shown that CBF $\beta$  plays a critical role in the early development of the mammary gland, a phenotype that is recovered as the gland reaches maturity. We have determined that this is due to a reduction in the number of proliferating mammary epithelial cells in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> glands, leading to a significant delay in the elongation of the ductal network.

The second important aspect of cell fate that CBF $\beta$  is known to regulate in other developmental systems is differentiation (Kurosaka et al., 2011). The highest levels of differentiation occur in the mammary gland during pregnancy, when lobuloalveolar development occurs and the functional alveoli are formed (Hennighausen & Robinson, 2005).

In order to investigate whether CBF $\beta$  plays a role in the regulation of differentiation in the mammary gland, we examined CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> transplanted glands at both mid and late pregnancy time points. Mammary glands were harvested at both 12 and 18 days post coitus (d.p.c). Whole mount analysis showed that neither alveolar bud formation or lobuloalveolar development was affected in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> glands compared with CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>+/+</sup> glands (Fig. 3.5). This data indicates that CBF $\beta$  is an important regulator of proliferation but not differentiation in the developing mammary gland.



# Fig. 3.5. CBF $\beta$ does not regulate alveolar bud formation or lobuloalveolar development in CBF $\beta$ <sup>ff</sup>CreER<sup>tg/+</sup>mice.

Whole mount images of  $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{tg/+}$  and  $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{+/+}$ mammary glands at mid and late pregnancy showing a recovery of the phenotype seen in the 6-week-virgin glands on no defects in alveolar bud formation or lobuloalveolar development.

#### *CBF* $\beta$ does not regulate virgin development in *CBF* $\beta^{f/f}$ *BLGCre*<sup>tg/+</sup> mice

In order to further investigate the role of CBF $\beta$  in mammopoiesis we generated a second CBF $\beta$  knockout mouse model by crossing the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$  mouse (Naoe et al., 2007) on to a BLG-Cre<sup>tg/+</sup> mouse (Selbert & Bentley, 1998). The resulting CBF $\beta^{f/+}$ ;BLG-Cre<sup>tg/+</sup> mice were then backcrossed on to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$  mice to generate both CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>tg/+</sup> and CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>+/+</sup> mice. Crossing the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$  mice with the BLGCre<sup>tg/+</sup> mice resulted in a mammary epithelium-specific, constitutive CBF $\beta$  knockout model where Cre-mediated deletion of CBF $\beta$  is driven off the beta lactoglobulin (BLG) promoter, which is expressed mostly highly during pregnancy and lactation.

To further examine the effects of CBF $\beta$  deletion on virgin development, CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>tg/+</sup> and CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>+/+</sup> mammary glands were collected at 5, 7 and 9 weeks of age, representing pre-public entry public public entry and mature virgin glands respectively.

Whole mount analysis of the glands at each time point showed no differences in the ductal outgrowth, terminal end bud formation or side branching of the ductal network in either the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}BLGCre^{tg/+}$  or  $CBF\beta^{f/f}BLGCre^{+/+}$  mice (Fig 3.6).

This data indicates that CBF $\beta$  is not required to regulate virgin mammary development and morphogenesis in CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>tg/+</sup> mice.



### Fig. 3.6.Late onset CBFβ deletion does not affect development of the virgin mammarygland.

Images of whole mounted images virgin mammary glands from CBF $\beta$ BLG mice showing no change in morphology at 5, 7 and 9 weeks of age (N=3 for CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>+/+</sup> and CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>tg/+</sup> at each time point).

#### $CBF\beta$ is not required for lobuloalveolar development or alveologenesis

To examine whether CBF $\beta$  deletion in CBF $\beta^{f'f}$ BLGCre<sup>tg/+</sup> mice affected development during pregnancy, we harvested glands from CBF $\beta^{f'f}$ BLGCre<sup>tg/+</sup> and CBF $\beta^{f'f}$ BLGCre<sup>+/+</sup> mice at the key developmental stages of mid pregnancy and early lactation, where CBF $\beta$  is deleted in the majority of mammary epithelial cells in this model (Selbert & Bentley, 1998).

Whole mount analysis of  $CBF\beta^{f'f}BLGCre^{tg/+}$  and  $CBF\beta^{f'f}BLGCre^{+/+}$  mammary glands at day 12 d.p.c and at the first day of lactation show no difference in morphology (Fig. 3.7.A). As per the virgin  $CBF\beta^{f'f}BLGCre^{tg/+}$  mice, ductal elongation and side branching also remains unchanged under BLGCre-mediated deletion of  $CBF\beta$ . In addition, there is also no change in lobuloalveolar development during pregnancy or alveoli formation in the lactating glands.

This data indicates that CBF $\beta$  is not required for regulating differentiation during pregnancy and lactation.

#### Characterisation of CBF $\beta$ deletion in the CBF $\beta$ BLG mouse model

To confirm that CBF $\beta$  was deleted in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>tg/+</sup> mice, mammary glands were collected for protein expression analysis by western blotting. There was clearly a significant reduction of CBF $\beta$  protein expression in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>tg/+</sup> glands when compared to the glands from CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>+/+</sup> mice, as shown in Figure 3.7.B.



B)

A)



## Fig. 3.7. Constitutive CBFβ deletion does not effect development of the pregnant mammary gland.

A) Whole mount analysis of CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>tg/+</sup> mammary glands at key stages of pregnancy shows no change in morphology between the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>tg/+</sup> and CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>+/+</sup> glands (N=3 for each genotype). B) Analysis of CBF $\beta$  protein levels, normalised to cytokeratin 18, confirming CBF $\beta$  knockout in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>tg/+</sup> mouse line (p = 0.01, student's unpaired t-test).

#### Discussion

The mammary gland is a complex and dynamic organ that undergoes cyclical rounds of proliferation and differentiation under the influence of female hormones (Hennighausen & Robinson, 2001), making it an excellent system in which to study regulators of cell fate. There are a number of elements of mammary gland development that are well understood, such as placode development and placement in the embryonic mammary gland or the signals required to induce lactation. There are however, many aspects of virgin development and development during pregnancy that are yet to be fully elucidated.

It is well understood that, as part of the CBF complex, CBF $\beta$  is crucial for the regulation of cell fate in haematopoiesis and skeletal development (Coffman, 2003; Huang et al., 1999; Nagata et al., 1999). This however, is the first study to show a role for the CBF $\beta$  in the mammary gland. Given the importance of the binding process of CBF $\beta$  to the Runx genes, we hypothesised that this role for CBF $\beta$  would be in either a dependent or supportive context.

We observed that CBF $\beta$  expression levels follow the same differentially regulated pattern as Runx2 throughout mammary developmental which is intriguing as it has been shown in other systems that expression of the Runx genes is tissue-specific whilst CBF $\beta$ is more ubiquitously expressed (Adya et al., 2000; Hajra & Collins, 1995; Ogawa et al., 1993a; Wang et al., 1993). Therefore, it was exciting to see that CBF $\beta$  levels are differentially expressed in the mammary gland in conjunction with Runx2 even though unpublished data from our lab shows that Runx and Runx3 levels stay consistent. This is a clear indication that CBF $\beta$  is plays a key role in this developmental process.

The decrease in CBF $\beta$  expression in the mammary gland during pregnancy was not as dramatic as the observed decrease in Runx2 expression (unpublished data), which may provide an explanation for the apparent lack of lobuloalveolar defect in both the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> and the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ BLGCre<sup>tg/+</sup> mammary glands during pregnancy and lactation. Rather we observe a proliferative defect in the pubertal CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> glands at a time point where expression levels of CBF $\beta$  are constitutively higher in wildtype mammary glands.

Whilst our lab has not examined the effects of Runx2 deletion at the onset of mammary gland development, there appears to be no discernable effect on Runx2 deletion in virgin mammary glands, rather major defects during lobuloalveolar

development (Owens et al., 2014). Runx2 deletion may not affect the onset of mammary gland development because CBF $\beta$  expression would remain unchanged and therefore it would still act to stabilise Runx1 and Runx3 proteins in the same way it has been shown to stabilise Runx2 during skeletal development (Qin et al., 2014; Yoshida, 2002). This would lead to a protective effect and would allow Runx1 and 3 to compensate for Runx2 function, resulting in normal virgin development. Alternatively, Runx1 or Runx3 may be regulating early mammary gland development, which would also explain the phenotypic differences observed between the Runx2 and CBF $\beta$  knockout mouse models. This hypothesis could be tested via generation of Runx1 and Runx3 mammary-specific mouse models.

The evidence our lab has produced demonstrating a novel role for Runx2 in the mammary gland has formed the basis for this thesis. This study has shown a crucial role for Runx2 in lobuloalveolar development during pregnancy through regulation of the luminal stem cell populations (Owens et al., 2014).

Interestingly, a separate study has shown a similar lobuloalveolar defect through the use of a Runx2 transgenic mouse rather than a knockout model (McDonald et al., 2014). As described by the authors, the levels of Runx2 are expressed at supraphysiological levels in the transgenic mouse (McDonald et al., 2014) and as such, the validity of these results may be compromised. This Runx2 overexpression study also shows a delay in ductal elongation in the developing virgin gland (McDonald et al., 2014) and whilst our lab did not examine earlier time points in the Runx2 knockout mouse, the delayed ductal extension observed in the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{tg/+}$  glands is clear. Traditionally, the roles of genes and transcription factors involved in mammary gland development have been described through targeted deletion in vivo (reviewed in (Robinson, 2004; Visvader & Lindeman, 2003)). This is the approach used by our group in both the Runx2 and CBF<sup>β</sup> studies as it allows greater control over temporal and spatial expression levels than the transgenic model used by McDonald and colleagues (McDonald et al., 2014). However, the discrepancies observed, particularly in regards to Runx2 function, indicate that further investigation is required to discern the mechanism by which the CBF complex regulates mammary cell fate.

Both Runx2 studies do demonstrate that the decreased levels of Runx2 observed throughout normal mammary gland development indicates that Runx2 down regulation is required in order to induce differentiation (McDonald et al., 2014; Owens et al.,

2014). It has been shown that forcing Runx2 expression at this time (both *in vivo* and *in vitro*) leads to poorly differentiated lobuloalveolar structures (McDonald et al., 2014) and results in HC11 cells that are no longer able to differentiate and produce milk proteins (Owens et al., 2014). These studies show that the overexpression of Runx2 leads to changes in the mammary epithelium that are consistent with tumourigenesis, an area that will be discussed in the following chapters. It is therefore clear that Runx2 is essential for the control cell fate decisions in the mammary gland.

Whilst there is virtually no previous data describing a role for CBF $\beta$  in the developing mammary gland, there have been suggestions by studies investigating breast cancer, that CBF $\beta$  is not just playing a supportive role to Runx2 but may have independent functions as well (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010). The stark difference in the phenotypes observed in CBF $\beta^{-/-}$  and Runx2<sup>-/-</sup> mammary glands supports this hypothesis.

Previous studies in other developmental models such as haematopoiesis and skeletal development indicate that CBF $\beta$  is an important regulatory element in a range of developmental processes (Qin et al., 2014; Tanaka et al., 1995; Yoshida, 2002). The common hypothesis formed from these studies is that CBF $\beta$  is controlling the function of Runx proteins through regulating the proliferation and differentiation of stem cell populations (Kurosaka et al., 2011). This thesis, for the first time, has detected CBF $\beta$  expression in the mammary gland and shows that it is expressed in both the luminal and also in myoepithelial cells of the mammary gland, which is where is Runx2 is expressed and also where mammary stem cells are derived from (Kendrick et al., 2008; Molyneux et al., 2010; Owens et al., 2014; Rios et al., 2014). This supports the hypothesis that CBF $\beta$  may be involved in the control of mammary stem cell populations.

The *in vivo* data from this chapter demonstrates a significant delay in ductal elongation of the developing mammary gland due to decreased numbers of proliferating mammary epithelial cells in  $CBF\beta^{f/f}CreER^{tg/+}$  mammary glands. This defect however, is only observed in virgin mice when  $CBF\beta$  is deleted from the onset of post-natal mammary gland development. In this model, CreERT2-mediated deletion of CBF $\beta$  targets all cells, including stem and progenitor cells. In contrast in BLG mice CBF $\beta$  deletion is restricted to more differentiated luminal populations.

Given the phenotypes observed in these *in vivo* models of CBF $\beta$  deletion, our data indicates a potential and novel role for CBF $\beta$  as a potential regulator of mammary

progenitor/stem cell populations. This is a hypothesis supported by previous published data describing roles for both CBF $\beta$  and the Runx genes in stem cell regulation in other developmental systems (Kurosaka et al., 2011).

In order to confirm the effects of CBF $\beta$  on the proliferative capacity of mammary gland stem cells, it would be interesting to perform additional mammary transplants using the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> mice and then use flow cytometry analysis on total cell populations to see if there is a shift in progenitor populations in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>tg/+</sup> glands compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ CreER<sup>+/+</sup> glands.

In regards to the effects of CBF $\beta$  deletion on mammary gland during pregnancy, no effect was seen in either CBF $\beta^{-/-}$  mouse model. There was no difference in the ability of the ductal tree to undergo successful lobuloalveolar development during pregnancy or alveoli formation during lactation. This indicates that CBF $\beta$  is not required for regulating differentiation in the mammary gland during pregnancy or lactation.

This is the first study to show that  $CBF\beta$  is both present and essential for the development of the mammary gland and highlights a novel and exciting role for this transcription factor.

### 4. CBFβ plays an important regulatory role in breast cancer cells and can drive metastatic phenotypes such as proliferation and migration

#### Introduction

Our lab has now shown that Runx2 plays a definitive role in lobuloalveolar development via regulation of luminal progenitor cells populations (Owens et al., 2014). Data from this thesis has also determined that CBF $\beta$  also plays a role in mammary gland development, through regulating the proliferation of mammary epithelial cells during ductal elongation. The importance of this novel role for CBF $\beta$  in mammary gland development is the potential implication for CBF $\beta$  in breast cancer. It is a well-understood paradigm that regulatory genes and transcription factors that are involved in development and cell fate regulation are often perturbed in cancer.

Most genes that are implicated in cancer can be easily defined as either oncogenes or tumour suppressors however, this is not the case for the Runx genes and CBF $\beta$ , which have been shown to function as either in a context-dependent manner (Blyth et al., 2005). Runx2 is found to be amplified in several cancers, especially osteosarcoma, and therefore is primarily considered to be an oncogene (Forus et al., 1995; Lau et al., 2004). When Runx2 is overexpressed in endothelial cells and osteoblasts it leads to enhanced cell migration, survival, invasion and angiogenesis, all of which are indicative of oncogenic transformation (Fujita et al., 2004; Sun et al., 2001; Sun et al., 2004; Zelzer et al., 2001).

Our lab has now shown that overexpressing Runx2 in the MCF10a normal breast cells leads to induction of epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), characterised by increased expression of N-Cadherin and Cyclin D1, loss of E-Cadherin expression and a distinct shift in the morphology of the cell from a cobblestone epithelial shape to a more fibroblastic shape consistent with breast cancer cells. Similarly, forced expression of Runx2 in the HC11 mouse mammary epithelial cells leads to an increase in both the proliferative and migrational capacity of the cells, classic hallmarks of cancer (Owens et al., 2014). We and others have also shown that reducing Runx2 expression in the aggressive MDA-MB-231 cells breast cancer cell line leads to decreased migration and invasion (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010; Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2011; Owens et al., 2014). This collective data demonstrates a novel for Runx2 as a regulator of breast

cancer cell fate and also highlights that there are many aspects of breast cancer that require further investigation.

The focus of this thesis is to determine whether CBF $\beta$  also plays a role in breast cancer, although to date there has been very little data suggesting a causal relationship between the two. As part of their research into the role of Runx2 in breast cancer metastasis, Mendoza-Villanueva *et al* found that CBF $\beta$  was expressed in the aggressive MDA-MB-231 and found evidence to suggest a potential role for CBF $\beta$  in the invasive potential of these cells (Mendoza-Villanueva *et al.*, 2010). This study indicates that CBF $\beta$  may be involved in breast cancer but further investigation is clearly needed.

Recent whole genome/exon signaling sequencing, aiming to find genetic alterations, has recently found that only 5 genes were found to be commonly mutated; GATA3, PIK3CA, MAP3KI, TP53 and CBF $\beta$ . The first four genes are known key players in breast cancer, however as previously stated, there has been very little data associating CBF $\beta$  with breast cancer these studies present an enticing new link (Banerji et al., 2012; CGAN, 2012; Ellis et al., 2012). In addition, CBF $\beta$  was identified as one of the most frequently mutated genes, being mutated in approximately 5% of all luminal breast cancers (CGAN, 2012). This data suggests that CBF $\beta$  may play a critical role in breast cancer and further investigation is needed in order to elucidate this potential new function.

The aim of this chapter therefore, is to explore the role of CBF $\beta$  in human breast cancer in the context of an *in vitro* model.

#### Results

#### $CBF\beta$ is expressed across all sub-types of human breast cancer

Until recently, very little has been known about the role of CBF $\beta$  in the context of breast cancer, as such we examined the expression levels of CBF $\beta$  across a panel of human breast cancer cell lines in order to determine whether CBF $\beta$  expression correlated with a particular subtype. This panel included multiple cell lines from each of the following breast cancer subtypes; Luminal, Basal A, Basal B and also cell lines that represented a normal breast cell population.

The mRNA expression analysis shows that CBF $\beta$  expression does not distinctly associate with a particular breast cancer (Fig. 4.1.A). Similarly, CBF $\beta$  expression also does not increase with invasiveness or correlate with estrogen receptor status as shown in Figures 4.1.B and C respectively.

Our lab has previously shown that Runx2, unlike its binding partner CBF $\beta$ , has distinct expression patterns in relation to subtype and estrogen receptor status (Fig. 4.1.D). Runx2 levels are higher in the more aggressive basal A and B subtypes lower in the luminal cancers that are associated with better prognosis. Runx2 levels also increase with invasiveness and are higher in cell lines that are estrogen receptor negative. This indicates that CBF $\beta$  is it always present but potentially only directly affected when Runx2 is activated.

In addition to performing CBF $\beta$  expression analysis in breast cancer cell lines, we have also shown through immunohistochemistry that CBF $\beta$  is expressed in a range of human breast tumours (Fig. 4.1.E). The data is the first evidence of CBF $\beta$  expression in the human breast and is a clear indication that CBF $\beta$  may be playing an important role in breast cancer.



 $CBF\beta$  Expression as Invasiveness Increases



C)

CBF<sub>β</sub> Expression and ER Status









#### Fig. 4.1. Expression of CBFβ in human breast cancer cell lines

A) mRNA expression of CBF $\beta$ , relative to MCF10a cells and normalised to GAPDH, across a panel of human breast cancer cell lines as shown by RT-qPCR. Error bars represent SEM (N=3). B) mRNA analysis shows that CBF $\beta$  expression does not correlate with invasiveness. C) mRNA analysis shows that CBF $\beta$  expression does not correlate with estrogen receptor status. D) mRNA analysis shows that Runx2 is significantly upregulated in the aggressive basal breast cancer subtype (p = 0.02, Student's t-test) and that Runx2 expression also correlates with ER negative breast cancers using a panel of human breast cancer cell lines. E) Immunohistochemistry was used to show that CBF $\beta$  is expressed in a range human breast tumours from the Royal Brisbane & Women's Hospital breast cancer cohort (Supplied by Peter Simpson).

E)

# CBFβ regulates the expression of crucial downstream targets involved in cancer progression

A previous study in human breast cancer cells showed that knocking down CBF $\beta$  expression in MDA-MB-231 cells lead to a subsequent reduction of several downstream targets of the Runx2-CBF $\beta$  complex (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010). We have now shown that CBF $\beta$  is expressed across all breast cancer subtypes and that expression varies between individual cell lines.

Based on this comparative analysis we selected two cell lines in which to study the function of CBF $\beta$ ; one that has high levels of CBF $\beta$  expression and one that has low expression. We chose to focus on the highly metastatic MDA-MB-231 cells, which have high levels of both Runx2 and CBF $\beta$  and also another basal breast cancer cell line, Hs578T cells which have high Runx2 expression but low expression of CBF $\beta$ .

CBF $\beta$  expression was transiently knocked down in the MDA-MB-231 cells using two individual siRNAs against CBF $\beta$ , achieving over 90% decrease in expression (p <0.0001 for both siRNAs) as shown by western blotting and RTqPCR (Fig. 4.2.A). Similarly, two siRNAs were used to knockdown the protein and mRNA levels of Runx2 by 50% (p = 0.001, p <0.0001) (Fig. 4.2.B). Non-specific siRNAs were used as negative controls for both CBF $\beta$  and Runx2.

Expression analysis of key downstream targets of the Runx2/CBFβ complex when the levels of either CBFβ or Runx2 were significantly down regulated was undertaken using RT-qPCR. The genes examined were MMP9, MMP13, RankL, SatB1, BgLap1 and PTHrP. This cohort includes gene that are involved in the maintenance and development of the mammary gland (PTHrP); genes that control bone metabolism and homeostasis (SatB1 and BgLap1); and also genes that contribute to breast cancer growth and disease progression (MMP9, MMP13 and SatB1) (Duffy et al., 2000; Pratap et al., 2005; Pratap, 2006 ; Shore, 2005).

Knocking down the expression of CBF $\beta$  or Runx2 in MDA-MB-231s reduces the expression of these keys target genes, however Runx2 levels are unaffected when CBF $\beta$  is knocked down and the same is true for CBF $\beta$  expression levels when Runx2 is knocked down (Figure 4.2.C). Mendoza-Villanueva and colleagues have also observed this pattern of expression (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010) and it indicates that any downstream effects are not due to a reduction in expression of the entire Runx2/CBF $\beta$ 

complex but that these co-transcription factors also have critical an individual roles in breast cancer.



A)





## Fig. 4.2. Deletion of CBFβ in MDA-MD-231 breast cancer cells by siRNA results in down regulation of key downstream targets

A) Western blot and RT-qPCR showing a 90% knockdown of CBF $\beta$  protein and mRNA levels in MDA-MB-231 cells transfected with CBF $\beta$  siRNA (CBF $\beta$ 5 & CBF $\beta$ 6 p <0.0001, Student's unpaired t-test). Error bars represent SEM. B) RT-qPCR showing a 50% knockdown of Runx2 protein and mRNA levels in MDA-MB-231 cells transfected with Runx2 siRNA (Runx2A p <0.0001; Runx2B p <0.0001, Student's unpaired t-test). Error bars represent SEM. C) RT-qPCR data showing down regulation of key downstream targets of Runx2/CBF $\beta$  in MDA-MB-231 cells as a result of CBF $\beta$  siRNA knockdown. Expression of BgLap1, MMP9 and MMP13 is significantly decreased (p <0.05, Student's t-test) Error bars represent SEM.

# Down regulation of CBF $\beta$ reduces the metastatic potential of human breast cancer cells

It has been shown that Runx2 regulates several genes that are implicated in the metastatic potential of breast cancer cells (Pratap et al., 2005; Pratap, 2006; Shore, 2005) and whilst there is some evidence to suggest that CBF $\beta$  is potentially required for invasion of breast cancer cells (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010), our aim is to further characterise the role for CBF $\beta$  in breast cancer cell fate.

After validation, the CBF $\beta$  siRNA sequences were used to generate CBF $\beta$  shRNA constructs. MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells were retrovirally infected with these constructs in order to generate three stable cohorts; two expressing different CBF $\beta$  shRNAs and one expressing a luciferase shRNA as a control. Validation of shRNA-mediated knockdown of CBF $\beta$  in the MDA-MB-231 cells was shown through western blotting and RT-qPCR as seen in Figure 4.3.A and B respectively.

In order to determine whether CBF $\beta$  is able to regulate the growth rate of breast cancer cells, the proliferation rate of these MDA-MB-231 cohorts was assessed using proliferation assays. The results of these assays showed that the two cell lines expressing the CBF $\beta$  shRNA underwent proliferation at a significantly slower rate than the cells expressing the non-specific luciferase as shown by the graph in Figure 4.3.C (p <0.001).

Migration assays were performed using the xCelligence DP system to ascertain whether reducing CBF $\beta$  expression in MDA-MB-231 cells also affected the ability of the cells to migrate towards a chemoattractant. The data obtained showed, once again, that in the two cell lines containing CBF $\beta$  shRNA migration was significantly impaired compared to the luciferase shRNA control (p <0.01) (Fig. 4.4).

The collective data from the proliferation and migration assays indicates a critical role for CBF $\beta$  as a regulator of breast cancer cell fate, not only complemented but also furthering previously described results from Mendoza-Villanueva and colleagues (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010).



#### Fig. 4.3. Down regulation of CBF<sup>β</sup> in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells leads to a reduction in cell proliferative capacity

A) Western blot showing successful knockdown of CBF<sup>β</sup> via stable shRNA integration into MDA-MB-231 cells. B) RT-qPCR results showing knock down of CBFβ mRNA levels in MDA-MB-231 cell (N=3, p = 0.032, Student's unpaired t-test). Error bars represent SEM. C) Results from proliferation assays using MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing CBF\beta shRNA showing significantly decreased proliferation with a non-specific shRNA used as a control. A two-way ANOVA of N=3 assays resulted in the following: Time: F (8,162.5) = 83.48, p < 0.0001; Treatment: F (2,32.51) = 7.57, p = 0.0006; Interaction: F (16, 51.05) = 5.24, p < 0.0001. Error bars represent SEM.

99



### Fig. 4.4. Down regulation of CBFβ in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells leads to a reduction in cell migratory capacity

Results from migration assays using MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing CBF $\beta$  shRNA showing significantly decreased migration with a non-specific shRNA used as a control. A two-way ANOVA of N=3 assays resulted the following: Time: F (95, 127.6) = 61.08, p < 0.0001; Treatment: F (92, 10.53) = 21.88, p < 0.01; Interaction: F (190, 8.293) = 7.94, p < 0.0001. Error bars represent SEM.

# Overexpression of CBF $\beta$ increases the metastatic potential of human breast cancer cells

We have now shown that knocking down CBF $\beta$  expression in MDA-MB-231 cells leads to a significant decrease in the ability of these cells to proliferate and migrate. There is currently no published data documenting the effects of CBF $\beta$  overexpression on breast cancer cell fate. In order to investigate this, we developed a CBF $\beta$ overexpression construct and retrovirally infected Hs578T breast cancer cells, which has constitutively low levels of CBF $\beta$ . Hs578T cells expressing the vector-only construct were used as a control. The overexpression of CBF $\beta$  compared to the vector only in the Hs578T cells was confirmed by both western blot and RT-qPCR analysis (Figures 4.5.A and B respectively).

In order to examine the effects of CBF $\beta$  overexpression on the growth rate of Hs578T cells, proliferation assays were performed using cells expressing either the CBF $\beta$  or vector-only construct. Overexpression of CBF $\beta$  led to an increase in the rate of proliferation when compared to the control cell line (p <0.05) (Fig. 4.5.C).

Migration assays were performed using the xCelligence DP system to determine if overexpressing CBF $\beta$  in Hs78T cells had any affect on the ability of the cells to migrate towards a chemoattractant. The results of these experiments showed that there was a substantial increase in the ability of the Hs578T cells overexpressing CBF $\beta$  to migrate when compared to the cells containing only the empty vector.

These results show a clear and novel role for CBF $\beta$  in the regulation of breast cancer cell fate, specifically in terms of proliferation and migration. As these two phenotypes are classic characteristics of breast cancer pathogenesis, it can be deduced that CBF $\beta$  also has a potential and important role in breast cancer metastasis.



Fig. 4.5. Overexpression of CBFβ in Hs578T breast cancer cells leads to an increase in cell proliferative capacity.

A) Western blot showing successful overexpression of CBF $\beta$  via stable integration into Hs578T cells. B) RT-qPCR results showing increased CBF $\beta$  mRNA levels in Hs578T cells (N=3, p = 0.001, Student's unpaired t-test). Error bars represent SEM C) Results from proliferation assays using Hs578T cells stably overexpressing CBF $\beta$  showing significantly increased proliferation compared to a vector only control. A two-way ANOVA from N=3 assays resulted in the following: Time: F (8, 61.46) = 73.47, p < 0.0001; Treatment: F (1, 20.70) = 13.43, p = 0.0104; Interaction: F (8, 4.785) = 5.72, p = 0.0006. Error bars represent SEM.



Fig. 4.6. Overexpression of CBFβ in Hs-578T breast cancer cells leads to an increase in cell migratory capacity.

Results from migration assays using Hs578T cells stably overexpressing CBF $\beta$  showing increased migration compared to a vector only control (N=4). Error bars represent SEM.

# $CBF\beta$ affects the regulation of genes involved in mammary gland development and breast cancer

The results described in this chapter demonstrate that perturbation of CBF $\beta$  expression leads to altered metastatic phenotypes in breast cancer cells, clearly indicating that CBF $\beta$  is able to regulate breast cancer cell fate.

In order to elucidate a potential mechanism by which CBF<sup>β</sup> may be able to control proliferation and migration of breast cancer cells, we performed microarray analysis on mRNA lysates from MDA-MB-231 cells containing CBF<sup>β</sup> shRNA, Hs578T cells overexpressing CBF<sup>β</sup> and their respective controls, using the GeneChip PrimeView Human Gene Expression Array (N=3 for each sample). Hierarchical clustering and gene expression profiling was performed to confirm that the levels of CBF<sup>β</sup> were reduced in the MDA-MB-231 cells and increased in the Hs587T cells compared to their respective control groups (Figure 4.7.A and B). Gene expression profiling for the Hs578T cells did not show a clear increase in  $CBF\beta$  expression levels even though cluster analysis showed clear separation of the two groups. This was mostly likely do to the probes not being specific enough, therefore independent RT-qPCR validation was performed and clearly confirmed significant overexpression of CBF<sub>β</sub> in the Hs578T cells compared to the control group. CBF\beta expression was clearly decreased in MDA-MB-231 cells expressing CBF<sup>β</sup> shRNA but initial cluster analysis identified one of the luciferase shRNA samples as an outlier and it was therefore been removed from subsequent analyses.

Further analysis was performed using Garvan GenePattern *LimmaGP* (v20.0) in order to determine the number of differentially expressed genes in each experimental group. When CBF $\beta$  was overexpressed in Hs587T cells, a total of 725 of the 20548 genes in the array were significantly regulated by CBF $\beta$  (with an q-value < 0.05). Of these 725 genes, we found that 451 were significantly up regulated and 275 were significantly down regulated (Figure 4.7.C). In the opposing experimental conditions where CBF $\beta$  expression was knocked down in the MDA-MB-231 cells, we found that of the 20548 genes in the array 58 were significantly regulated by CBF $\beta$  (q-value < 0.05), with 29 genes significantly up regulated and 29 genes significantly down regulated (Figure 4.7.C). This data is evidence that CBF $\beta$  is responsible for differentially regulating genes in human breast cancer cells.



C)

	Differentially Expressed Genes			
Experiment	Total	Up-regulated	Down-regulated	
Hs587T_CBFβ vs Hs587T_empty vector	725	451	275	
MM231_shCBFβ vs MM231_control	58	29	29	

## Fig. 4.7.Validation of experimental designs for microarray analysis and evidence thatCBFβ differentially regulates gene expression in human breast cancer cells.

A) Expression profile for Hs578T cells containing the CBFβ or vector only construct indicates that the probes used in the array were not specific enough to detect an increase in CBFβ expression. Therefore RT-qPCR was used as further validation (N=3 for experimental group and control group). B) Expression profile for MDA-MB-231 cells expressing CBFβ or luciferase shRNA shows reduced CBFβ expression in the experimental group, as confirmed by RT-qPCR analysis. (N=3 for experimental group and N=2 for control group). C) Table summarising the number of genes found to be differentially regulated by CBFβ.

Once the array was validated and it was clear that CBF $\beta$  was regulating genes involved breast cancer, the top fifty genes were collated for both the Hs578T CBF $\beta$ overexpression and MDA-MB-231 CBF $\beta$  knock down data sets. These results reveals that CBF $\beta$  regulates several genes are important for both mammary gland development as well as genes that have been implicated in breast cancer, including: components of both the WNT and Hedgehog signalling pathways; insulin, epidermal and fibroblastic growth factors; and ECM components (Figure 4.8.A & B). It is therefore clear that CBF $\beta$  regulates multiple aspects of breast development and carcinogenesis.

Interestingly, there was minimal correlation between the differentially regulated genes identified in the CBF $\beta$  overexpression samples when compared with the samples where CBF $\beta$  expression was knocked down. This dissimilarity is highlighted in Figure 4.9 where the data has been summarised to show that, of the 8 genes common to both studies, 7 were found to be oppositely regulated genes, 1 commonly upregulated and there were no genes that were commonly down regulated.

Comparisons were also made between data from this array and from a previous microarray undertaken by our lab, where MCF10a cells overexpressing Runx2 were compared to MCF10a containing the empty pMIG vector. Two separate comparisons were made; between the CBF $\beta$  and Runx2 overexpression data and also between the CBF $\beta$  knock down study and the Runx2 overexpression data. These analyses also showed little correlation in differential gene expression with 10 commonly regulated genes between the two overexpression studies and only 1 gene in the Runx2 overexpression versus CBF $\beta$  knockdown comparison (Figure 4.9). This lack of correlation indicates that CBF $\beta$  function is driven by the genetic landscape of individual breast cancers and highlights the heterogeneity of breast cancer, which ultimately contributes to the poor prognosis associated with certain tumour types.

These comparisons show that, whilst CBF $\beta$  is clearly regulating breast cancer at the gene level, the minimal correlation between experimental groups indicate that it is necessary to investigate the changes occurring at the gene-set level in order to fully elucidate how CBF $\beta$  affects breast carcinogenesis and metastasis.

Top 50 differentially expressed genes: CBFβ overexpression in Hs587T cells		Fold change	Q Value
SSX2 :: synovial sarcoma, X breakpoint 2	down	-1.7241	0.0024
CD9 :: CD9 molecule [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:1709]		-1.0815	0.0024
CXCL1 :: chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 1 (melanoma growth stimulating activity, alpha) [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:4602]		-0.7973	0.0063
LRRK2 :: leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:18618]	up	1.1561	0.0063
SPINK1 :: serine peptidase inhibitor, Kazal type 1 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:11244]	up	1.1546	0.0063
POP1 :: processing of precursor 1, ribonuclease P/MRP subunit (S. cerevisiae) [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:30129]	down	-0.8432	0.0063
TUBA4A :: tubulin, alpha 4a [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:12407]	up	0.7347	0.0063
CADM1 :: cell adhesion molecule 1 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:5951]	down	-0.8409	0.0063
KYNU :: kynureninase [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:6469]	up	0.8097	0.0075
SPP1 :: secreted phosphoprotein 1 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:11255]	up	1.2156	0.008
SLC37A2 :: solute carrier family 37 (glucose-6-phosphate transporter), member 2 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:20644]	up	0.6467	0.0089
NDRG1 :: N-myc downstream regulated 1 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:7679]	up	0.6715	0.0093
AKR1C1 :: aldo-keto reductase family 1, member C1 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:384]	up	0.5861	0.0093
CFH :: complement factor H	up	0.7817	0.0093
TMEM40 :: transmembrane protein 40 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:25620]	down	-0.7341	0.0093
MGARP :: mitochondria-localized glutamic acid-rich protein [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:29969]	down	-0.9309	0.0095
MYEF2 :: myelin expression factor 2 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:17940]	down	-0.8546	0.0103
IGFBP5 :: insulin-like growth factor binding protein 5 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:5474]	down	-0.6948	0.0109
RPSA :: ribosomal protein SA [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:6502]	down	-0.676	0.0109
EIF4A2 :: eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4A2 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Ace:3284]	down	-0.7635	0.0109
ST6GALNAC3 :: ST6 (alpha-N-acetyl-neuraminyl-2,3-beta-galactosyl-1,3)-N-acetylgalactosaminide alpha-2.6-sialyltransferase 3 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:19343]	down	-0.8028	0.0109
SLC7A2 :: solute carrier family 7 (cationic amino acid transporter, v+ system), member 2 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:11060]	down	-0.8058	0.0118
FGF12 :: fibroblast growth factor 12 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:3668]	down	-0.5617	0.0122
IL8 :: interleukin 8 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:6025]	down	-0.5413	0.0131
PTGER3 :: prostaglandin E recentor 3 (subtyne EP3) [Source:HGNC Symbol: Acc:9595]	up	0.8459	0.0131
IHH :: indian hedgehog [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc::5956]	up	0.5285	0.0135
CFH :: complement factor H [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:4883]	up	0.6851	0.0143
NPR3 :: natriuretic peptide receptor C/guanylate cvclase C (atrionatriuretic peptide receptor C) [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:7945]	down	-0.7484	0.0143
ADRB2 :: adrenoceptor beta 2, surface [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:286]	down	-0.5777	0.0143
RBP4 :: retinol binding protein 4. plasma [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:9922]	up	0.7793	0.0143
IPO9 :: importin 9 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc: 19425]	down	-0.5698	0.0143
PPFIA1 :: protein tyrosine phosphatase, receptor type, f polypeptide (PTPRF), interacting protein (liprin), alpha 1 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:9245]	down	-0.6143	0.0143
ZFPM2 :: zinc finger protein. FOG family member 2 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:16700]	down	-0.7461	0.0143
AGTPBP1 :: ATP/GTP binding protein 1 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:17258]	down	-0.5472	0.0143
SDPR :: serum deprivation response [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:10690]	down	-0.7379	0.0143
GLUL :: glutamate-ammonia ligase [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:4341]	down	-0.6784	0.0173
IF130 :: interferon. gamma-inducible protein 30 [Source: HGNC Symbol: Acc: 5398]	up	0.5268	0.0173
TPD52L1 :: tumor protein D52-like 1 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:12006]	up	0.7243	0.0184
CTNNBIP1 :: catenin, beta interacting protein 1 [Source: HGNC Symbol: Acc: [6913]	down	-0.5211	0.0188
IAGI :: iagged 1 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:6188]	down	-0.5559	0.0191
MGP :: matrix Gla protein [Source:HGNC Symbol: Acc:7060]	down	-0.6107	0.0191
CXCL12 :: chemakine (C-X-C motif) ligand 12 [Source-HGNC Symbol: Acc:10672]	down	-0.5977	0.0191
CD59 ·· CD59 molecule, complement regulatory protein	down	-0.4994	0.0191
SKP2 :: S-phase kinase-associated protein 2. E3 ubiquitin protein ligase [Source:HGNC Symbol:Ace:10001]	down	-0.6191	0.0192
CXCL2 :: chemokine (C-X-C motifi ligand 2 [Source HGNC Symbol: Acc:4603]	down	-0.6095	0.0192
PLK2:: polo-like kinase 2 [Source-HGNC Symbol: Acc: [9699]	down	-0.539	0.0192
CC12 - chemotine (C-C mutif) ligand 2 [Source: HGNC Symbol: Acc: 10618]	down	-0.7355	0.0193
IGRC -: immunoelobulin kana constant [Source:HGNC Symbol: Acc:5716]	down	-0.7129	0.0193
PDF4DIP : phosphodiesterase AD interacting protein [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:15580]	un	0.6039	0.0193
FDNRA :: endothelin resentor type A [Source-HGNC Symbol: Acc:3170]	down	-0.5727	0.0197
EDITAL CONSIGNATION OF A DOMESTIC STRUCTURE STATE	aona	-0.0727	0.0177
Top 50 differentially expressed genes: CBFβ knock down in MDA-MB-231 cells	Direction	Fold change	Q Value
--	-----------	-------------	----------
BST2 :: bone marrow stromal cell antigen 2 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:1119]	down	-1.9079	0.008859
ESM1 :: endothelial cell-specific molecule 1 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Ace:3466]	up	1.9963	0.008859
PCDH7 :: protocadherin 7 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:8659]	up	2.5555	0.008859
G0S2 :: G0/G1switch 2 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:30229]	down	-1.1514	0.012495
CDCP1 :: CUB domain containing protein 1 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:24357]	down	-1.4845	0.016549
STXBP6 :: syntaxin binding protein 6 (amisyn) [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:19666]	up	1.4192	0.023338
SLCO1B3 :: solute carrier organic anion transporter family, member 1B3 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:10961]	up	0.9512	0.023338
SYBU :: syntabulin (syntaxin-interacting) [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:26011]	up	1.3261	0.023338
MAGEA3 :: melanoma antigen family A, 3	up	1.5772	0.025704
SCG5 :: secretogranin V (7B2 protein) [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:10816]	down	-1.5374	0.025704
CCL2 :: chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:10618]	up	1.7997	0.025704
PTGS2 :: prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2 (prostaglandin G/H synthase and cyclooxygenase) [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:9605]	up	0.7706	0.025704
CBFB :: core-binding factor, beta subunit [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:1539]	down	-1.824	0.025704
SAA1 :: serum amyloid A1	down	-1.6548	0.025704
CST7 :: cvstatin F (leukocvstatin) [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:2479]	down	-1.2942	0.025704
GPR68 :: G protein-coupled receptor 68 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:4519]	down	-0.8901	0.025704
GPR56 :: G protein-coupled receptor 56 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:4512]	up	1.2907	0.025854
CYP1B1 :: evtochrome P450, family 1, subfamily B, polypeptide 1 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:2597]	down	-0.9064	0.025854
ST6GALNAC3 :: ST6 (alpha-N-acetyl-neuraminyl-2,3-beta-galactosyl-1,3)-N-acetylgalactosaminide alpha-2,6-sialyltransferase 3 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Ace:19343]	up	2.2537	0.028736
EREG :: epiregulin [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:3443]	up	1.2506	0.030336
BCHE :: butyrylcholinesterase [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:983]	up	0.902	0.030336
SPANXBI :: SPANX family, member B1	down	-1.5626	0.030336
ARAP2 :: ArfGAP with RhoGAP domain, ankyrin repeat and PH domain 2 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:16924]	up	0.9971	0.032143
AIM2 :: absent in melanoma 2 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:357]	down	-1.2039	0.032143
CHSY3 :: chondroitin sulfate synthase 3 [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:24293]	up	0.9176	0.032143
SEL1L3 :: sel-1 suppressor of lin-12-like 3 (C, elegans) [Source:HGNC Symbol:Acc:29108]	up	1.8123	0.032143
KIAA1462 :: KIAA1462 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:29283]	down	-0.8805	0.032143
SAA1 :: serum amyloid A1 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:10513]	down	-1.0833	0.033363
NEO1 :: neogenin 1 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:7754]	up	0.6266	0.033609
PODXL :: podocalyxin-like [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:9171]	up	0.9954	0.033609
SPANXA1 :: sperm protein associated with the nucleus, X-linked, family member A1	down	-1.2409	0.033609
KRT81 :: keratin 81 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:6458]	down	-0.8879	0.035015
MMP1 :: matrix metallopeptidase 1 (interstitial collagenase) [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:7155]	up	1.1723	0.035015
SLAMF7 :: SLAM family member 7 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:21394]	down	-0.7111	0.035015
LIPG :: lipase, endothelial [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:6623]	up	0.8892	0.035015
RBPMS2 :: RNA binding protein with multiple splicing 2 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:19098]	up	0.6494	0.035015
PTPN22 :: protein tyrosine phosphatase, non-receptor type 22 (lymphoid) [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:9652]	down	-0.8614	0.035015
ZNF582 :: zinc finger protein 582 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:26421]	down	-1.6025	0.035015
TSPYL5 :: TSPY-like 5 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:29367]	down	-0.6541	0.035015
IL6R :: interleukin 6 receptor [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:6019]	up	0.8228	0.035015
CD82 :: CD82 molecule [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:6210]	down	-0.6329	0.040652
TDO2 :: tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:11708]	down	-0.7161	0.040652
LPXN :: leupaxin [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:14061]	down	-0.7367	0.040652
RPL31 :: ribosomal protein L31 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:10334]	down	-0.633	0.040652
HIST2H2AA3 :: histone cluster 2, H2aa3	down	-0.8291	0.040652
NNMT :: nicotinamide N-methyltransferase [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:7861]	down	-1.1828	0.041361
MT-ND1 :: mitochondrially encoded NADH dehydrogenase 1 [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:7455]	down	-0.71	0.041734
MT1F :: metallothionein 1F [Source:HGNC Symbol;Ace:7398]	down	-0.6166	0.045522
UCA1 :: urothelial cancer associated 1 (non-protein coding) [Source:HGNC Symbol;Acc:37126]	up	0.663	0.049853
MEGF6 :: multiple EGF-like-domains 6	up	0.6989	0.049853

#### Fig. 4.8. List of genes most significantly regulated by CBFβ

Microarrays performed on human breast cancer cells with altered levels of CBF $\beta$  demonstrated that CBF $\beta$  regulates genes involved in normal breast development and breast cancer. A) The top 50 most significantly differentially regulated genes in response to CBF $\beta$  expression in Hs578T cells. B) The top 50 most significantly differentially regulated genes in response to CBF $\beta$  down regulation in MDA-MB-231 cells.

	Differentially Expressed Genes					
Experimental Comparisons (A vs B)	Common	<b>Up-regulated</b>	Down-regulated	Opposite	Unique (A)	Unique (B)
CBF <sup>β</sup> overexpression vs CBF <sup>β</sup> knockdown	8	1	0	7	50	715
CBF <sub>β</sub> overexpression vs Runx2 overexpression	10	4	0	6	87	715
CBF <sub>β</sub> knockdown vs Runx2 overexpression	1	0	0	1	57	96

### Fig. 4.9.Comparison between the number of differentially expressed genes in relation toCBFβ and Runx2 expression.

A summary of the number of genes differentially regulated by Runx2 and CFB $\beta$ , showing that there is little correlation between the different experimental conditions at the gene level.

# *CBF*β regulated expression of genes set involved in breast cancer formation, progression and metastasis

At the gene level, there does not appear to be significant correlation of differentially regulated genes in response to CBF $\beta$  knock down, overexpression or Runx2 overexpression in regards to breast cancer. In order to further elucidate the role of CBF $\beta$  in the regulation of breast cancer cell fate we analysed the effects of altering CBF $\beta$  expression in human breast cancer cells at the gene set level.

Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) was used to compare the molecular profiles of the sample data with published gene set databases in order to determine which gene sets were enriched in response to either CBF $\beta$  over expression or down regulation. For the purpose of this thesis, the sample data was compared to the "c2: curated gene sets", which encompass published gene sets from pathway databases.

A comparison of the differentially regulated genes sets found as a result of either CBF $\beta$  down regulation or overexpression can be seen in the Cytoscape maps in Figure 4.10. In these maps, the outer circles represent CBF $\beta$  knockdown in MDA-MB-231 samples and the inner circles represent CBF $\beta$  overexpression in Hs578T cells. Each circle represents a different gene set, those in red are significantly upregulated and those in blue are significantly down regulated.

An overview of gene set expression can be seen in Figure 4.10.A, showing that between the two experimental conditions, CBF $\beta$  overexpression or down regulation, the majority of gene sets are oppositely regulated. Upon closer inspection of the Cytoscape maps, it is clear that, at the gene set level, CBF $\beta$  is involved in the regulation of several cancers, including numerous breast cancer-specific gene sets. In addition, it is clear that CBF $\beta$  is also involved in the regulation of many other gene sets that are essential to carcinogenesis and cancer progression, including; EMT pathways, ECM components, metastasis, integrin signalling, embryonic stem cells growth and cell cycle pathways (Fig. 4.10.B). This finding is highlighted in the GSEA plots in Figures 4.10.C & D, which also clearly show that reducing CBF $\beta$  expression in MDA-MB-231 cells let to an upregulation of these breast cancer gene sets whilst they were down regulated when CBF $\beta$  was overexpressed in Hs578T cells.

The opposite regulation of breast cancer, metastasis and cell cycle gene sets complements the functional assay data described and indicates a definite role for this transcription factor in breast cancer cell fate.



A)









### Fig. 4.10.CBFβ regulates gene sets that involved in breast development, carcinogenesis and<br/>metastasis.

Several genes sets involved in the development and progression of breast cancer are regulated by CBF $\beta$ . A) A Cytoscape map showing an overview of the major gene sets that are significantly up (red) or down (blue) regulated in response to CBF $\beta$  expression. The size of the circle increases with the number of genes being differentially expressed in a particular gene set. B) Differentially expressed gene sets that are directly related to breast cancer, cell cycle, embryonic development, EMT and EMC pathways have to been highlighted to emphasis the wide-spread effects of CBF $\beta$  perturbation. C) GSEA plots showing upregulation of gene sets related to breast cancer when CBF $\beta$  expression is knocked down in MDA-MB-231 cells. D) GSEA plots showing down regulation of gene sets related to breast cancer when CBF $\beta$  is overexpressed in Hs578T cells.

### $CBF\beta$ and Runx2 regulate genes involved in breast cancer and metastasis

It is well established that the relationship between Runx2 and CBF $\beta$  is essential for the normal development of several systems and that the CBF transcriptional complex has been implicated in several diseases. To this effect, we compared the data from both the CBF $\beta$  microarrays and microarray data where Runx2 was overexpressed in MCF10a normal breast cells. Whilst we did not observe a significant amount of correlation at the gene level (Fig. 4.9), we see are marked increase in correlation between experimental groups when we interrogated that data at the gene set level.

Separate comparisons were made between the MCF10a cells where Runx2 was overexpressed (inner circles) and either the MDA-MD-231 cells where CBF $\beta$  was knocked down (outer circles) (Fig.4.11.A) or the Hs578T cells where CBF $\beta$  was overexpressed (out circles) (Fig.4.11.B).

The Cytoscape maps in Figure 4.11.A shows that the down regulation of CBF $\beta$  and the overexpression of Runx2 leads to opposite regulation of several gene sets involved in breast cancer. Interestingly, there are several instances where gene sets are only significantly differentially regulated in response to either CBF $\beta$  or Runx2 perturbation but not both conditions (white circles indicate no significant up or down regulation in response to the experimental condition). This supports the hypothesis that functions of CBF $\beta$  and Runx2 are not mutually exclusive.

The effects of overexpressing CBF $\beta$  and Runx2 was also assessed and showed a greater degree of similarity in the expression pattern of the gene set. It can be seen in Figure 4.11.B that the expression of majority of gene sets, including those involved in breast cancer, are significantly down regulated. A major exception is the upregulation of two gene sets that are specific to invasive breast cancer, which is in alignment with the data from this thesis and published studies suggesting that both CBF $\beta$  and Runx2 play a role in driving aggressive and metastatic phenotypes in breast cancer cells (McDonald et al., 2014; Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010; Owens et al., 2014).

Overall these comparisons highlight that Runx2 and CBF $\beta$ , both independently and in conjunction with each other, are involved in the regulation of genes essential for breast carcinogenesis, metastasis, cell cycle, EMT and multiple signalling pathways in the ECM.













Fig. 4.11.CBFβ and Runx2 regulate genes involved in breast cancer progression, cell fateand metastasis.

A) Gene set comparisons between CBF $\beta$  knockdown and Runx2 overexpression show that a large subset of the gene sets involved in breast cancer are oppositely regulated as a result of these two experimental conditions. There are also a number of gene sets that are only significantly regulated by either Runx2 or CBF $\beta$ , indicating that their functions are not always mutually exclusive. The size of the circle increases with the number of genes being differentially expressed in a particular gene set. Red indicates up regulation and blue indicates down reagulation.

### Discussion

Transcriptional regulation of breast cancer cell fate has become an important aspect of breast cancer research and several important regulators of normal mammary gland development have been found to be implicated in cancer, including Elf5, ER, PR, WNT and Notch. Recent studies by our lab and others have now identified the osteogenic transcription factor Runx2 as being essential for mammary gland development during pregnancy (Owens et al., 2014) and its expression both correlates and contributes to invasive breast cancer cell phenotypes and tumourigenesis *in vivo* (McDonald et al., 2014; Owens et al., 2014). There has been little investigation into the role of CBF $\beta$  in breast cancer and as such, this study provides one of the first in depth interrogations of the role of this non-DNA binding component of the CBF complex.

Previous studies have identified increased CBF $\beta$  levels in the aggressive MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell line and have indicated that CBF $\beta$  may contribute to the invasive capacity of these cells (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010). We have now shown that CBF $\beta$  is expressed in a wide range of human breast cancer cell lines from each of the major subtypes. Unlike Runx2, CBF $\beta$  expression does not correlate with a particular subtype, which was not unexpected given that CBF $\beta$  is generally more ubiquitously expressed than the Runx genes (Adya et al., 2000; Hajra & Collins, 1995; Ogawa et al., 1993a; Wang et al., 1993).

This study however, definitively shows that CBF $\beta$  is able to influence the ability of breast cancer cells to proliferate and migrate, two of the most common hallmarks of cancer (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000). Previous studies have shown that CBF $\beta$  inhibition leads to reduced invasiveness in MDA-MB-231 cells (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010), but the effects of forced CBF $\beta$  expression have not been tested. This chapter addressed this issue and has now shown, using multiple cell lines, that knocking down CBF $\beta$  expression reduces the aggressive phenotypes of breast cancer cell lines and that the overexpression of CBF $\beta$  leads to an increase in both proliferation and migration. This data therefore suggests that CBF $\beta$  plays a role in controlling breast cancer cell fate.

In order to begin to understand the mechanisms by which CBF $\beta$  is able to regulate the metastatic potential of breast cancer cells, microarrays were performed using the cell lines in which CBF $\beta$  levels were either increased or decreased. At the gene level, the data from these arrays show that CBF $\beta$  is influencing expression of several genes that are involved in critical pathways such as WNT and Hedgehog signalling pathways. Both the WNT and Hedgehog signalling pathways play an important role in the normal breast development, from embryogenesis to adulthood, and have been implicated in several cancers, including breast cancer (Howe & Brown, 2004; Kasper et al., 2009). CBF $\beta$  mediated regulation of these critical signalling pathways may indicate a potential mechanisms by which CBF $\beta$  is able to drive mammary cell fate decisions.

Furthermore, CBF $\beta$  was shown to regulate ECM proteins and growth factors that are required for normal mammary gland development and functionality have been implicated in breast cancer formation and progression including FGF12, IGFBP5, MEFG6 and CADM1. IGF and FGF signalling pathways in particular, are associated with the ability of breast cancer cells to colonise the bone function as a part of the "vicious cycle" of bone metastasis which also heavily relies on Runx2 expression (Roodman & Dougall, 2008; Steeg, 2006). The fact that CBF $\beta$  regulates members of these crucial signalling pathways may indicate it is acting independently or though Runx2 to promote breast cancer metastasis through regulation of IGF and FGF signalling.

This data provides further evidence that  $CBF\beta$  is an important regulator of breast carcinogenesis and progression and that dysregulation of this transcription factor has severe implications on the genetic interactions of the breast.

Whilst we were able to identify downstream target genes of CBF $\beta$  that are involved in breast cancer, there was minimal correlation at the gene level between CBF $\beta$ overexpression, CBF $\beta$  knockdown or following Runx2 overexpression. Breast cancers are grouped into subtypes that correlate to hormone receptor status and mutations in genes such as P53 and BRCA, which ultimately leads to differences in genetic landscapes of individual breast tumours. Therefore, the minimal correlation observed between breast cancer cells with altered CBF $\beta$  levels suggests that CBF $\beta$  function is influenced by the heterogeneity that exists in breast cancer.

Therefore to further understand the influence of CBF $\beta$  control in the context of breast cancer, we interrogated the microarray data using Gene Set Enrichment analysis and Cytoscape software and found that a significant number of gene sets were oppositely regulated in response to CBF $\beta$  and Runx2 levels, including; Kegg Pathways in Cancer, Smid Breast Cancer Luminal A Up, Smid Breast Cancer Normal Like Up, Zhang Breast Cancer Progenitors, Biocarta ECM Pathway, Biocarta Met Pathway, Zhou

Cell Cycle and Pujana BrCa Centered Network. These gene sets identified as differentially regulated represent pathways and genes associated with multiple cancers, growth factors, stem cells, ECM components and cell cycle pathways. More importantly, a large number of these gene sets are specific to breast cancer formation, progression and metastasis. This analysis conclusively demonstrates that CBF $\beta$  is implicated in all aspects of breast cancer and an in depth analysis is required to determine the direct mechanism driving this regulation.

A previous study has indicated a role for CBF $\beta$  and Runx2 in the ability of breast cancer cells to mediate osteoblast differentiation through regulation of the WNTantagonist sclerostin (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2011) and we have now confirmed through microarray analysis, that perturbation of CBF $\beta$  differentially regulates components of the WNT signalling pathway, such as  $\beta$ -catenin interacting protein 1. Together this data indicates that CBF $\beta$  may be regulating breast cancer cell fate through interactions with the WNT signalling cascade. Furthermore, a recent study in osteoblasts has shown that there is cross talk between WNT and TGF $\beta$  pathways that converges on Runx2 (McCarthy & Centrella, 2010), which is an interesting development as microarray analysis has also shown that CBF $\beta$  regulates several Smad proteins in breast cancer cells. Given our knowledge of Runx2 and CBF $\beta$  interactions, it is therefore possible that CBF $\beta$  is acting to stabilise and increase the DNA-binding affinity of Runx2 leading to transcriptional regulation of these crucial signalling pathways and subsequent dysregulation in the context of breast cancer.

CBF $\beta$  may also be directing breast cancer cell fate through control of integrins and other ECM proteins as we observed differential expression of gene sets involved in integrin signalling and the FAK pathway. It has been previously shown that FAK interacts with MMP9 to promote cell migration and invasion (Das et al., 2009)and SMAD3 interacts with Runx2 in order to regulate TGF $\beta$ -mediated expression of MMP13 in human breast cancer cells (Selvamurugan et al., 2004). Therefore, as CBF $\beta$  is able to regulate FAK signalling and TFG $\beta$  signalling through control of Smad protein expression it is evident that CBF $\beta$  plays an important role in directing breast cancer cell fate. Further analysis is required to determine the precise mechanism through which downstream targets of CBF $\beta$  are directly and indirectly involve in breast cancer progression and metastasis.

Overall we have demonstrated a novel role for CBF $\beta$  in the control metastatic phenotypes in breast cancer an it is clear though functional assays and gene expression analysis that CBF $\beta$  is acting to regulate cell fate decisions in breast cancer.

### 5. CBFβ is a key regulator of tumourigenesis and metastasis in the PyMT breast cancer model

### Introduction

The data produced by this thesis has demonstrated exciting roles for CBF $\beta$  as a novel regulator of mammary gland development and breast cancer cell fate.

Over the last decade, a role for the Runx genes, specifically Runx2, has been established in mammary gland development (Blyth et al., 2005; Blyth et al., 2010; McDonald et al., 2014; Owens et al., 2014; Shore, 2005) and there is now mounting evidence suggesting that Runx2 is essential for the development and progression of metastatic breast cancer (McDonald et al., 2014; Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010; Owens et al., 2014) Runx2 has been found to be upregulated in all breast cancer subtypes but to a higher extent in the aggressive basal subtype, specifically the ER/PR/HER2 triple negative cancers (McDonald et al., 2014) indicating it may be crucial for regulating the metastatic potential of breast cancer cells.

Our lab has shown that overexpressing Runx2 in the MCF10a normal breast cells results in the induction of epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) whereby these cells undergo morphological and genetic modifications consistent with breast cancer. Similarly, overexpression of Runx2 in the HC11 mouse mammary epithelial cells leads to an increase in both the proliferative and migrational capacity of the cells, which are classic hallmarks of cancer (Owens et al., 2014). We and others have also shown that reducing Runx2 expression in the aggressive MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell line leads to decreased ability of the cells to migrate and invade (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010; Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2011; Owens et al., 2014).

We have confirmed this role for Runx2 in breast cancer cell fate and progression *in vivo* by crossing the Runx2<sup>-/-</sup> mouse on to the luminal breast cancer PyMT mouse and performing mammary transplants. This resulted in a clear increase in both the tumour-free survival and the overall survival rates of the Runx2 knock out mice as well as a significant decrease in the proliferation levels of hyperplastic regions of the Runx2<sup>-/-</sup> glands, as shown by reduced Cyclin D1 expression (Owens et al., 2014). This was the first *in vivo* study to show a clear role for Runx2 in breast tumourigenesis. These data are complemented by results from a separate study that demonstrated atypical pre-

neoplastic and hyperplastic regions of the mammary epithelium in aged Runx2 transgenic mice (McDonald et al., 2014). This study suggests that prolonged ectopic expression of Runx2 in the mammary gland leads to a re-structuring of tissue reminiscent of EMT-like changes (McDonald et al., 2014).

CBF $\beta$  is the binding partner of all Runx genes and we have hypothesised that it plays an important role in mammary gland development, breast cancer and subsequent metastasis. We have now described a novel role for CBF $\beta$  in the regulation of mammary epithelial cell proliferation during ductal elongation gland *in vivo* and in addition, we have demonstrated that altering levels of CBF $\beta$  expression can either impair or accelerate migration and proliferation of human breast cancer cells, indicating a critical and novel role for CBF $\beta$  in mammopoiesis and breast cancer cell fate.

The CBF complex is known to be important for development, stem cell homeostasis and also in human disease, particularly in leukaemias (Davis et al., 2010; Kurosaka et al., 2011). In the last three years there has been growing interest in the role of CBF $\beta$  in solid tumours, a role that is yet to be elucidated. It has now been shown that CBF $\beta$  may be involved in the malignancy of both ovarian and prostate cancers (Davis et al., 2010) and that it is may be required to support the invasive capacity of breast cancer cells in vitro (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2011).

Breast cancer is one of the most common cancers amongst women and whilst the prognosis for primary breast cancer has improved markedly over the last 20 years, the survival rate for patients with distal metastasis is less than 10% and it is this metastatic disease that contributes the mortality and morbidity of breast cancer. Therefore it is imperative to determine key players that are involved in the process by which breast cancer is able to spread and CBF $\beta$  is becoming an increasingly plausible candidate.

In order to extend upon the *in vitro* data already described in this thesis and by others, we generated a tumourigenic mouse model in which CBF $\beta$  was deleted solely in the mammary gland, resulting in the first *in vivo* study investigating the role of CBF $\beta$  in breast cancer progression.

This chapter aims to explore the potential role CBF $\beta$  in breast cancer cell fate in the context of tumour latency, overall survival and distal metastasis through the use of an *in vivo* breast cancer model.

### Results

### CBF<sub>β</sub> deletion in the mammary gland leads to increase in breast tumour latency

We have now demonstrated that CBF $\beta$  may regulate breast cancer progression, as shown through altered migration and proliferation of human breast cancer cells in response to CBF $\beta$  expression. In order to build on this *in vitro* data and to further investigate the role CBF $\beta$  plays *in vivo*, we generated a tumourigenic mouse model with mammary-specific CBF $\beta$  deletion of CBF $\beta$ .

This model was generated by first crossing the previously described  $CBF\beta^{f/f}$ ; BLG-Cre<sup>tg/+</sup> mice (Chapter 3) on to the PyMT<sup>tg/+</sup> luminal breast cancer model (Lin et al., 2003) resulting in  $CBF\beta^{f/+};BLG-Cre^{tg/+};PyMT$  mice. The  $CBF\beta^{f/+};BLG-Cre^{tg/+};PyMT$  mice were then backcrossed on to the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}$  model in order to generate both  $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{tg/+}PyMT$  and  $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{+/+}PyMT$  mice.

A longitudinal study was undertaken to compare the tumour-free survival time of  $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{+/+}PyMT$  mice compared to the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{tg/+}PyMT$  mice. The mice were examined three times a week for signs of mammary tumour development. A mouse was considered as having undergone tumourigenesis at the first incidence of a palpable tumour. The results of this study showed a significant increase (p = 0.0002) in tumour latency in the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{tg/+}PyMT$  mice (n=22), with an average tumour-free survival of 83.8 days compared to only 68.7 days in the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{+/+}PyMT$  control mice (n=23) (Fig. 5.1.).

This data demonstrates a novel role for CBF $\beta$  in the regulation of breast tumourigenesis *in vivo*.



### Fig. 5.1.Deletion of CBFβ in the mammary gland increases tumour latency in thetumourigenic CBFβPyMT mouse model.

There is a significant increase in tumour latency in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT mice when compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>+/+</sup>PyMT mice (p = 0.0002, Hazard Ratio = 0.25, Log-rank (Mantel Cox) test)

# Deletion of CBF $\beta$ in the mammary gland leads to increased overall survival within a tumourigenic population

Deletion of CBF $\beta$  in the mammary gland leads to a significant increase in tumour latency in mice, indicating a role for CBF $\beta$  in the progression of breast tumourigenesis *in vivo*. We next sought to ascertain whether CBF $\beta$  deletion in the mammary gland has an effect on the overall survival in the CBF $\beta$ <sup>f/f</sup>Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT tumourigenic population.

Similar to the previous study; mice were examined for tumours and overall health three times a week. In addition, all palpable tumours were measured using digital calipers and these readings were used to calculate the total tumour burden of each mouse. Once a mouse had reached the ethical endpoint (a total tumour burden of 10% by weight) it was sacrificed and all tumours and organs of interest were harvested and processed for histological analysis.

The data demonstrated that CBF $\beta$  deletion resulted in significantly increased overall survival in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT population when compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>+/+</sup>PyMT control mice (p <0.0001). CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT mice (N=22) survived for an average of 162.9 days compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>+/+</sup>PyMT mice (N=34) that only lived to an average of 123.6 days. This was an increased survival of almost 5.5 weeks in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT animals (Fig. 5.2.).

We have now shown a novel role for CBF $\beta$  as a regulator of tumour progression and as a critical factor in the overall survival in mice with breast tumours.



## Fig. 5.2.Deletion of CBFβ in the mammary gland increases overall survival in thetumourigenic CBFβPyMT mouse model.

CBF $\beta$  deletion leads to a significant increase in overall survival in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT mice when compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>+/+</sup>PyMT mice. (p <0.0001, Hazard Ratio = 0.16, Log-rank (Mantel Cox) test).

### Characterisation of the $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{tg/+}PyMT$ tumourigenic mouse model

Through the use of the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT mouse model, we have demonstrated a new role for CBF $\beta$  in the regulation of tumour latency and breast cancer progression in a luminal breast cancer context. To confirm that the phenotypes described were due to deletion of CBF $\beta$  in the mammary gland, western blotting was performed for CBF $\beta$  on mammary glands harvested from CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT and CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>+/+</sup>PyMT mice. The ensuing results show a clear deletion of CBF $\beta$  and activation of Cre in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT animals (Fig.5.3.A). Furthermore, we have shown that Runx2 expression is also down regulated in conjunction with CBF $\beta$  in these mice.

### CBF<sub>β</sub> regulates breast cancer progression

We have now shown that deletion of CBF $\beta$  in the mammary gland increases both tumour latency and overall survival in mice with mammary tumours. To further characterise the effects of CBF $\beta$  deletion in a luminal breast cancer context, we performed cross-sectional analysis using a 14-week-old cohort of CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT (N=8) and CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>+/+</sup>PyMT (N=10) mice. Mice were euthanised at 14 weeks of age and mammary glands were harvested for whole mount and histological analysis.

Whole mount analysis of the mammary glands collected shows a clear reduction in the severity of tumourigenesis in the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{tg/+}PyMT$  mammary glands to the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{+/+}PyMT$  control mice. These glands were subsequently processed and sectioned for histological analysis where haemotoxylin and eosin staining highlights the decreased amounts of hyperplasia in the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{tg/+}PyMT$  glands compared to the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{+/+}PyMT$  glands (Fig. 5.3.C).



B)

A)





### Fig. 5.3. Deletion of CBFβ in the mammary gland reduces the severity of breast tumourigenesis.

In a cross-sectional analysis,  $CBF\beta^{f'f}Cre^{tg'+}PyMT$  mice show less hyperplasticity compared to  $CBF\beta^{f'f}Cre^{+/+}PyMT$  animals due to deletion of  $CBF\beta$  in the mammary gland. A) Western blot showing a reduction in  $CBF\beta$  levels, decreased Runx2 levels and Cre activation in  $CBF\beta^{f'f}Cre^{tg/+}PyMT$  mammary glands from 14-week-old mice.  $CBF\beta$  deletion has been targeted only in epithelial cells therefore may still be present in other cells types, explaining the presence of  $CBF\beta$  bands in western blotting B) Representative whole mount mammary gland images depicting the differences in tumourigenesis between  $CBF\beta^{f'f}Cre^{tg/+}PyMT$  and  $CBF\beta^{f'f}Cre^{+/+}PyMT$  mice at 14 weeks of age. C) Haematoxylin and eosin staining on mammary glands depicting the differences in tumourigenesis between  $CBF\beta^{f'f}Cre^{tg/+}PyMT$  mice at 14 weeks of age (Representative images of N=4 mice for each genotype).

### CBF<sub>β</sub> regulates cancer cell proliferation in the PyMT mammary tumour model

We have previously shown that CBF $\beta$  regulates proliferation of both mammary epithelial cells and human breast cancer cells. Given that tumourigenesis is a process mediated by the ability of cells to proliferate, we investigated the affect of CBF $\beta$  deletion on the proliferation of mammary tumours in CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT mice by IHC staining for the proliferative marker Ki-67 (Fig. 5.4.A).

We observed a significant difference (p <0.0001) in the number of Ki-67 positive cells, with 31.5% (±3.2) of Ki-67 positive cells in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>+/+</sup>PyMT glands compared to only 4.4% (±1.7) of Ki67 positive cells in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT glands (Figure 5.4.B).

These results are similar to data observed in Chapter 4 where the rate of proliferation in human breast cancer cells was accelerated or reduced depending on CBF $\beta$  expression levels and indicates that CBF $\beta$  plays a key role in regulating breast cancer cell fate *in vivo* and *in vitro*.





A)





This panel shows a significant reduction in proliferation in the mammary glands of the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT mice compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>t++</sup>PyMT mice. A) Ki-67 IHC staining showing significantly less Ki-67 positive cells in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>+/+</sup>PyMT mammary glands from 14-week-old CBF $\beta$ PyMT mice. B) A histogram quantitating the significant decrease of Ki-67 positive cells in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT glands of 14-week-old CBF $\beta$ PyMT mammary glands compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>+/+</sup>PyMT glands (p <0.0001, Student's unpaired t-test). Error bars represent SEM (N=10).

# Mammary specific CBF $\beta$ deletion reduces both the incidence and severity of distal metastasis in the PyMT breast cancer model

Proliferation and migration are two of the major hallmarks of cancer (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000) and we have demonstrated that CBF $\beta$  regulates these two phenotypes in breast cancer cells *in vivo*.

In order to determine whether CBF $\beta$  deletion affected on the metastatic potential of breast cancer *in vivo*, a post mortem was performed on the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT and CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>+/+</sup>PyMT mice in order to determine whether metastases had formed in any distal organs. The lungs are the most common sites of metastasis in the PyMT model but all major organs were examined including brain, liver and kidney. We found that only the lungs of these animals had been affected by metastatic disease and as such, were harvested for gross morphology and histological analysis.

We saw no difference in the incidence of lung metastasis, irrespective of size or severity, in response to CBF $\beta$  deletion with 78.8% of CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>+/+</sup>PyMT mice (N=33) presenting with lung metastases versus 76.2% of CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT mice (N=21) (Fig. 5.5.A). Whilst there was no difference observed in the incidence of lung metas, there was a significant decrease in the severity of metastatic lung disease in CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT mice compared to the control population (Figure 5.5.B-E).

Photographs of the affected lungs in Figure 5.5.B clearly show that in terms of gross morphology, the lungs of  $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{tg/+}PyMT$  mice have substantially reduced metastatic disease than the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{+/+}PyMT$  mice. Both the size and number of the metastases are decreased in the  $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{tg/+}PyMT$  mice. This phenotype was confirmed in Figure 5.5.C by haemotoxylin and eosin staining, confirming the decrease of the size and number of lung metastases in  $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{tg/+}PyMT$  mice.

In addition to histological analysis, the number of lung metastases on each pair of lungs was counted before histological processing. These counts showed that lungs from a CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT mouse had an average of 48 metastases, which is significantly lower than the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>+/+</sup>PyMT mice with an average of 92 (p = 0.04) (Figure 5.5.E).

This data demonstrates a novel and critical role for CBF $\beta$  in the progression of breast cancer metastasis.









 $CBF\beta^{f/f}Cre^{+/+}PyMT$ 



Incidence of Lung Metastasis				
WT	78.8%			
КО	76.2%			

B)



### Fig. 5.5. Mammary specific deletion of CBFβ results in decreased incidence and severity of lung metastasis in mice.

CBF $\beta$  deletion in the mammary gland leads to decreased severity of metastatic lung disease in CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT animals. A) Table depicting the reduced incidence of secondary lung metastasis in CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT animals compared to CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>+/+</sup>PyMT mice. B) Images showing the gross morphological differences between the lungs of CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT animals compared to the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT animals. C) Haematoxylin and eosin staining of metastatic lungs show a decrease in the severity of metastasis in CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT mice compared to CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT mice. D) Histogram showing the severity of lung metastasis is significantly reduces in CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT animals (p = 0.04, Student's unpaired t-test). Error bars represent SEM.

D)

C)

140

#### Discussion

CBF $\beta$  has a well-defined role in haematopoietic cancers, primarily leukaemias but recent studies have begun to explore the role of CBF $\beta$  in solid tumours, where it appears to have an oncogenic function (Davis et al., 2010). The data described in this chapter shows that deletion of CBF $\beta$  leads to increased tumour latency and overall survival in a breast cancer context, further supporting the hypothesis that CBF $\beta$ functions as an oncogene in solid tumours.

We have also demonstrated that expression of CBF $\beta$  is required for breast cancer progression and metastasis, as indicated by the decreased hyperplasticity and severity of metastasis observed in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT mice. This data complements results from a Runx2 study undertaken by our lab that observed an increase in tumour latency and overall survival of mice when Runx2 is deleted in the mammary glands of PyMT mice (Owens et al., 2014).

It was not unexpected to see that the phenotypes observed though deletion of Runx2 or CBF $\beta$  were somewhat similar as they are binding partners and it is known that CBF $\beta$  acts to primarily stabilise Runx2 and increase the transcription efficiency of down stream targets (Ito, 2008; Qin et al., 2014; Yoshida, 2002). There was however a greater increase in the tumour latency period in the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT mice than in the Runx2<sup>-/-</sup> model. This may be due to the fact that deletion of CBF $\beta$  expression negates the functional redundancy that can exist between the Runx genes (Blyth et al., 2005), meaning that Runx1 and Runx3 are not able to compensate for the function of Runx2, which they are able to do in the Runx2<sup>-/-</sup> model.

There is also the potential that CBF $\beta$  deletion is having a greater effect on tumourfree and overall survival due to a Runx2-independent function. Recent studies have shown evidence that the functions of Runx2 and CBF $\beta$  are not always mutually exclusive and it has been suggested that the interaction between these two co-factors may be a potential target for therapeutics (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010). Furthermore, it has been shown in both prostate and ovarian cancer, that knocking down CBF $\beta$  expression leads to dysregulation of cell signalling pathways that play a role in malignancy (Davis et al., 2010). It is therefore evident that CBF $\beta$  is able to regulate of tumourigenesis and progression in solid cancers, including breast cancer. Previous studies reported that CBF $\beta$  might be necessary for breast cancer invasion in an *in vitro* context, indicating a role for CBF $\beta$  in the breast cancer metastasis (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010). We furthered this knowledge by generating the CBF $\beta^{f/f}$ Cre<sup>tg/+</sup>PyMT and observed a significant reduction in both the size and number of lung metastases in response to CBF $\beta$  deletion. This finding recapitulates the *in vitro* data described in Chapter 3 that demonstrated a novel role for CBF $\beta$  in breast cancer cell fate regulation and together, this study provides the first detailed description of the role of CBF $\beta$  in breast cancer.

The only other link between CBF $\beta$  and breast cancer comes from three independent studies sequenced a large array of human breast tumours that identified CBF $\beta$  as one of the most frequently mutated genes in luminal breast cancer (Banerji et al., 2012; CGAN, 2012; Ellis et al., 2012). The implication of this data is clear, that further investigation into CBF $\beta$  is required in regards to its involvement in breast carcinogenesis.

The data from this chapter describes a novel role for CBF $\beta$  in breast cancer tumourigenesis, progression and metastasis in an *in vivo* context. This is a pivotal discovery because up until this point there has been no *in vivo* data to recapitulate the limited data observed in breast cancer cell lines.

### 6. General Discussion

Mammary gland development occurs in precise and unique stages in response to series of regulatory hormones and genes that act on a smaller subset of transcription factors, essential in the control of mammary cell fate (Hennighausen & Robinson, 2005). Regulators of cell fate are crucial for normal developmental and offer potential targets for the management and treatment of breast cancer. The overarching aim of this thesis was to determine a novel regulator of mammary cell fate in the transcription factor CBF $\beta$  and to determine its implications in breast carcinogenesis and progression. We have now shown a definitive role for CBF $\beta$  in the regulation of mammary epithelial proliferation during ductal elongation and provided conclusive evidence that CBF $\beta$  controls breast cancer cell fate both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Deletion of CBF $\beta$  in the mouse mammary gland leads to significant increase in tumour latency and overall survival whilst also leads to a reduction in the severity of metastasis. These results confirmed *in vitro* data that showed significant change in the ability of breast cancer cells to migrate and proliferate in response to CBF $\beta$  expression levels.

Together these data provide the first insight into the role of CBF $\beta$  as a novel regulator of mammary gland development and breast cancer.

### CBF<sub>β</sub> regulates mammary epithelial cells during ductal elongation

The development of the mammary gland, from *in utero* to adulthood, is dynamic and complex in regards to both structure and signalling pathways. Considerable advancement has been made in regards to our current knowledge of the signalling pathways involved in the mediation of the genes and hormones that control the cyclical changes in the mammary gland that occur during sexual development and reproduction. The role transcription factors play in mammopoiesis however, is still under investigation (Visvader & Lindeman, 2003).

The foundations for this thesis were formed as a result of recent studies from our lab describing a novel role for Runx2 in regulation of luminal mammary progenitors, specifically during lobuloalveolar development (Owens et al., 2014). Runx2 represents one half of the CBF complex, which is an essential activator or repressor of transcription in both developmental systems and cancer, depending on the context (Tanaka et al., 1995). CBF $\beta$  constitutes the non-DNA binding element of this complex
and binding to CBF $\beta$  is compulsory for all three Runx proteins for efficient transcription of downstream targets (Ito, 2008). The original aim of this study was to exploit the common requirement for CBF $\beta$  by the Runx proteins in order to remove the element of redundancy between these transcription factors and therefore gain a better understanding of the role of Runx2 in the mammary gland. This thesis has instead elucidated an exciting and novel role for CBF $\beta$  in the mammary gland, independent of Runx2.

Whilst CBF $\beta$  expression is generally ubiquitous, Runx protein expression is tissuespecific (Adya et al., 2000; Hajra & Collins, 1995; Ogawa et al., 1993a; Wang et al., 1993). This is the first study to demonstrate that CBF $\beta$  is expressed in the mammary gland, specifically in the epithelial compartment (Chapter 3). Furthermore, it is now clear that CBF $\beta$  is developmentally regulated throughout mammopoiesis, exhibiting the same expression profile as Runx2 (Chapter3), providing the first evidence that CBF $\beta$  is involved in mammary gland development. Expression levels of CBF $\beta$  are highest during virgin development and relatively low during pregnancy and lactation, indicating the importance of CBF $\beta$  during development of the virgin gland.

 $CBF\beta$  is involved in controlling the expansion of the ductal network at the onset of post-natal mammopoiesis through regulation of mammary epithelial cell proliferation (Chapter 3). CBF $\beta$  has been shown to be an essential regulator of cell fate in other developmental systems, including haematopoiesis and osteogenesis (Coffman, 2003; Huang et al., 1999; Nagata et al., 1999). Interestingly, CBFB also controls the proliferation and differentiation of stem cells within these systems (Kurosaka et al., 2011), and may therefore be regulating mammary epithelial cell fate through a similar mechanism. This hypothesis is supported firstly by expression of  $CBF\beta$  in the myoepithelial compartment of the mammary epithelium (Chapter 3), which is where mammary stem cells are derived (Kendrick et al., 2008). The strongest evidence supporting a role for CBF $\beta$  in mammary stem cell regulation is the difference in the phenotypes observed between the two CBF $\beta$  knockout mouse models used in this study. When CBF<sub>β</sub> deletion was mediated by the BLG-Cre transgene, deletion occurred in more differentiated cells and no developmental defects were observed. In the inducible transplantation model where CBFβ deletion was driven by CreERT2, every mammary cell was targeted, including the stem/progenitor populations and as such a delay in

ductal elongation was observed, indicating that CBF $\beta$  may regulate the specification of the stem/progenitor cell populations. Furthermore, our lab has recently shown that Runx2 is required for the regulation of luminal progenitor populations throughout lobuloalveolar development (Owens et al., 2014) so it is clear that there is mounting evidence to suggest that the CBF complex as a whole, is crucial for stem/progenitor cell fate regulation in the mammary gland.

Interestingly, microarray analysis of CBF $\beta$  perturbation in breast cancer cells showed that CBF $\beta$  (Chapter 4) regulates the expression of several gene sets that encompass crucial signalling pathways associated with several aspects of mammary gland development and the regulation of stem/progenitor cells. Some of the major signalling pathways identified as differentially expressed in the microarray analysis include Hedgehog, WNT and FGF pathways, all of which are essential in mammary gland development breast cancer formation and progression. It has been shown previously that CBF $\beta$  functions to maintain stem cell populations and drives cell proliferation in tooth development through regulation of Fgf9 and Shh (Kurosaka et al., 2011) and it may therefore have a similar function in the mammary gland.

In order to fully elucidate if CBF $\beta$  is regulating mammary gland development through a stem cell mechanism it would be interesting to perform additional transplants, and then use mammary epithelium from these recipients in serial transplantation experiments. Serial transplants would allow us to determine whether or not the proliferative defect we believe exists in the mammary stem cells of CBF $\beta^{-/-}$  glands, becomes compounded over time and would finally result in complete failure of ductal elongation.

The identification of a role for CBF $\beta$  in the regulation of ductal extension of the mammary epithelium provides further insight into how this crucial phase of mammopoiesis is regulated. The importance of fully understanding the mechanisms behind ductal extension and branching morphogenesis is highlight by the statistics that show almost 90% of human breast cancers originating in the ductal cells of the mammary epithelium. CBF $\beta$  and its downstream targets may therefore provide potential therapeutic targets, which would ultimately increase the prognosis and outcome for breast cancer patients.

## A role for $CBF\beta$ in the regulation of breast cancer cell fate

Breast cancer is highly prevalent in society and whilst the statistics and prognosis are relative positive for those diagnosed at the primary stage, there is still a very high mortality and morbidity rate for those patients who present with distal metastases, indicating that further investigation into the mechanisms behind how these tumour cells are able to escape the mammary gland and colonise areas such as the brain, lungs and the bone.

Breast cancer is a heterogeneous disease and therefore individual tumours, even within the same patient, can be under the regulation of multiple hormones, oncogenes and transcription factors. The key to increasing the long-term survival rates of breast cancer lies in identifying these regulatory pathways and the factors that control them.

This thesis has aimed to identify a novel regulator of breast cancer cell fate by investigating the role of CBF $\beta$ , a transcription factor we have now shown to be essential for both the developing mammary gland and also breast tumourigenesis and progression both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. This is an exciting development as there has been little data linking CBF $\beta$  to breast cancer and only in an *in vitro* context.

CBF $\beta$  has been primarily known for its role in leukaemias, where it has been shown to be involved in translocation, dominant negatives events and formation of fusion proteins in conjunction primarily with Runx1 (Adya et al., 1998; Look, 1997; Lutterbach et al., 1999). There is also evidence that CBF $\beta$  is down regulated in gastric cancers along with Runx1 and 3 (Sakakura et al., 2005), indicating, a possible tumoursuppressor role for CBF $\beta$  in these cancers. However, one of the hallmarks of the CBF complex is that these transcription factors can act as both tumour-suppressors and oncogenes through the repression or activation of down stream targets depending on the context (Blyth et al., 2005).

Whilst there is almost a complete lack of data at present that describes a role for CBF $\beta$  in solid tumours, the evidence that does exist is indicative of an oncogenic function. It has been shown that knocking down CBF $\beta$  in prostate and ovarian cancer cell lines leads to inhibition of tumour growth when the cells are xenografted into mice (Davis et al., 2010). Furthermore, it has been shown through gene expression profiling, that several developmental and cell signaling pathways associated with malignancy are perturbed in these cells, indicating that CBF $\beta$  is potentially required for tumourigenesis in certain solid tumours (Davis et al., 2010). The data in this thesis also suggests an

oncogenic function for CBF $\beta$  as breast tumourigenesis was significantly delayed as a result of CBF $\beta$  deletion.

A previous study examining the role of Runx2 in breast cancer indicated that CBF $\beta$  might play a role in the invasive potential of breast cancer cells *in vitro* (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2010). We have extended upon this data and have now demonstrated that CBF $\beta$  is able to regulate the ability of breast cancer cells to proliferate and migrate *in vitro* (Chapter 4) and controls tumourigenesis and proliferation *in vivo* (Chapter 5). In addition, deletion of CBF $\beta$  leads to a significant reduction in the severity of lung metastasis in PyMT mice, demonstrating that CBF $\beta$  can also influence breast cancer progression (Chapter 5). This is the first study to investigate the role of CBF $\beta$  in an *in vivo* breast cancer model and clearly demonstrates that CBF $\beta$  regulates essential aspects of cell fate that drive aggressive and metastatic phenotypes that are attributed to poor prognosis in beast cancer.

In order to deduce the potential mechanism behind CBFB mediated regulation of breast cancer cell fate, we performed microarrays and subsequent differential gene and GSEA analysis on breast cancer cells where CBF<sub>β</sub> expression was perturbed (Chapter 4). These analyses showed that CBF $\beta$  significantly regulates genes involved in the essential WNT and Hedgehog signalling pathways, which have well-documented roles in both mammary gland development and also breast cancer (Howe & Brown, 2004; Kasper et al., 2009). GSEA analysis showed that perturbed CBF<sup>β</sup> expression correlated with the expression of numerous breast cancer specific gene sets including Smid Breast Cancer Luminal A Up, Smid Breast Cancer Normal Like Up, Zhang Breast Cancer Progenitors, Biocarta ECM Pathway, Biocarta Met Pathway, Zhou Cell Cycle and Pujana BrCa Centered Network. Within these gene sets, there are multiple genes significantly regulated by CBF<sup>β</sup> that are components of signalling pathways involved in mammary gland development and breast cancer, including; Brca1 and 2, Smad1, 2,4 and 5, Ihh and  $\beta$ -catenin interacting protein 1. The signalling pathways represented here are Hedgehog, WNT and TGFB, which have proven roles in mammary gland development and have been implicated in breast cancer and suggest that CBF<sup>β</sup> regulates breast cancer cell phenotype potentially through these pathways.

In regards to CBF $\beta$  and WNT signalling, a previous study has shown that CBF $\beta$  regulates expression on the WNT-antagonist, Sclerostin, which may play a role in the

ability of breast cancer cells to mediated osteoblast differentiation and ultimately the spread of breast cancer to the bone (Mendoza-Villanueva et al., 2011). Furthermore, there is evidence of Runx2 dependent cross talk between WNT and TGF $\beta$  signalling pathways in osteoblasts (McCarthy & Centrella, 2010). The fact that CBF $\beta$  has now been shown to regulate several Smad proteins, it is possible that CBF $\beta$  also plays a role in the cross talk occurring between these pathways.

In addition, it has been shown that TGF $\beta$  is able to regulate expression of MMP9 in a Smad dependent manner in order to regulate breast cancer cell invasion (Wiercinska et al., 2011). The significance of this is that our lab has previously found MMP9 to be significantly regulated by Runx2 and although we did not observe any significant change in response to CBF $\beta$  expression, we do know that CBF $\beta$  increases the stability and DNA-binding affinity of Runx2. Therefore, it is possible that CBF $\beta$  is playing either a supportive role in this interaction through Runx2 binding or it is acting on the Smad proteins in a more direct manner.

As stated previously, the primary aim of this thesis was to identify novel regulators of mammary gland development and cell fate as it is a well-accepted paradigm that these factors are often perturbed in cancer. In order to fully understand and better treat breast cancer it is essential to understand its origins, a task made difficult due to the heterogeneity of this disease. We have now shown, for the first time that CBF $\beta$  transcriptionally regulates ductal extension in the mammary gland through controlling the proliferation of mammary epithelial cells and potentially, mammary stem cells. Furthermore, CBF $\beta$  has now been shown to control breast cancer cell fate both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, whilst differentially regulating several genes, gene sets and signalling pathways that have been implicated in breast cancer. Two of these pathways, WNT and Hedgehog, have been shown to regulate the existence of both multipotent mammary stem cells and luminal stem/progenitor cells respectively, the dysregulation of which has been shown to lead to breast cancer formation. It is therefore possible that CBF $\beta$  is acting to control mammary stem cell fate through cross talk between these pathways.

Whilst the exact mechanisms by which CBF $\beta$  regulates mammary gland development and breast cancer remains to be determined, the data produced in this thesis has conclusively shown a novel for CBF $\beta$  as a new regulator of mammary gland development and breast cancer cell phenotype.

## **Future Directions**

This thesis has described several novel roles for  $CBF\beta$  in the regulation of cell fate in both mammary gland development and breast cancer, however the mechanism behind this control is yet to be fully elucidated.

It is clear that CBF $\beta$  is acting to regulate the process of ductal extension in early mammary gland development through controlling the proliferation of mammary epithelial cells. The *in vivo* data and microarray data described in this thesis indicate that CBF $\beta$  may be involved in the regulation of mammary stem/progenitor cell populations and as mentioned previously, serial transplantation experiments would assist in confirming this hypothesis. Furthermore, it would be interesting to harvest cells from the CBF $\beta^{-/-}$  transplants and assess the populations of stem and progenitor cell lineages using FACS sorting based on specific markers for these populations.

This method would allow further interrogation of the mammary cell populations that are controlled by CBFβ.

In regards to the role of CBF $\beta$  in the direction of breast cancer cell fate, it would be informative to examine the affects of perturbing CBF $\beta$  levels in additional breast cancer cells lines, representative of all major subtypes, to confirm the phenotypes seen in this thesis. It would also be interesting to assess the ability of CBF $\beta$  to control the formation of tumour spheres in culture, an assay that would complement the proliferation and migration data described.

We have shown that CBF $\beta$  deletion is able to increase tumour latency and overall survival in mice with mammary tumours and that it also leads to a decrease in the severity of metastasis. In order to build on this data, it would be informative to use xenografting techniques to inject breast cancer cells with altered CBF $\beta$  levels into mice, either through the nipple or tail vein, in order to assess the ability of these cells to metastasise. Given the mounting evidence that the Runx2/CBF $\beta$  complex may be regulating the progression and colonisation of breast cancer cells to the bone, it would be advisable to use cell lines that are known to target the bone, such as MDA-MB-231 or 4T1.2 cells. These experiments would confirm that CBF $\beta$  is able to reprogramme breast cancer cell fate and regulate metastasis.

In Chapter 4 we show preliminary data showing the first evidence that CBF $\beta$  is expressed in human breast tumour. Further analysis should be performed using this

cohort of human breast tumors in order to ascertain whether CBF $\beta$  expression correlates with the size, stage and subtype of breast tumours as well as with diagnostic molecular markers such as ER, PR and HER2. This would allow insight into whether CBF $\beta$  can function as a diagnostic or prognostic marker for breast cancer patients and could potentially leads to the development of new treatments and targets.

Finally, additional analysis needs to be performed on the data produced by the microarrays performed on human breast cancer cell lines with perturbed CBF $\beta$  expression. The data so far confirms that CBF $\beta$  regulated numerous gene sets that are involved in many aspects of both mammary gland development and breast carcinogenesis and metastasis. There was minimal correlation at the gene level however, and further analysis is required to determine direct downstream targets of CBF $\beta$ , the validity of which could then be assessed by RT-qPCR and functional *in vitro* assays.

The principal paradigm behind this thesis is that many of the genes implicated in breast cancer have been shown to play important roles in the development of the mammary gland. In recent years, the transcriptional regulators of mammary cell fate have shown to play essential roles in the ability of breast cancer cells to proliferate, migrate, invade and colonise secondary sites, ultimately resulting in the poor prognosis for metastatic breast cancer. It is therefore essential that we continue to explore the factors that control cell fate decisions in mammary gland development in order to better treat and potentially find a cure for breast cancer.

## References

Adya, N., Castilla, L., & Liu, P. (2000). *Function of CBF\beta/Bro proteins*. Paper presented at the Seminars in cell & developmental biology.

Adya, N., Stacy, T., Speck, N. A., & Liu, P. P. (1998). The leukemic protein core binding factor  $\beta$  (CBF $\beta$ )–smooth-muscle myosin heavy chain sequesters CBF $\alpha$ 2 into cytoskeletal filaments and aggregates. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *18*(12), 7432-7443.

Akhtar, N., Marlow, R., Lambert, E., Schatzmann, F., Lowe, E. T., Cheung, J., Katz, E., Li, W., Wu, C., & Dedhar, S. (2009). Molecular dissection of integrin signalling proteins in the control of mammary epithelial development and differentiation. *Development*, *136*(6), 1019-1027.

Akhtar, N., & Streuli, C. H. (2006). Rac1 links integrin-mediated adhesion to the control of lactational differentiation in mammary epithelia. *The Journal of cell biology*, *173*(5), 781-793.

Akimoto, T., Kawabe, S., Grothey, A., & Milas, L. (1999). Low E-cadherin and  $\beta$ catenin expression correlates with increased spontaneous and artificial lung metastases of murine carcinomas. *Clinical & experimental metastasis*, *17*(2), 171-176.

Ali, S. A., Zaidi, S. K., Dacwag, C. S., Salma, N., Young, D. W., Shakoori, A. R., Montecino, M. A., Lian, J. B., Van Wijnen, A. J., & Imbalzano, A. N. (2008).
Phenotypic transcription factors epigenetically mediate cell growth control. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 105(18), 6632-6637.

Allen, E., Byron F. Francis, Leroy L. Robertson, Cleon E. Colgate, Charles G. Johnston, Edward A. Doisy, William B. Kountz, and Harry V. Gibson. (1924). The hormone of the ovarian follicle; its localization and action in test animals, and additional points bearing upon the internal secretion of the ovary. *American Journal of Anatomy*, *34*, 133-181.

Andl, T., Reddy, S. T., Gaddapara, T., & Millar, S. E. (2002). WNT signals are required for the initiation of hair follicle development. *Developmental cell, 2*(5), 643-653.

Andreasen, P. A., Kjøller, L., Christensen, L., & Duffy, M. J. (1997). The urokinase type plasminogen activator system in cancer metastasis: a review. *International Journal of Cancer*, 72(1), 1-22.

Asselin-Labat, M.-L., Sutherland, K. D., Barker, H., Thomas, R., Shackleton, M., Forrest, N. C., Hartley, L., Robb, L., Grosveld, F. G., & van der Wees, J. (2007). Gata-3 is an essential regulator of mammary-gland morphogenesis and luminal-cell differentiation. *Nature cell biology*, *9*(2), 201-209.

Attia, M. A., & Weiss, D. W. (1966). Immunology of spontaneous mammary carcinomas in mice V. Acquired tumor resistance and enhancement in strain A mice infected with mammary tumor virus. *Cancer Research*, *26*(8 Part 1), 1787-1800.

Aza-Blanc, P., Lin, H.-Y., i Altaba, A. R., & Kornberg, T. B. (2000). Expression of the vertebrate Gli proteins in Drosophila reveals a distribution of activator and repressor activities. *Development*, *127*(19), 4293-4301.

Bae, S.-C., Takahashi, E.-i., Zhang, Y. W., Ogawa, E., Shigesada, K., Namba, Y., Satake, M., & Ito, Y. (1995). Cloning, mapping and expression of PEBP2 $\alpha$ C, a third gene encoding the mammalian Runt domain. *Gene*, *159*(2), 245-248.

Balinksy, B. I. (1950). On the pre-natal growth of the mammary gland rudiment in the mouse. *Journal of Anatomy*, *84*, 227-235.

Banerji, S., Cibulskis, K., Rangel-Escareno, C., Brown, K. K., Carter, S. L., Frederick, A. M., Lawrence, M. S., Sivachenko, A. Y., Sougnez, C., & Zou, L. (2012). Sequence analysis of mutations and translocations across breast cancer subtypes. *Nature*, *486*(7403), 405-409.

Barker, H. E., Chang, J., Cox, T. R., Lang, G., Bird, D., Nicolau, M., Evans, H. R., Gartland, A., & Erler, J. T. (2011). LOXL2-mediated matrix remodeling in metastasis and mammary gland involution. *Cancer Research*, *71*(5), 1561-1572.

Barnes, G. L., Hebert, Kerri E., Kamal, Mohammad, Javed, Amjad, Einhorn, Thomas A., Lian, Jane B., Stein, Gary S., Gerstenfeld, Louis C. (2004). Fidelity of Runx2 Activity in Breast Cancer Cells Is Required for the Generation of Metastases-Associated Osteolytic Disease. *Cancer Res, 64*, 4506-4513.

Barnes, G. L., Javed, A., Waller, S. M., Kamal, M. H., Hebert, K. E., Hassan, M. Q., Bellahcene, A., Van Wijnen, A. J., Young, M. F., & Lian, J. B. (2003). Osteoblast-related transcription factors Runx2 (Cbfa1/AML3) and MSX2 mediate the expression of bone sialoprotein in human metastatic breast cancer cells. *Cancer Research, 63*(10), 2631-2637.

Blyth, K., Cameron, E. R., & Neil, J. C. (2005). The RUNX genes: gain or loss of function in cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 5(5), 376-387.

Blyth, K., Vaillant, F., Jenkins, A., McDonald, L., Pringle, M. A., Huser, C., Stein, T., Neil, J., & Cameron, E. R. (2010). Runx2 in normal tissues and cancer cells: A developing story. *Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases, 45*(2), 117-123.

Bonnette, S. G., & Hadsell, D. L. (2001). Targeted disruption of the IGF-I receptor gene decreases cellular proliferation in mammary terminal end buds. *Endocrinology*, *142*(11), 4937-4945.

Boras-Granic, K., Chang, H., Grosschedl, R., & Hamel, P. A. (2006). Lef1 is required for the transition of Wnt signaling from mesenchymal to epithelial cells in the mouse embryonic mammary gland. *Developmental Biology*, *295*(1), 219-231.

Bouras, T., Pal, B., Vaillant, F., Harburg, G., Asselin-Labat, M.-L., Oakes, S. R., Lindeman, G. J., & Visvader, J. E. (2008). Notch signaling regulates mammary stem cell function and luminal cell-fate commitment. *Cell stem cell*, *3*(4), 429-441.

Brew, K., Dinakarpandian, D., & Nagase, H. (2000). Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: evolution, structure and function. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*)-*Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology*, 1477(1), 267-283.

Brisken, C., Heineman, A., Chavarria, T., Elenbaas, B., Tan, J., Dey, S. K., McMahon, J. A., McMahon, A. P., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). Essential function of Wnt-4 in mammary gland development downstream of progesterone signaling. *Genes & development*, *14*(6), 650-654.

Brisken, C., Kaur, S., Chavarria, T. E., Binart, N., Sutherland, R. L., Weinberg, R. A., Kelly, P. A., & Ormandy, C. J. (1999). Prolactin controls mammary gland development via direct and indirect mechanisms. *Developmental Biology*, *210*(1), 96-106.

Brisken, C., Park, S., Vass, T., Lydon, J. P., O'Malley, B. W., & Weinberg, R. A. (1998). A paracrine role for the epithelial progesterone receptor in mammary gland development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *95*(9), 5076-5081.

CGAN. (2012). Comprehensive molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature*, *490*(7418), 61-70.

Chakravarty, G., Hadsell, D., Buitrago, W., Settleman, J., & Rosen, J. M. (2003). p190-B RhoGAP regulates mammary ductal morphogenesis. *Molecular endocrinology*, *17*(6), 1054-1065.

Chambers, A. F., & Matrisian, L. M. (1997). Changing views of the role of matrix metalloproteinases in metastasis. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 89(17), 1260-1270.

Chapman, R. S., Lourenco, P. C., Tonner, E., Flint, D. J., Selbert, S., Takeda, K., Akira, S., Clarke, A. R., & Watson, C. J. (1999). Suppression of epithelial apoptosis and delayed mammary gland involution in mice with a conditional knockout of Stat3. *Genes & development, 13*(19), 2604-2616.

Chen, F., & Capecchi, M. R. (1999). Paralogous mouse Hox genes, Hoxa9, Hoxb9, and Hoxd9, function together to control development of the mammary gland in response to pregnancy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *96*(2), 541-546.

Chimge, N.-O., Baniwal, S. K., Little, G. H., Chen, Y., Kahn, M., Tripathy, D., Borok, Z., & Frenkel, B. (2011). Regulation of breast cancer metastasis by Runx2 and estrogen signaling: the role of SNAI2. *Breast Cancer Res, 13*(6), R127.

Cho, K.-W., Kim, J.-Y., Song, S.-J., Farrell, E., Eblaghie, M. C., Kim, H.-J., Tickle, C., & Jung, H.-S. (2006). Molecular interactions between Tbx3 and Bmp4 and a model for dorsoventral positioning of mammary gland development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *103*(45), 16788-16793.

Chu, E. Y., Hens, J., Andl, T., Kairo, A., Yamaguchi, T. P., Brisken, C., Glick, A., Wysolmerski, J. J., & Millar, S. E. (2004). Canonical WNT signaling promotes mammary placode development and is essential for initiation of mammary gland morphogenesis. *Development*, *131*(19), 4819-4829.

Coffman, J. A. (2003). Runx transcription factors and the developmental balance between cell proliferation and differentiation. *Cell biology international*, *27*(4), 315-324.

Coleman, R., & Rubens, R. (1987). The clinical course of bone metastases from breast cancer. *British journal of cancer*, *55*(1), 61.

Cunha, G., Young, P., Christov, K., Guzman, R., Nandi, S., Talamantes, F., & Thordarson, G. (1995). Mammary phenotypic expression induced in epidermal cells by embryonic mammary mesenchyme. *Cells Tissues Organs, 152*(3), 195-204.

Cunha, G., Young, P., Hom, Y., Cooke, P., Taylor, J., & Lubahn, D. (1997). Elucidation of a role for stromal steroid hormone receptors in mammary gland growth and development using tissue recombinants. *Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia*, *2*(4), 393-402.

Cunha, G. R., & Hom, Y. K. (1996). Role of mesenchymal-epithelial interactions in mammary gland development. *Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia*, *1*(1), 21-35.

Daniel, C. W., De Ome, K. B., Young, J., Blair, P. B., & Faulkin Jr, L. (1968). The in vivo life span of normal and preneoplastic mouse mammary glands: a serial transplantation study. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *61*(1), 53.

Daniel, C. W., Robinson, S., Silberstein, G. B. (1996). The role of TGF-b in patterning and growth of the mammary ductal tree. *J Mammary Glan Biol Neoplasia*, *1*, 331-341.

Daniel, C. W., & Young, L. (1971). Influence of cell division on an aging process: life span of mouse mammary epithelium during serial propagation in vivo. *Experimental cell research*, 65(1), 27-32.

Darnell, J. E. (1997). STATs and gene regulation. Science, 277(5332), 1630-1635.

Das, A., Yaqoob, U., Mehta, D., & Shah, V. H. (2009). FXR promotes endothelial cell motility through coordinated regulation of FAK and MMP-9. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 29*(4), 562-570.

Davenport, T. G., Jerome-Majewska, L. A., & Papaioannou, V. E. (2003). Mammary gland, limb and yolk sac defects in mice lacking Tbx3, the gene mutated in human ulnar mammary syndrome. *Development*, *130*(10), 2263-2273.

Davis, J. N., Rogers, D., Adams, L., Yong, T., Jung, J. S., Cheng, B., Fennell, K., Borazanci, E., Moustafa, Y. W., & Sun, A. (2010). Association of core - binding factor  $\beta$  with the malignant phenotype of prostate and ovarian cancer cells. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 225(3), 875-887.

Dent, R., Trudeau, M., Pritchard, K., Hanna, W., Kahn, H., Sawka, C., Lickley, L., Rawlinson, E., Sun, P. and Narod, S. (2007). Triple-Negative Breast Cancer: Clinical Features and Patterns of Recurrence. *Clinical Cancer Research* 13; 4429

De Ome, K. (1959). Faulla. n, LI Jr., Bern, HA and Blair, PB, 1959, Development of mammary tumors from hyperplastic alveolar nodules transplanted into gland-free mammary fat pads of female C3H mice. *Cancer Res, 19*, 515.

Duffy, M. J., Maguire, T. M., Hill, A., McDermott, E., & O'Higgins, N. (2000). Metalloproteinases: role in breast carcinogenesis, invasion and metastasis. *Breast Cancer Research*, 2(4), 252.

E Ogawa, M. M., H Kagoshima, M Inuzuka, J Lu, M Satake, K Shigesada, Y Ito. (1993b). PEBP2/PEA2 represents a family of transcription factors homologous to the products of the Drosophila runt gene and the human AML1 gene *PNAS*, *90*(14), 6859-6863.

Earp, H. S., Dawson, T. L., Li, X., & Yu, H. (1995). Heterodimerization and functional interaction between EGF receptor family members: a new signaling paradigm with implications for breast cancer research. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 35*(1), 115-132.

Eblaghie, M. C., Song, S. J., Kim, J. Y., Akita, K., Tickle, C., & Jung, H. S. (2004). Interactions between FGF and Wnt signals and Tbx3 gene expression in mammary gland initiation in mouse embryos. *Journal of Anatomy*, *205*(1), 1-13.

Ellis, M. J., Ding, L., Shen, D., Luo, J., Suman, V. J., Wallis, J. W., Van Tine, B. A., Hoog, J., Goiffon, R. J., & Goldstein, T. C. (2012). Whole-genome analysis informs breast cancer response to aromatase inhibition. *Nature*, *486*(7403), 353-360.

Enomoto, H., Shiojiri, S., Hoshi, K., Furuichi, T., Fukuyama, R., Yoshida, C. A., Kanatani, N., Nakamura, R., Mizuno, A., & Zanma, A. (2003). Induction of Osteoclast Differentiation by Runx2 through Receptor Activator of Nuclear Factor-κB Ligand (RANKL) and Osteoprotegerin Regulation and Partial Rescue of Osteoclastogenesis in Runx2–/–Mice by RANKL Transgene. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *278*(26), 23971-23977.

Ewan, K. B., Shyamala, G., Ravani, S. A., Tang, Y., Akhurst, R., Wakefield, L., & Barcellos-Hoff, M. H. (2002). Latent transforming growth factor- $\beta$  activation in mammary gland: regulation by ovarian hormones affects ductal and alveolar proliferation. *The American journal of pathology, 160*(6), 2081-2093.

Fantl, V., Stamp, G., Andrews, A., Rosewell, I., & Dickson, C. (1995). Mice lacking cyclin D1 are small and show defects in eye and mammary gland development. *Genes & development*, *9*(19), 2364-2372.

Fata, J. E., Kong, Y.-Y., Li, J., Sasaki, T., Irie-Sasaki, J., Moorehead, R. A., Elliott, R., Scully, S., Voura, E. B., & Lacey, D. L. (2000). The osteoclast differentiation factor osteoprotegerin-ligand is essential for mammary gland development. *Cell, 103*(1), 41-50.

Fears, S., Vignon, C., Bohlander, S. K., Smith, S., Rowley, J. D., & Nucifora, G. (1996). Correlation between the ETV6/CBFA2 (TEL/AMLI) fusion gene and karyotypic abnormalities in children with B - cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer, 17*(2), 127-135.

Ferrari, N., McDonald, L., Morris, J. S., Cameron, E. R., & Blyth, K. (2013). RUNX2 in mammary gland development and breast cancer. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, *228*(6), 1137-1142.

Foley, J., Dann, P., Hong, J., Cosgrove, J., Dreyer, B., Rimm, D., Dunbar, M., Philbrick, W., & Wysolmerski, J. (2001). Parathyroid hormone-related protein maintains mammary epithelial fate and triggers nipple skin differentiation during embryonic breast development. *Development*, *128*(4), 513-525.

Förster, C., Mäkela, S., Wärri, A., Kietz, S., Becker, D., Hultenby, K., Warner, M., & Gustafsson, J.-Å. (2002). Involvement of estrogen receptor  $\beta$  in terminal differentiation of mammary gland epithelium. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *99*(24), 15578-15583.

Forus, A., Weghuis, D. O., Smeets, D., Fodstad, Ø., Myklebost, O., & van Kessel, A. G. (1995). Comparative genomic hybridization analysis of human sarcomas: II. Identification of novel amplicons at 6p and 17p in osteosarcomas. *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer, 14*(1), 15-21.

Freeman, V., van't Hof, M., Haschke, F., & Group, E.-G. S. (2000). Patterns of milk and food intake in infants from birth to age 36 months: the Euro-growth study. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition*, *31*, S76-S85.

Friedmann, Y., & Daniel, C. W. (1996). Regulated Expression of Homeobox Genes Msx-1 and Msx-2 in Mouse Mammary Gland Development Suggests a Role in Hormone Action and Epithelial–Stromal Interactions. *Developmental Biology*, *177*(1), 347-355.

Fujita, T., Azuma, Y., Fukuyama, R., Hattori, Y., Yoshida, C., Koida, M., Ogita, K., & Komori, T. (2004). Runx2 induces osteoblast and chondrocyte differentiation and enhances their migration by coupling with PI3K-Akt signaling. *The Journal of cell biology*, *166*(1), 85-95.

Gallahan, D., Jhappan, C., Robinson, G., Hennighausen, L., Sharp, R., Kordon, E., Callahan, R., Merlino, G., & Smith, G. H. (1996). Expression of a truncated Int3 gene in developing secretory mammary epithelium specifically retards lobular differentiation resulting in tumorigenesis. *Cancer Research*, *56*(8), 1775-1785.

Gallego, M. I., Binart, N., Robinson, G. W., Okagaki, R., Coschigano, K. T., Perry, J., Kopchick, J. J., Oka, T., Kelly, P. A., & Hennighausen, L. (2001). Prolactin, growth hormone, and epidermal growth factor activate Stat5 in different compartments of mammary tissue and exert different and overlapping developmental effects. *Developmental Biology*, *229*(1), 163-175.

Gamou, T., Kitamura, E., Hosoda, F., Shimizu, K., Shinohara, K., Hayashi, Y., Nagase, T., Yokoyama, Y., & Ohki, M. (1998). The partner gene of AML1 in t (16; 21) myeloid malignancies is a novel member of the MTG8 (ETO) family. *Blood*, *91*(11), 4028-4037.

Giancotti, F. G., & Tarone, G. (2003). Positional control of cell fate through joint integrin/receptor protein kinase signaling. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology*, 19(1), 173-206.

Goel, A., Arnold, C. N., Tassone, P., Chang, D. K., Niedzwiecki, D., Dowell, J. M., Wasserman, L., Compton, C., Mayer, R. J., & Bertagnolli, M. M. (2004). Epigenetic inactivation of RUNX3 in microsatellite unstable sporadic colon cancers. *International Journal of Cancer*, *112*(5), 754-759.

Golub, T. R., Barker, G. F., Bohlander, S. K., Hiebert, S. W., Ward, D. C., Bray-Ward, P., Morgan, E., Raimondi, S. C., Rowley, J. D., & Gilliland, D. G. (1995). Fusion of the TEL gene on 12p13 to the AML1 gene on 21q22 in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *92*(11), 4917-4921.

Graham, J. D., & Clarke, C. L. (1997). Physiological Action of Progesterone in Target Tissues 1. *Endocrine reviews*, *18*(4), 502-519.

Grimm, S. L., Seagroves, T. N., Kabotyanski, E. B., Hovey, R. C., Vonderhaar, B. K., Lydon, J. P., Miyoshi, K., Hennighausen, L., Ormandy, C. J., & Lee, A. V. (2002). Disruption of steroid and prolactin receptor patterning in the mammary gland correlates with a block in lobuloalveolar development. *Molecular endocrinology*, *16*(12), 2675-2691.

Gritli-Linde, A., Hallberg, K., Harfe, B. D., Reyahi, A., Kannius-Janson, M., Nilsson, J., Cobourne, M. T., Sharpe, P. T., McMahon, A. P., & Linde, A. (2007). Abnormal hair development and apparent follicular transformation to mammary gland in the absence of hedgehog signaling. *Developmental cell*, *12*(1), 99-112.

Hajra, A., & Collins, F. S. (1995). Structure of the leukemia-associated human CBFB gene. *Genomics*, *26*(3), 571-579.

Halban, J. (1900). Die innere Sekretion von Ovarium und Placenta und ihre Bedeutung fuer die Milchdruese. . *Mschr Geburtsh Gynaek, 12*, 496-503.

Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. Cell, 100(1), 57-70.

Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell, 144*(5), 646-674.

Hatsell, S. J., & Cowin, P. (2006). Gli3-mediated repression of Hedgehog targets is required for normal mammary development. *Development*, *133*(18), 3661-3670.

Heckman, B. M., Chakravarty, G., Vargo-Gogola, T., Gonzales-Rimbau, M., Hadsell, D. L., Lee, A. V., Settleman, J., & Rosen, J. M. (2007). Crosstalk between the p190-B RhoGAP and IGF signaling pathways is required for embryonic mammary bud development. *Developmental Biology*, *309*(1), 137-149.

Hennighausen, L., & Robinson, G. W. (1998). Think globally, act locally: the making of a mouse mammary gland. *Genes & development*, *12*(4), 449-455.

Hennighausen, L., & Robinson, G. W. (2001). Signaling pathways in mammary gland development. *Developmental cell*, *1*, 467-475.

Hennighausen, L., & Robinson, G. W. (2005). Information networks in the mammary gland. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 6(9), 715-725.

Hennighausen, L., Robinson, G. W., Wagner, K.-U., & Liu, X. (1997). Prolactin signaling in mammary gland development. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(12), 7567-7569.

Hens, J. R., Dann, P., Zhang, J.-P., Harris, S., Robinson, G. W., & Wysolmerski, J. (2007). BMP4 and PTHrP interact to stimulate ductal outgrowth during embryonic mammary development and to inhibit hair follicle induction. *Development*, *134*(6), 1221-1230.

Hens, J. R., & Wysolmerski, J. J. (2005). Key stages of mammary gland development: molecular mechanisms involved in the formation of the embryonic mammary gland. *Breast Cancer Research*, 7(5), 220.

Hinck, L., & Silberstein, G. B. (2005). The mammary end bud as a motile organ. *Breast Cancer Research*, 7(6), 245.

Horseman, N. D., Zhao, W., Montecino - Rodriguez, E., Tanaka, M., Nakashima, K., Engle, S. J., Smith, F., Markoff, E., & Dorshkind, K. (1997). Defective mammopoiesis,

but normal hematopoiesis, in mice with a targeted disruption of the prolactin gene. *The EMBO journal*, *16*(23), 6926-6935.

Hoshino, K., & Gardner, W. U. (1967). Transplantability and life span of mammary gland during serial transplantation in mice.

Howard, B., Panchal, H., McCarthy, A., & Ashworth, A. (2005). Identification of the scaramanga gene implicates Neuregulin3 in mammary gland specification. *Genes & development*, *19*(17), 2078-2090.

Howe, L. R., & Brown, A. M. (2004). Wnt signaling and breast cancer. *Cancer Biology* and *Therapy*, *3*(1), 36-41.

Hu, G., Lee, H., Price, S. M., Shen, M. M., & Abate-Shen, C. (2001). Msx homeobox genes inhibit differentiation through upregulation of cyclin D1. *Development*, *128*(12), 2373-2384.

Huang, G., Osato, M., Shigesada, K., & Ito, Y. (2001). *Identification of the second domain in PEBP2b (CBFb)/SMMHC which interacts with RUNX1*. Paper presented at the Blood.

Huang, X., Peng, J. W., Speck, N. A., & Bushweller, J. H. (1999). Solution structure of core binding factor  $\beta$  and map of the CBF $\alpha$  binding site. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, *6*(7), 624-627.

Humphreys, R. C., & Hennighausen, L. (1999). Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5a influences mammary epithelial cell survival and tumorigenesis. *Cell growth & differentiation: the molecular biology journal of the American Association for Cancer Research, 10*(10), 685-694.

Humphreys, R. C., Lydon, J., O'Malley, B. W., & Rosen, J. M. (1997). Mammary gland development is mediated by both stromal and epithelial progesterone receptors. *Molecular endocrinology*, *11*(6), 801-811.

Ihle, J. N. (1996). STATs: signal transducers and activators of transcription. *Cell*, *84*(3), 331-334.

Ilkbahar, Y., Thordarson, G., Camarillo, I., & Talamantes, F. (1999). Differential expression of the growth hormone receptor and growth hormone-binding protein in epithelia and stroma of the mouse mammary gland at various physiological stages. *Journal of Endocrinology*, *161*(1), 77-87.

Inman, C. K., Li, N., & Shore, P. (2005). Oct-1 counteracts autoinhibition of Runx2 DNA binding to form a novel Runx2/Oct-1 complex on the promoter of the mammary gland-specific gene  $\beta$ -casein. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 25(8), 3182-3193.

Inman, C. K., & Shore, P. (2003). The osteoblast transcription factor Runx2 is expressed in mammary epithelial cells and mediates osteopontin expression. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(49), 48684-48689.

Ito, Y. (2008). RUNX genes in development and cancer: regulation of viral gene expression and the discovery of RUNX family genes. *Advances in cancer research, 99*, 33-76.

Javed, A., Barnes, G.L., Pratap, J., Antkowiak, T., Gerstenfeld, L.C., van Wijnen, A.J., Stein, J.L., Lian, J.B. and Stein, G.S. (2005). Impaired intranuclear trafficking of Runx2 (AML3CBFA1) transcription factors in breast cancer cells inhibits osteolysis in vivo. *PNAS*, *102*(5), 1454–1459.

Jerome - Majewska, L. A., Jenkins, G. P., Ernstoff, E., Zindy, F., Sherr, C. J., & Papaioannou, V. E. (2005). Tbx3, the ulnar - mammary syndrome gene, and Tbx2 interact in mammary gland development through a p19Arf/p53 - independent pathway. *Developmental dynamics*, *234*(4), 922-933.

Jerry, D. J., Kuperwasser, C., Downing, S., Pinkas, J., He, C., Dickinson, E., Marconi, S., & Naber, S. (1998). Delayed involution of the mammary epithelium in BALB/c-p53null mice. *Oncogene*, *17*(18), 2305-2312.

Jhappan, C., Gallahan, D., Stahle, C., Chu, E., Smith, G., Merlino, G., & Callahan, R. (1992). Expression of an activated Notch-related int-3 transgene interferes with cell differentiation and induces neoplastic transformation in mammary and salivary glands. *Genes & development, 6*(3), 345-355.

Jones, R. C. (1967). Milk ejection by lactating ewes after the intramuscular injection of synthetic oxytocin. *J Endocinol, 37*, 233-234.

Juan Juan, Y., Pollock, C. B., & Kelly, K. (2005). Mechanisms of cancer metastasis to the bone. *Cell research*, *15*(1), 57-62.

Kalluri, R., & Weinberg, R. A. (2009). The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *119*(6), 1420-1428.

Kasper, M., Jaks, V., Fiaschi, M., & Toftgård, R. (2009). Hedgehog signalling in breast cancer. *Carcinogenesis*, *30*(6), 903-911.

Katz, E., & Streuli, C. H. (2007). The extracellular matrix as an adhesion checkpoint for mammary epithelial function. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology*, *39*(4), 715-726.

Kendrick, H., Regan, J. L., Magnay, F.-A., Grigoriadis, A., Mitsopoulos, C., Zvelebil, M., & Smalley, M. J. (2008). Transcriptome analysis of mammary epithelial subpopulations identifies novel determinants of lineage commitment and cell fate. *BMC genomics*, *9*(1), 591.

Kiaris, H., Politi, K., Grimm, L. M., Szabolcs, M., Fisher, P., Efstratiadis, A., & Artavanis-Tsakonas, S. (2004). Modulation of notch signaling elicits signature tumors and inhibits hras1-induced oncogenesis in the mouse mammary epithelium. *The American journal of pathology*, *165*(2), 695-705.

Kim, R., Trubetskoy, A., Suzuki, T., Jenkins, N. A., Copeland, N. G., & Lenz, J. (2003). Genome-based identification of cancer genes by proviral tagging in mouse retrovirus-induced T-cell lymphomas. *Journal of virology*, *77*(3), 2056-2062.

Kim, T. Y., Lee, H. J., Hwang, K. S., Lee, M., Kim, J. W., Bang, Y.-J., & Kang, G. H. (2004). Methylation of RUNX3 in various types of human cancers and premalignant stages of gastric carcinoma. *Laboratory investigation*, *84*(4), 479-484.

Kleinberg, D. L. (1997). Early mammary development: growth hormone and IGF-1. *Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia*, *2*(1), 49-57.

Koblinski, J. E., Ahram, M., & Sloane, B. F. (2000). Unraveling the role of proteases in cancer. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 291(2), 113-135.

Komori, T. (2011). Signaling networks in RUNX2 - dependent bone development. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*, *112*(3), 750-755.

Komori, T., Yagi, H., Nomura, S., Yamaguchi, A., Sasaki, K., Deguchi, K., Shimizu, Y., Bronson, R., Gao, Y.-H., & Inada, M. (1997). Targeted Disruption of Cbfa1 Results in a Complete Lack of Bone Formation owing to Maturational Arrest of Osteoblasts. *Cell*, *89*(5), 755-764.

Komurasaki, T., Toyoda, H., Uchida, D., & Morimoto, S. (1997). Epiregulin binds to epidermal growth factor receptor and ErbB-4 and induces tyrosine phosphorylation of epidermal growth factor receptor, ErbB-2, ErbB-3 and ErbB-4. *Oncogene, 15*(23), 2841-2848.

Korach, K. S., Couse, J. F., Curtis, S. W., Washburn, T. F., Lindzey, J., Kimbro, K. S., Eddy, E. M., Migliaccio, S., Snedeker, S. M., & Lubahn, D. B. (1996). Estrogen receptor gene disruption: molecular characterization and experimental and clinical phenotypes. *Recent progress in hormone research*, *51*, 159-186; discussion 186-158.

Kordon, E. C., McKnight, R. A., Jhappan, C., Hennighausen, L., Merlino, G., & Smith, G. H. (1995). Ectopic TGFβ1 expression in the secretory mammary epithelium induces early senescence of the epithelial stem cell population. *Developmental Biology*, *168*(1), 47-61.

Kouros-Mehr, H., Slorach, E. M., Sternlicht, M. D., & Werb, Z. (2006). GATA-3 maintains the differentiation of the luminal cell fate in the mammary gland. *Cell*, *127*(5), 1041-1055.

Kouros - Mehr, H., & Werb, Z. (2006). Candidate regulators of mammary branching morphogenesis identified by genome - wide transcript analysis. *Developmental dynamics*, *235*(12), 3404-3412.

Krause, T., & Turner, G. (1999). Are selectins involved in metastasis? *Clinical & experimental metastasis*, *17*(3), 183-192.

Ku, J.-L., Kang, S.-B., Shin, Y.-K., Kang, H. C., Hong, S.-H., Kim, I.-J., Shin, J.-H., Han, I.-O., & Park, J.-G. (2004). Promoter hypermethylation downregulates RUNX3 gene expression in colorectal cancer cell lines. *Oncogene*, *23*(40), 6736-6742.

Kumar, C. C. (1998). Signaling by integrin receptors. *Oncogene, 17*(11 Reviews), 1365-1373.

Kundu, M., Javed, A., Jeon, J.-P., Horner, A., Shum, L., Eckhaus, M., Muenke, M., Lian, J. B., Yang, Y., & Nuckolls, G. H. (2002). Cbfβ interacts with Runx2 and has a critical role in bone development. *Nature Genetics*, *32*(4), 639-644.

Kurosaka, H., Islam, M., Kuremoto, K. i., Hayano, S., Nakamura, M., Kawanabe, N., Yanagita, T., Rice, D. P., Harada, H., & Taniuchi, I. (2011). Core binding factor beta functions in the maintenance of stem cells and orchestrates continuous proliferation and differentiation in mouse incisors. *Stem Cells, 29*(11), 1792-1803.

Lacey, D., Timms, E., Tan, H.-L., Kelley, M., Dunstan, C., Burgess, T., Elliott, R., Colombero, A., Elliott, G., & Scully, S. (1998). Osteoprotegerin ligand is a cytokine that regulates osteoclast differentiation and activation. *Cell*, *93*(2), 165-176.

Lamszus, K., Jin, L., Fuchs, A., Shi, E., Chowdhury, S., Yao, Y., Polverini, P. J., Laterra, J., Goldberg, I. D., & Rosen, E. M. (1997). Scatter factor stimulates tumor growth and tumor angiogenesis in human breast cancers in the mammary fat pads of nude mice. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology, 76(3), 339-353.

Lau, C. C., Harris, C. P., Lu, X. Y., Perlaky, L., Gogineni, S., Chintagumpala, M., Hicks, J., Johnson, M. E., Davino, N. A., & Huvos, A. G. (2004). Frequent amplification and rearrangement of chromosomal bands 6p12 - p21 and 17p11. 2 in osteosarcoma. *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer, 39*(1), 11-21.

Lau, Q. C., Raja, E., Salto-Tellez, M., Liu, Q., Ito, K., Inoue, M., Putti, T. C., Loh, M., Ko, T. K., Huang, C., Bhalla, K. N., Zhu, T., Ito, Y., & Sukumar, S. (2006). RUNX3 Is Frequently Inactivated by Dual Mechanisms of Protein Mislocalization and Promoter Hypermethylation in Breast Cancer. *Cancer Res, 66*(13), 6512-6520. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-06-0369

Levanon, D., & Groner, Y. (2004). Structure and regulated expression of mammalian RUNX genes. *Oncogene*, *23*(24), 4211-4219.

Levanon, D., Negreanu, V., Bernstein, Y., Bar-Am, I., Avivi, L., & Groner, Y. (1994). AML1, AML2, and AML3, the Human Members of the runt domain Gene-Family: cDNA Structure, Expression, and Chromosomal Localization. *Genomics*, *23*(2), 425-432.

Lewis, M. T. (2000). Homeobox genes in mammary gland development and neoplasia. *Breast Cancer Research*, 2(3), 158.

Lewis, M. T., Ross, S., Strickland, P. A., Sugnet, C. W., Jimenez, E., Scott, M. P., & Daniel, C. W. (1999). Defects in mouse mammary gland development caused by conditional haploinsufficiency of Patched-1. *Development*, *126*(22), 5181-5193.

Li, J., Shen, H., Himmel, K. L., Dupuy, A. J., Largaespada, D. A., Nakamura, T., Shaughnessy, J. D., Jenkins, N. A., & Copeland, N. G. (1999). Leukaemia disease genes: large-scale cloning and pathway predictions. *Nature Genetics*, *23*(3), 348-353.

Li, M., Liu, X., Robinson, G., Bar-Peled, U., Wagner, K.-U., Young, W. S., Hennighausen, L., & Furth, P. A. (1997). Mammary-derived signals activate programmed cell death during the first stage of mammary gland involution. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *94*(7), 3425-3430.

Li, Q.-L., Ito, K., Sakakura, C., Fukamachi, H., Inoue, K.-i., Chi, X.-Z., Lee, K.-Y., Nomura, S., Lee, C.-W., & Han, S.-B. (2002). Causal Relationship between the Loss of RUNX3 Expression and Gastric Cancer. *Cell*, *109*(1), 113-124.

Li, Q.-L., Kim, H.-R., Kim, W.-J., Choi, J.-K., Hee Lee, Y., Kim, H.-M., Shan Li, L., Kim, H., Chang, J., & Ito, Y. (2004). Transcriptional silencing of the RUNX3 gene by CpG hypermethylation is associated with lung cancer. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, *314*(1), 223-228.

Lin, E. Y., Jones, J. G., Li, P., Zhu, L., Whitney, K. D., Muller, W. J., & Pollard, J. W. (2003). Progression to malignancy in the polyoma middle T oncoprotein mouse breast cancer model provides a reliable model for human diseases. *The American journal of pathology*, *163*(5), 2113-2126.

Lipton, A., Theriault, R. L., Hortobagyi, G. N., Simeone, J., Knight, R. D., Mellars, K., Reitsma, D. J., Heffernan, M., & Seaman, J. J. (2000). Pamidronate prevents skeletal complications and is effective palliative treatment in women with breast carcinoma and osteolytic bone metastases. *Cancer*, *88*(5), 1082-1090.

Liu, S., Dontu, G., & Wicha, M. S. (2005). Mammary stem cells, self-renewal pathways, and carcinogenesis. *Breast Cancer Research*, 7(3), 86.

Liu, X., Robinson, G. W., Wagner, K.-U., Garrett, L., Wynshaw-Boris, A., & Hennighausen, L. (1997). Stat5a is mandatory for adult mammary gland development and lactogenesis. *Genes & development*, *11*(2), 179-186.

Look, A. T. (1997). Oncogenic transcription factors in the human acute leukemias. *Science*, *278*(5340), 1059-1064.

Lu P, E. A., Martin G, Werb Z. (2005). Essential function of FGF signaling

pathway during branching morphogenesis of mammary gland *Dev Biol 283*, 680-681.

Luetteke, N. C., Qiu, T. H., Fenton, S. E., Troyer, K. L., Riedel, R. F., Chang, A., & Lee, D. C. (1999). Targeted inactivation of the EGF and amphiregulin genes reveals distinct roles for EGF receptor ligands in mouse mammary gland development. *Development*, *126*(12), 2739-2750.

Lund, L. R., Romer, J., Thomasset, N., Solberg, H., Pyke, C., Bissell, M. J., Dano, K., & Werb, Z. (1996). Two distinct phases of apoptosis in mammary gland involution: proteinase-independent and-dependent pathways. *Development*, *122*(1), 181-193.

Lutterbach, B., Hou, Y., Durst, K. L., & Hiebert, S. W. (1999). The inv (16) encodes an acute myeloid leukemia 1 transcriptional corepressor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *96*(22), 12822-12827.

Lydon, J. P., DeMayo, F. J., Funk, C. R., Mani, S. K., Hughes, A. R., Montgomery, C., Shyamala, G., Conneely, O. M., & O'Malley, B. W. (1995). Mice lacking progesterone receptor exhibit pleiotropic reproductive abnormalities. *Genes & development, 9*(18), 2266-2278.

Mailleux, A. A., Spencer-Dene, B., Dillon, C., Ndiaye, D., Savona-Baron, C., Itoh, N., Kato, S., Dickson, C., Thiery, J. P., & Bellusci, S. (2002). Role of FGF10/FGFR2b signaling during mammary gland development in the mouse embryo. *Development*, *129*(1), 53-60.

Mallo, M., Espinet, B., Salido, M., Ferrer, A., Pedro, C., Besses, C., Pérez-Vila, E., Serrano, S., Florensa, L., & Solé, F. (2007). Gain of multiple copies of the CBFB gene: a new genetic aberration in a case of granulocytic sarcoma. *Cancer genetics and cytogenetics*, *179*(1), 62-65.

Mann, B., Gratchev, A., Böhm, C., Demel, G., Trojanek, B., Schmidt-Wolf, I., Stein, H., & Hanski, C. (1999). FasL is more frequently expressed in liver metastases of

colorectal cancer than in matched primary carcinomas. *British journal of cancer*, 79(7-8), 1262.

Martin, T. J., & Gillespie, M. T. (2001). Receptor activator of nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B ligand (RANKL): another link between breast and bone. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism, 12*(1), 2-4.

McCarthy, T. L., & Centrella, M. (2010). Novel links among Wnt and TGF-β signaling and Runx2. *Molecular endocrinology*, *24*(3), 587-597.

McDonald, L., Ferrari, N., Terry, A., Bell, M., Mohammed, Z. M., Orange, C., Jenkins, A., Muller, W. J., Gusterson, B. A., & Neil, J. C. (2014). RUNX2 correlates with subtype-specific breast cancer in a human tissue microarray, and ectopic expression of Runx2 perturbs differentiation in the mouse mammary gland. *Disease models & mechanisms*, 7(5), 525-534.

McKenna, N. J., Lanz, R. B., & O'Malley, B. W. (1999). Nuclear Receptor Coregulators: Cellular and Molecular Biology 1. *Endocrine reviews*, 20(3), 321-344.

McNeil, B. J. (1984). *Value of bone scanning in neoplastic disease*. Paper presented at the Seminars in nuclear medicine.

Mendoza-Villanueva, D., Deng, W., Lopez-Camacho, C., & Shore, P. (2010). Research The Runx transcriptional co-activator, CBF $\beta$ , is essential for invasion of breast cancer cells.

Mendoza-Villanueva, D., Zeef, L., & Shore, P. (2011). Metastatic breast cancer cells inhibit osteoblast differentiation through the Runx2/CBFb dependent expression of the Wnt antagonist, sclerostin. *Breast Cancer Res, 13*(5), R106.

Miyoshi, H., Shimizu, K., Kozu, T., Maseki, N., Kaneko, Y., & Ohki, M. (1991). t (8; 21) breakpoints on chromosome 21 in acute myeloid leukemia are clustered within a limited region of a single gene, AML1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 88(23), 10431-10434.

Molyneux, G., Geyer, F. C., Magnay, F.-A., McCarthy, A., Kendrick, H., Natrajan, R., MacKay, A., Grigoriadis, A., Tutt, A., & Ashworth, A. (2010). BRCA1 Basal-like Breast Cancers Originate from Luminal Epithelial Progenitors and Not from Basal Stem Cells. *Cell stem cell*, *7*(3), 403-417.

Mombaerts, P., Iacomini, J., Johnson, R. S., Herrup, K., Tonegawa, S., & Papaioannou, V. E. (1992). RAG-1-deficient mice have no mature B and T lymphocytes. *Cell, 68*(5), 869-877.

Mueller, S. O., Clark, J. A., Myers, P. H., and Korach, K. S. (2002). mammary gland development in adult mice requires epithelial and stromal estrogen receptor alpha. *Endocrinology*, *143*, 2357-2365.

Mulac-Jericevic, B., Mullinax, R. A., DeMayo, F. J., Lydon, J. P., & Conneely, O. M. (2000). Subgroup of reproductive functions of progesterone mediated by progesterone receptor-B isoform. *Science*, *289*(5485), 1751-1754.

Müller, A., Homey, B., Soto, H., Ge, N., Catron, D., Buchanan, M. E., McClanahan, T., Murphy, E., Yuan, W., & Wagner, S. N. (2001). Involvement of chemokine receptors in breast cancer metastasis. *Nature*, *410*(6824), 50-56.

Mundlos, S., Otto, F., Mundlos, C., Mulliken, J., Aylsworth, A., Albright, S., Lindhout, D., Cole, W., Henn, W., & Knoll, J. (1997). Mutations involving the transcription factor CBFA1 cause cleidocranial dysplasia. *Cell*, *89*(5), 773-779.

Nagaraja, G., Othman, M., Fox, B., Alsaber, R., Pellegrino, C., Zeng, Y., Khanna, R., Tamburini, P., Swaroop, A., & Kandpal, R. (2006). Gene expression signatures and biomarkers of noninvasive and invasive breast cancer cells: comprehensive profiles by representational difference analysis, microarrays and proteomics. *Oncogene, 25*(16), 2328-2338.

Nagata, T., Gupta, V., Sorce, D., Kim, W.-Y., Sali, A., Chait, B. T., Shigesada, K., Ito, Y., & Werner, M. H. (1999). Immunoglobulin motif DNA recognition and

heterodimerization of the PEBP2/CBF Runt domain. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, *6*(7), 615-619.

Nandi, S. (1958). Endocrine control of mammarygland development and function in the C3H/He Crgl mouse. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *21*(6), 1039-1063.

Naoe, Y., Setoguchi, R., Akiyama, K., Muroi, S., Kuroda, M., Hatam, F., Littman, D. R., & Taniuchi, I. (2007). Repression of interleukin-4 in T helper type 1 cells by Runx/Cbfβ binding to the II4 silencer. *The Journal of experimental medicine, 204*(8), 1749-1755.

Natasha, T., Kuhn, M., Kelly, O., & Rittling, S. R. (2006). Override of the osteoclast defect in osteopontin-deficient mice by metastatic tumor growth in the bone. *The American journal of pathology*, *168*(2), 551-561.

Naylor, M. J., Ginsburg, E., Iismaa, T. P., Vonderhaar, B. K., Wynick, D., & Ormandy,
C. J. (2003). The neuropeptide galanin augments lobuloalveolar development. *Journal* of *Biological Chemistry*, 278(31), 29145-29152.

Naylor, M. J., Li, N., Cheung, J., Lowe, E. T., Lambert, E., Marlow, R., Wang, P., Schatzmann, F., Wintermantel, T., Schuetz, G., Clarke, A. R., Mueller, U., Hynes, N. E., & Streuli, C. H. (2005). Ablation of beta1 integrin in mammary epithelium reveals a key role for integrin in glandular morphogenesis and differentiation. *J. Cell Biol.*, *171*(4), 717-728. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200503144

Naylor, M. J., & Ormandy, C. J. (2007). Gata-3 and mammary cell fate. *Breast Cancer Res*, *9*(2), 302-303.

Naylor, M. J., & Streuli, C. H. (2006). Integrin regulation of mammary gland development. *Integrins and Development*, 176-185.

Nelson, A. R., Fingleton, B., Rothenberg, M. L., & Matrisian, L. M. (2000). Matrix metalloproteinases: biologic activity and clinical implications. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *18*(5), 1135-1135.

Neville, M. C., & Daniel, C. W. (1987). *The mammary gland. Development, regulation and function*: Plenum Press.

Nguyen, A. V., & Pollard, J. W. (2000). Transforming growth factor beta3 induces cell death during the first stage of mammary gland involution. *Development, 127*(14), 3107-3118.

Niini, T., Kanerva, J., Vettenranta, K., Saarinen-Pihkala, U. M., & Knuutila, S. (2000). AML1 gene amplification: a novel finding in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica*, 85(4), 362-366.

Oakes, S. R., Naylor, M.J., Asselin-Labat, M., Balzek, D.D., Gardiner-Garden, M., Hilton, H.N., Kazlauskas, M., Pritchard, M.A., Chodosh, L.A., Pfeffer, P.L., Lindeman, G.J., Visvador, J.E., Ormandy, C.J. (2008b). The Ets transcription factor Elf5 sepcifies mammary alveolar fate. *Genes and Development, 22*, 581-586.

Ogawa, E., Inuzuka, M., Maruyama, M., Satake, M., Naito-Fujimoto, M., Ito, Y., & Shigesada, K. (1993a). Molecular Cloning and Characterization of PEBP2β, the Heterodimeric Partner of a Novel Drosophila runt-Related DNA Binding Protein PEBP2α. *Virology*, *194*(1), 314-331.

Ohyama, Y., Nemoto, H., Rittling, S., Tsuji, K., Amagasa, T., Denhardt, D. T., Nifuji, A., & Noda, M. (2004). Osteopontin - Deficiency Suppresses Growth of B16 Melanoma Cells Implanted in Bone and Osteoclastogenesis in Co - Cultures. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 19*(10), 1706-1711.

Okuda, T., van Deursen, J., Hiebert, S. W., Grosveld, G., & Downing, J. R. (1996). AML1, the target of multiple chromosomal translocations in human leukemia, is essential for normal fetal liver hematopoiesis. *Cell*, *84*(2), 321-330.

Olkhanud, P., Baatar, D., Bodogai1, M., Hakim, F., Gress, R., Anderson, R., Deng, J., Xu, M., Briest, S., and Biragyn, A. (2009) Breast Cancer Lung Metastasis Requires Expression of Chemokine Receptor CCR4 and Regulatory T Cells. *Cancer Research* 69; 5996

Ormandy, C. J., Hall, R. E., Manning, D. L., Robertson, J. F., Blamey, R. W., Kelly, P. A., Nicholson, R. I., & Sutherland, R. L. (1997). Coexpression and Cross-Regulation of the Prolactin Receptor and Sex Steroid Hormone Receptors in Breast Cancer 1. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 82*(11), 3692-3699.

Ormandy, C. J., Naylor, M., Harris, J., Robertson, F., Horseman, N. D., Lindeman, G. J., Visvader, J., & Kelly, P. A. (2003). Investigation of the transcriptional changes underlying functional defects in the mammary glands of prolactin receptor knockout mice. *Recent progress in hormone research*, *58*, 297-323.

Osato, M., Asou, N., Abdalla, E., Hoshino, K., Yamasaki, H., Okubo, T., Suzushima, H., Takatsuki, K., Kanno, T., & Shigesada, K. (1999). Biallelic and Heterozygous Point Mutations in the Runt Domain of theAML1/PEBP2/B Gene Associated With Myeloblastic Leukemias. *Blood*, *93*(6), 1817-1824.

Otto, F., Thornell, A. P., Crompton, T., Denzel, A., Gilmour, K. C., Rosewell, I. R., Stamp, G. W., Beddington, R. S., Mundlos, S., & Olsen, B. R. (1997). Cbfa1, a Candidate Gene for Cleidocranial Dysplasia Syndrome, Is Essential for Osteoblast Differentiation and Bone Development. *Cell*, *89*(5), 765-771.

Owens, T. W., Rogers, R. L., Best, S. A., Ledger, A., Mooney, A.-M., Ferguson, A., Shore, P., Swarbrick, A., Ormandy, C. J., & Simpson, P. T., Carroll, J.S., Visvader, J. & Naylor, M. J. (2014). Runx2 is a novel regulator of mammary epithelial cell fate in development and breast cancer. *Cancer Research*, 74(18), 5277-5286.

Paget, S. (1889). The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. *The Lancet, 133*(3421), 571-573.

Paterson, A., Powles, T., Kanis, J., McCloskey, E., Hanson, J., & Ashley, S. (1993). Double-blind controlled trial of oral clodronate in patients with bone metastases from breast cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *11*(1), 59-65.

Perl, A.-K., Wilgenbus, P., Dahl, U., Semb, H., & Christofori, G. (1998). A causal role for E-cadherin in the transition from adenoma to carcinoma. *Nature*, *392*(6672), 190-193.

Perou, C. M., Sørlie, T., Eisen, M. B., van de Rijn, M., Jeffrey, S. S., Rees, C. A., Pollack, J. R., Ross, D. T., Johnsen, H., & Akslen, L. A. (2000). Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature*, *406*(6797), 747-752.

Phippard, D. J., Weber-Hall, S. J., Sharpe, P. T., Naylor, M. S., Jayatalake, H., Maas, R., Woo, I., Roberts-Clark, D., Francis-West, P. H., & Liu, Y.-H. (1996). Regulation of Msx-1, Msx-2, Bmp-2 and Bmp-4 during foetal and postnatal mammary gland development. *Development*, *122*(9), 2729-2737.

Pinkas-Kramarski, R., Alroy, I., & Yarden, Y. (1997). ErbB receptors and EGF-like ligands: cell lineage determination and oncogenesis through combinatorial signaling. *Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia*, *2*(2), 97-107.

Plante, I., Stewart, M. K., & Laird, D. W. (2011). Evaluation of mammary gland development and function in mouse models. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*(53).

Pratap, J., Imbalzano, Karen M., Underwood, Jean M., Cohet, Nathalie, Gokul, Karthiga, Akech, Jacqueline, van Wijnen, Andre J., Stein, Janet L., Imbalzano, Anthony N., Nickerson, Jeffrey A., Lian, Jane B., Stein, Gary S. (2009). Ectopic Runx2 Expression in Mammary Epithelial Cells Disrupts Formation of Normal Acini Structure: Implications for Breast Cancer Progression. *Cancer Res, 69*, 6807-6814.

Pratap, J., Javed, A., Languino, L. R., Van Wijnen, A. J., Stein, J. L., Stein, G. S., & Lian, J. B. (2005). The Runx2 osteogenic transcription factor regulates matrix metalloproteinase 9 in bone metastatic cancer cells and controls cell invasion. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 25(19), 8581-8591.

Pratap, J., Lian, J. B., & Stein, G. S. (2011). Metastatic bone disease: role of transcription factors and future targets. *Bone, 48*(1), 30-36.

Pratap, J., Lian, J.B, Javed, A, Barnes, G.L., van Wijnen, A.j., Stein, J.L. & Stein, G.S. (2006). Regulatory roles of Runx2 in metastatic tumor and cancer
cell interactions with bone. *Cancer Metastasis Rev, 25*, 589–600.

Propper, A. (1972). Rôle du mésenchyme dans la différenciation de la glande mammaire chez l'embryon de lapin. *Bull. Soc. Zool. France, 97*, 505-512.

Qin, X., Jiang, Q., Matsuo, Y., Kawane, T., Komori, H., Moriishi, T., Taniuchi, I., Ito,K., Kawai, Y., & Rokutanda, S. (2014). Cbfb regulates bone development by stabilizingRunx family proteins. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*.

Raafat, A., Bargo, S., Anver, M. R., & Callahan, R. (2004). Mammary development and tumorigenesis in mice expressing a truncated human Notch4/Int3 intracellular domain (h-Int3sh). *Oncogene*, *23*(58), 9401-9407.

Raz, A., & Lotan, R. (1987). Endogenous galactoside-binding lectins: a new class of functional tumor cell surface molecules related to metastasis. *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews*, *6*(3), 433-452.

Riddle, O., Bates, R. W., Dykshorn, S. W. (1933). The preparation, identification and assay of pro-lactin-a hormone of the anterior pituitary. *American Journal of Physiology*, *105*, 191-216.

Riminucci, M., Corsi, A., Peris, K., Fisher, L., Chimenti, S., & Bianco, P. (2003). Coexpression of bone sialoprotein (BSP) and the pivotal transcriptional regulator of osteogenesis, Cbfa1/Runx2, in malignant melanoma. *Calcified tissue international*, 73(3), 281-289.

Rios, A. C., Fu, N. Y., Lindeman, G. J., & Visvader, J. E. (2014). In situ identification of bipotent stem cells in the mammary gland. *Nature*.

Robinson, G. W. (2004). Identification of signaling pathways in early mammary gland development by mouse genetics. *Breast Cancer Research*, *6*(3), 105-127.

Robinson, G. W. (2007). Cooperation of signalling pathways in embryonic mammary gland development. *Nat Rev Genet*, *8*(12), 963-972. doi: nrg2227 [pii] 10.1038/nrg2227

Robinson, G. W., Johnson, P. F., Hennighausen, L., & Sterneck, E. (1998). The C/EBPβ transcription factor regulates epithelial cell proliferation and differentiation in the mammary gland. *Genes & development*, *12*(12), 1907-1916.

Romana, S., Poirel, H., Leconiat, M., Flexor, M., Mauchauffe, M., Jonveaux, P., Macintyre, E., Berger, R., & Bernard, O. (1995). High frequency of t (12; 21) in childhood B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood*, *86*(11), 4263-4269.

Roodman, G. D., & Dougall, W. C. (2008). RANK ligand as a therapeutic target for bone metastases and multiple myeloma. *Cancer treatment reviews*, *34*(1), 92-101.

Roulston, D., Espinosa, R., Nucifora, G., Larson, R. A., Le Beau, M. M., & Rowley, J.D. (1998). CBFA2 (AML1) translocations with novel partner chromosomes in myeloid leukemias: association with prior therapy. *Blood*, *92*(8), 2879-2885.

Ruan, W., & Kleinberg, D. L. (1999). Insulin-Like Growth Factor I Is Essential for Terminal End Bud Formation and Ductal Morphogenesis during Mammary Development 1. *Endocrinology*, *140*(11), 5075-5081.

Ruan, W., Newman, C. B., & Kleinberg, D. L. (1992). Intact and amino-terminally shortened forms of insulin-like growth factor I induce mammary gland differentiation and development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *89*(22), 10872-10876.

Ruzankina, Y., Pinzon-Guzman, C., Asare, A., Ong, T., Pontano, L., Cotsarelis, G., Zediak, V. P., Velez, M., Bhandoola, A., & Brown, E. J. (2007). Deletion of the Developmentally Essential Gene ATR in Adult Mice Leads to Age-Related Phenotypes and Stem Cell Loss. *Cell stem cell*, *1*(1), 113-126.

Saji, S., Jenson, E. V., Nilsson, S., Rylander, T., Warner, M., Gustafsson, J. A. (2000). estrogen receptors alpha and beta in the rodent mammary gland. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *97*, 337-342.

Sakakura, C., Hagiwara, A., Miyagawa, K., Nakashima, S., Yoshikawa, T., Kin, S., Nakase, Y., Ito, K., Yamagishi, H., & Yazumi, S. (2005). Frequent downregulation of the runt domain transcription factors RUNX1, RUNX3 and their cofactor CBFB in gastric cancer. *International Journal of Cancer*, *113*(2), 221-228.

Satokata, I., Ma, L., Ohshima, H., Bei, M., Woo, I., Nishizawa, K., Maeda, T., Takano, Y., Uchiyama, M., & Heaney, S. (2000). Msx2 deficiency in mice causes pleiotropic defects in bone growth and ectodermal organ formation. *Nature Genetics*, *24*(4), 391-395.

Schweisguth, F. (2004). Regulation of notch signaling activity. *Current Biology*, *14*(3), R129-R138.

Seagroves, T. N., Lydon, J. P., Hovey, R. C., Vonderhaar, B. K., & Rosen, J. M. (2000). C/EBPβ (CCAAT/enhancer binding protein) controls cell fate determination during mammary gland development. *Molecular endocrinology*, *14*(3), 359-368.

Selbert, S., & Bentley, D. J. (1998). Efficient BLG-Cre mediated gene deletion in the mammary gland. *Transgenic research*, 7(5), 387-398.

Selvamurugan, N., Kwok, S., & Partridge, N. C. (2004). Smad3 interacts with JunB and Cbfa1/Runx2 for transforming growth factor-β1-stimulated collagenase-3 expression in human breast cancer cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *279*(26), 27764-27773.

Selvamurugan, N., & Partridge, N. C. (2000). Constitutive expression and regulation of collagenase-3 in human breast cancer cells. *Molecular Cell Biology Research Communications*, *3*(4), 218-223.

Shackleton, M., Vaillant, F., Simpson, K. J., Stingl, J., Smyth, G. K., Asselin-Labat, M.-L., Wu, L., Lindeman, G. J., & Visvader, J. E. (2006). Generation of a functional mammary gland from a single stem cell. *Nature*, *439*(7072), 84-88. Shore, P. (2005). A role for Runx2 in normal mammary gland and breast cancer bone metastasis. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*, *96*(3), 484-489.

Shurtleff, S., Buijs, A., Behm, F., Rubnitz, J., Raimondi, S., Hancock, M., Chan, G., Pui, C., Grosveld, G., & Downing, J. (1995). TEL/AML1 fusion resulting from a cryptic t (12; 21) is the most common genetic lesion in pediatric ALL and defines a subgroup of patients with an excellent prognosis. *Leukemia*, *9*(12).

Shyamala, G., Yang, X., Cardiff, R., & Dale, E. (2000). Impact of progesterone receptor on cell-fate decisions during mammary gland development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *97*(7), 3044-3049.

Shyamala, G., Yang, X., Silberstein, G., Barcellos-Hoff, M., & Dale, E. (1998). Transgenic mice carrying an imbalance in the native ratio of A to B forms of progesterone receptor exhibit developmental abnormalities in mammary glands. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *95*(2), 696-701.

Sicinski, P., Donaher, J. L., Parker, S. B., Li, T., Fazeli, A., Gardner, H., Haslam, S. Z., Bronson, R. T., Elledge, S. J., & Weinberg, R. A. (1995). Cyclin D1 provides a link between development and oncogenesis in the retina and breast. *Cell*, *82*(4), 621-630.

Siegel, P., & Muller, W. (2010). Transcription factor regulatory networks in mammary epithelial development and tumorigenesis. *Oncogene*, *29*(19), 2753-2759.

Silberstein, G. B. (2001). Postnatal mammary gland morphogenesis. *Microscopy research and technique*, *52*(2), 155-162.

Sleeman, K. E., Kendrick, H., Ashworth, A., Isacke, C. M., & Smalley, M. J. (2005). CD24 staining of mouse mammary gland cells defines luminal epithelial, myoepithelial/basal and non-epithelial cells. *Breast Cancer Research*, 8(1), R7.

Slovak, M. L., Bedell, V., Popplewell, L., Arber, D. A., Schoch, C., & Slater, R. (2002). 21q22 balanced chromosome aberrations in therapy - related hematopoietic disorders:
Report from an International Workshop † . Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer, 33(4), 379-394.

Smith, G., & Medina, D. (1988). A morphologically distinct candidate for an epithelial stem cell in mouse mammary gland. *Journal of Cell Science*, *90*(1), 173-183.

Smith, G. H. (1996). Experimental mammary epithelial morphogenesis in anin vivo model: Evidence for distinct cellular progenitors of the ductal and lobular phenotype. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 39*(1), 21-31.

Song, J., Sapi, E., Brown, W., Nilsen, J., Tartaro, K., Kacinski, B. M., Craft, J., Naftolin, F., & Mor, G. (2000). Roles of Fas and Fas ligand during mammary gland remodeling. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *106*(10), 1209-1220.

Song, W.-J., Sullivan, M. G., Legare, R. D., Hutchings, S., Tan, X., Kufrin, D., Ratajczak, J., Resende, I. C., Haworth, C., & Hock, R. (1999). Haploinsufficiency of CBFA2 causes familial thrombocytopenia with propensity to develop acute myelogenous leukaemia. *Nature Genetics*, 23(2), 166-175.

Speck, N. A., & Gilliland, D. G. (2002). Core-binding factors in haematopoiesis and leukaemia. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *2*(7), 502-513.

Steeg, P. S. (2006). Tumor metastasis: mechanistic insights and clinical challenges. *Nature medicine*, *12*(8), 895-904.

Sternlicht, M. D. (2006). The cues that regulate ductal branching and morphogenesis. *Breast Cancer Res, 8*(1), 201.

Stewart, M., Terry, A., Hu, M., O'hara, M., Blyth, K., Baxter, E., Cameron, E., Onions, D., & Neil, J. (1997). Proviral insertions induce the expression of bone-specific isoforms of PEBP2αA (CBFA1): evidence for a new myc collaborating oncogene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *94*(16), 8646-8651.

Stingl, J., Eirew, P., Ricketson, I., Shackleton, M., Vaillant, F., Choi, D., Li, H. I., & Eaves, C. J. (2006). Purification and unique properties of mammary epithelial stem cells. *Nature*, *439*(7079), 993-997.

Stracke, M. L., Clair, T., & Liotta, L. A. (1997). Autotaxin, tumor motility-stimulating exophosphodiesterase. *Advances in enzyme regulation*, *37*, 135-144.

Streuli, C. H. (2009). Integrins and cell-fate determination. *Journal of Cell Science*, *122*(2), 171-177.

Stricker, P., & Grueter, R. (1928). Action du lobe anterieur de l'hypophyse sur la montee laiteuse. *CR Soc Biol, 99*, 1978-1980.

Sun, L., Vitolo, M., & Passaniti, A. (2001). Runt-related Gene 2 in Endothelial Cells Inducible Expression and Specific Regulation of Cell Migration and Invasion. *Cancer Research*, *61*(13), 4994-5001.

Sun, L., Vitolo, M. I., Qiao, M., Anglin, I. E., & Passaniti, A. (2004). Regulation of TGFβ1-mediated growth inhibition and apoptosis by RUNX2 isoforms in endothelial cells. *Oncogene*, *23*(27), 4722-4734.

Tahirov, T. H., Inoue-Bungo, T., Morii, H., Fujikawa, A., Sasaki, M., Kimura, K., Shiina, M., Sato, K., Kumasaka, T., & Yamamoto, M. (2001). Structural analyses of DNA recognition by the AML1/Runx-1 Runt domain and its allosteric control by CBFβ. *Cell*, *104*(5), 755-767.

Tanaka, T., Mitani, K., Kurokawa, M., Ogawa, S., Tanaka, K., Nishida, J., Yazaki, Y., Shibata, Y., & Hirai, H. (1995). Dual functions of the AML1/Evi-1 chimeric protein in the mechanism of leukemogenesis in t (3; 21) leukemias. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *15*(5), 2383-2392.

Tanigaki, K., Kuroda, K., Han, H., & Honjo, T. (2003). *Regulation of B cell development by Notch/RBP-J signaling*. Paper presented at the Seminars in immunology.

Topper, Y. J., & Freeman, C. S. (1980). Multiple hormone interactions in the developmental biology of the mammary gland. *Physiol Rev, 60*(4), 1049-1106.

Turner, C. W., & Gomez, E. T. (1933). normal development of the mammary gland of the male and female albino mouse. *Missouri Agr. Exptl. Sta. Res. Bull,*, *182*, 3-20.

Udy, G. B., Towers, R. P., Snell, R. G., Wilkins, R. J., Park, S.-H., Ram, P. A., Waxman, D. J., & Davey, H. W. (1997). Requirement of STAT5b for sexual dimorphism of body growth rates and liver gene expression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *94*(14), 7239-7244.

van Amerongen, R., Bowman, A. N., & Nusse, R. (2012). Developmental stage and time dictate the fate of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin-responsive stem cells in the mammary gland. *Cell stem cell*, 11(3), 387-400.

Van Dongen, C. G., Marshall, J.M. (1967). Effect of various hormones on the milk ejection response of tissue isolated from the rat mammary gland *Nature*, *213*, 632-633.

van Genderen, C., Okamura, R. M., Farinas, I., Quo, R.-G., Parslow, T. G., Bruhn, L., & Grosschedl, R. (1994). Development of several organs that require inductive epithelial-mesenchymal interactions is impaired in LEF-1-deficient mice. *Genes & development*, 8(22), 2691-2703.

Van Keymeulen, A., Rocha, A. S., Ousset, M., Beck, B., Bouvencourt, G., Rock, J., Sharma, N., Dekoninck, S., & Blanpain, C. (2011). Distinct stem cells contribute to mammary gland development and maintenance. *Nature*, *479*(7372), 189-193.

Veltmaat, J. M., Relaix, F., Le, L. T., Kratochwil, K., Sala, F. G., van Veelen, W., Rice, R., Spencer-Dene, B., Mailleux, A. A., & Rice, D. P. (2006). Gli3-mediated somitic Fgf10 expression gradients are required for the induction and patterning of mammary epithelium along the embryonic axes. *Development*, *133*(12), 2325-2335.

Veltmaat, J. M., Van Veelen, W., Thiery, J. P., & Bellusci, S. (2004). Identification of the mammary line in mouse by Wnt10b expression. *Developmental dynamics*, *229*(2), 349-356.

Visvader, J. E. (2009). Keeping abreast of the mammary epithelial hierarchy and breast tumorigenesis. *Genes & development, 23*(22), 2563-2577.

Visvader, J. E., & Lindeman, G. J. (2003). Transcriptional regulators in mammary gland development and cancer. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology*, *35*(7), 1034-1051.

Wagner, K. U., Young, W., Liu, X., Ginns, E., Li, M., Furth, P., & Hennighausen, L. (1997). Oxytocin and milk removal are required for post - partum mammary - gland development. *Genes and function, 1*(4), 233-244.

Wai, P. Y., Mi, Z., Gao, C., Guo, H., Marroquin, C., & Kuo, P. C. (2006). Ets-1 and runx2 regulate transcription of a metastatic gene, osteopontin, in murine colorectal cancer cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *281*(28), 18973-18982.

Walden, P. D., Ruan, W., Feldman, M., & Kleinberg, D. L. (1998). Evidence that the mammary fat pad mediates the action of growth hormone in mammary gland development. *Endocrinology*, *139*(2), 659-662.

Wang, Q., Stacy, T., Binder, M., Marin-Padilla, M., Sharpe, A. H., & Speck, N. A. (1996). Disruption of the Cbfa2 gene causes necrosis and hemorrhaging in the central nervous system and blocks definitive hematopoiesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *93*(8), 3444-3449.

Wang, S., Wang, Q., Crute, B., Melnikova, I., Keller, S., & Speck, N. (1993). Cloning and characterization of subunits of the T-cell receptor and murine leukemia virus enhancer core-binding factor. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *13*(6), 3324-3339.

Wiercinska, E., Naber, H. P., Pardali, E., van der Pluijm, G., van Dam, H., & ten Dijke, P. (2011). The TGF- $\beta$ /Smad pathway induces breast cancer cell invasion through the up-regulation of matrix metalloproteinase 2 and 9 in a spheroid invasion model system. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 128*(3), 657-666.

Wiesen, J. F., Young, P., Werb, Z., & Cunha, G. R. (1999). Signaling through the stromal epidermal growth factor receptor is necessary for mammary ductal development. *Development*, *126*(2), 335-344.

Williams, J. M., & Daniel, C. W. (1983). Mammary ductal elongation: differentiation of myoepithelium and basal lamina during branching morphogenesis. *Developmental Biology*, *97*(2), 274-290.

Wiseman, B. S., & Werb, Z. (2002). Stromal effects on mammary gland development and breast cancer. *Science*, *296*(5570), 1046-1049.

Wysolmerski, J. J., Philbrick, W. M., Dunbar, M. E., Lanske, B., Kronenberg, H., & Broadus, A. (1998). Rescue of the parathyroid hormone-related protein knockout mouse demonstrates that parathyroid hormone-related protein is essential for mammary gland development. *Development*, *125*(7), 1285-1294.

Xie, W., Paterson, A. J., Chin, E., Nabell, L. M., & Kudlow, J. E. (1997). Targeted expression of a dominant negative epidermal growth factor receptor in the mammary gland of transgenic mice inhibits pubertal mammary duct development. *Molecular endocrinology*, *11*(12), 1766-1781.

Xu, J., Liao, L., Ning, G., Yoshida-Komiya, H., Deng, C., & O'Malley, B. W. (2000). The steroid receptor coactivator SRC-3 (p/CIP/RAC3/AIB1/ACTR/TRAM-1) is required for normal growth, puberty, female reproductive function, and mammary gland development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *97*(12), 6379-6384.

Yang, J., Fizazi, K., Peleg, S., Sikes, C. R., Raymond, A. K., Jamal, N., Hu, M., Olive, M., Martinez, L. A., & Wood, C. G. (2001). Prostate cancer cells induce osteoblast differentiation through a Cbfa1-dependent pathway. *Cancer Research*, *61*(14), 5652-5659.

Yeung, F., Law, W. K., Yeh, C.-H., Westendorf, J. J., Zhang, Y., Wang, R., Kao, C., & Chung, L. W. (2002). Regulation of human osteocalcin promoter in hormone-

independent human prostate cancer cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(4), 2468-2476.

Yoneda, T., & Hiraga, T. (2005). Crosstalk between cancer cells and bone microenvironment in bone metastasis. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, *328*(3), 679-687.

Yoshida, C., Furuichi, T., Fujita, T., Fukuyama, R., Kanatani, N., Kobayashi, S., Satake, M., Takada, K. & Komori, T. (2002). Core-binding factor beta interacts with Runx2 and is required for skeletal development. *Nature Genetics*, *32*, 633-638.

Youk, J. H., Kim, E.-K., & Kim, M. J. (2009). Atypical ductal hyperplasia diagnosed at sonographically guided 14-gauge core needle biopsy of breast mass. *American Journal of Roentgenology*, *192*(4), 1135-1141.

Young, D. W., Hassan, M. Q., Pratap, J., Galindo, M., Zaidi, S. K., Lee, S.-h., Yang, X., Xie, R., Javed, A., & Underwood, J. M. (2007a). Mitotic occupancy and lineage-specific transcriptional control of rRNA genes by Runx2. *Nature*, *445*(7126), 442-446.

Young, D. W., Hassan, M. Q., Yang, X.-Q., Galindo, M., Javed, A., Zaidi, S. K., Furcinitti, P., Lapointe, D., Montecino, M., & Lian, J. B. (2007b). Mitotic retention of gene expression patterns by the cell fate-determining transcription factor Runx2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *104*(9), 3189-3194.

Zelzer, E., Glotzer, D. J., Hartmann, C., Thomas, D., Fukai, N., Soker, S., & Olsen, B.
R. (2001). Tissue specific regulation of VEGF expression during bone development requires Cbfa1/Runx2. *Mechanisms of development*, 106(1), 97-106.

Zhang, L., Lukasik, S. M., Speck, N. A., & Bushweller, J. H. (2003). Structural and functional characterization of Runx1, CBFβ, and CBFβ-SMMHC. *Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases, 30*(2), 147-156.

Zhou, J., Chehab, R., Tkalcevic, J., Naylor, M. J., Harris, J., Wilson, T. J., Tsao, S., Tellis, I., Zavarsek, S., & Xu, D. (2005). Elf5 is essential for early embryogenesis and

mammary gland development during pregnancy and lactation. *The EMBO journal,* 24(3), 635-644.

Zhou, J., Ng, A., Tymms, M. J., Jermiin, L. S., Seth, A. K., Thomas, R. S., & Kola, I. (1998). A novel transcription factor, ELF5, belongs to the ELF subfamily of ETS genes and maps to human chromosome 11p13-15, a region subject to LOH and rearrangement in human carcinoma cell lines. *Oncogene*, *17*(21), 2719-2732.